

This PDF has been made available for reference only.

Please note that these guidelines have been developed as electronic guidelines and published at: https://wiki.cancer.org.au/australia/Guidelines:Barrett%27s

We are aware that the formatting in this PDF is not perfect. It has been produced for offline review purposes only



Download

Cancer Council Australia Barrett's Oesophagus and Early Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma Working Party. Australian clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's esophagus and early esophageal adenocarcinoma J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015 May;30(5):804-20. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12913.

Further resources for health professionals Decision tree for the management of Barrett's Oesophagus

1 Contents

- 2 Foreword
- 3 Summary of recommendations
- 4 Barrett's Oesophagus without Dysplasia

4.1 Natural History

- What is the prevalence of BO in the Australian population in comparison with other populations?
- Which factors best predict the risk of developing BO?
- What is the incidence of neoplasia in patients with BO?
- What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

4.2 Referral

• For which populations is screening for BO cost-effective?



4.3 Diagnosis/Definition

- What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?
- What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?
- What is the histological definition of BO?

4.4 Management

- Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?
- Are there any treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer?
- What is appropriate medical systemic therapy for symptoms associated with BO?
- Is there a role for ablative therapy to treat BO?

4.5 Surveillance and Follow-up

- How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?
- Are there groups of patients with non-dysplastic BO that require more frequent surveillance?
- Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?
- Is surveillance cost-effective for follow-up of patients with BO?

5 Barrett's Oesophagus with Dysplasia and/or Adenocarcinoma

5.1 Definition and Diagnosis

- What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?
- What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?
- What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?
- What are the best modalities for accurately staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

5.2 Biomarkers

Are there biomarkers for the diagnosis (presence) of BO?

5.3 Management

5.3.1 Low grade dysplasia

• What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?



5.3.2 High grade dysplasia and early cancer

- What are the goals of treatment of high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?
- What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?
- After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy
- What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?
- What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?
- How effective is endoscopic management compared with surgical management for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

6 Appendices

Guideline development process

Working party members and contributors

Competing interest register

Abbreviations

7 General comments

Please provide general comments regarding this guideline by using the comment button below.

1 Foreword

Foreword

Barrett's Oesophagus is a condition in which the normal squamous mucosa in the distal oesophagus is transformed to a metaplastic columnar mucosa. Barrett's Oesophagus is important clinically because it is the only known precursor to oesophageal adenocarcinoma ('OAC'), a cancer which has had the fastest rising incidence in Australia and other industrialised nations during the past three decades. Survival from advanced



OAC is very poor, hence the focus on diagnosing and treating people with precancerous and early cancerous lesions. Because patients with Barrett's Oesophagus have up to 50-fold higher risks of OAC than people without the condition, they are typically placed on surveillance programs requiring regular endoscopies. Despite their greatly increased relative risk of cancer, 95% of people with Barrett's Oesophagus never develop OAC and 95% of patients diagnosed with OAC have no preceding diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus. Thus, there is clinical uncertainty about the best way to manage this condition, both at the individual level and across the population.

These Guidelines therefore seek to assist Australian doctors and patients by providing up-to-date, evidencebased information about Barrett's Oesophagus and early oesophageal adenocarcinoma. The development process was extensive, involving a large working group who systematically reviewed the literature to address pertinent clinical questions. Through consensus, a set of recommendations was developed which have been rated according to the underlying quality and applicability of the evidence. The Guidelines are aimed at gastroenterologists, pathologists and physicians, as well as members of teams in multi-disciplinary clinics to which patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and OAC are referred (including surgeons, radiologists, nurse practitioners etc). As an open resource, we anticipate that the Guidelines will also be relevant and informative to primary care practitioners and their patients who may be diagnosed with this condition.

Information covered by the Guidelines includes:

1. Prevalence, incidence, natural history and risk factors for Barrett's Oesophagus

2. Endoscopic and histologic definitions of Barrett's Oesophagus and early oesophageal adenocarcinoma

3. Management of Barrett's Oesophagus and early oesophageal adenocarcinoma, including modification of lifestyle factors, screening, surveillance, as well as medical, endoscopic and surgical interventions.

Importantly, these Guidelines do not extend to the management of invasive adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus.

Terminology used in the Guidelines

A recurring theme throughout the Guidelines development process has been the importance of using consistent and precise terminology to ensure that recommendations accord with the published evidence. For example, there are several histological classification schemes used internationally for describing neoplastic changes in Barrett's Oesophagus, including the WHO scheme ('intraepithelial neoplasia') and the Vienna Classification ('dysplasia'). For these Guidelines, we have followed the Vienna Classification. Another example is the use of terms such as 'screening' and 'surveillance' applied to different types of early detection activities. In line with accepted epidemiologic practice, we have reserved 'screening' to describe the process of identifying new cases of disease in an unselected population, whereas 'surveillance' describes the systematic follow-up of patients with known disease at periodic intervals as part of an early detection strategy to prevent progression to cancer.

Recently, there have been numerous developments in the field of Barrett's Oesophagus, including new (lower) estimates of the rate of progression to cancer, new information about factors associated with progression to cancer, new ablation and resection modalities for treating dysplastic lesions, and new cost-effectiveness studies that seek to understand the impact of policy changes at a societal level. All of these have a bearing on clinical practice. That said, much uncertainty remains about key aspects of clinical management for this condition, as high-quality evidence is lacking. For this reason, we have often had to use lower quality evidence when making recommendations; this has been highlighted wherever it has occurred. Further, we have carefully reviewed comparable guidelines from international agencies to calibrate the recommendations in the light of those made



elsewhere. The aim of these Guidelines is to ensure the optimal management of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus so as to prevent (or minimise) the development of cancers among this group, balanced against the potential harms of over-investigating or over-treating those at very low risk of disease progression. While the recommendations contained herein are not prescriptive and should not override good clinical judgement, they do represent consensus views of expert practitioners and accord with international practices. Finally, the field is moving very quickly, with a number of large-scale chemoprevention trials and management trials expected to report findings in the foreseeable future, and so we envisage regular updates to the Guidelines. The Wiki environment provides an excellent platform for doing so.

Congratulations to the large team who worked so hard to bring this long-term project to fruition. Their efforts will, it is hoped, improve the management of Australians with Barrett's Oesophagus.

Professor David Whiteman

Chair, Barrett's Oesophagus Guidelines Working Party

Head, Cancer Control Group

QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute

2 Summary of recommendations

2.1 Summary of recommendations

For explanation of levels of evidence and grades for recommendations, see Levels of evidence and grades for recommendations below. You may also like to refer to the Appendix - Guideline Development Process



2.2 Recommendations

2.2.1 Barrett's Oesophagus and Mucosal Neoplasia

2.2.1.1 Natural History

2.2.2 What is the prevalence of BO in the Australian population in comparison with other populations?

Point(s)

Globally, the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus is generally low (<5%) and only in selected groups such as those with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease is it substantially higher (>15%). Prevalence also varies significantly by different ethnicities (e.g., Asians <1% prevalence) and by gender (i.e. more common in males).

2.2.3 Which factors best predict the risk of developing BO?

Recommendation	Grade
Clinical assessment of a person's future risk of Barrett's Oesophagus should consider:	В
• Age	
• Person's sex	
History of gastro-oesophageal acid reflux	
Waist-hip ratio or other measures of central adiposity	
Smoking history	
• Family history of oesophageal adenocarcinoma and/or Barrett's Oesophagus	



2.2.4 What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma?

Recommendation	Grade
A clinical assessment of a patient's future risk of high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma in the setting of non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus should consider their:	C
Age	
Sex	
Smoking history	
Endoscopic findings	

2.2.4.1 Referral

2.2.5 For which populations is screening for BO cost-effective?

Point(s)

There is no evidence to support general population screening for Barrett's Oesophagus.

In the absence of Randomised Controlled Trial evidence of effectiveness, screening for Barrett's Oesophagus would be most cost-effective if limited to 50-year old men with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease.



2.2.5.1 Diagnosis Definition

2.2.6 What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?

Point(s)

Biopsies assessing for intestinal metaplasia (columnar epithelium with goblet cells) should be performed when any length of salmon pink mucosa is seen extending above the gastro-oesophageal junction into the tubular oesophagus for a confirmed diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.

The presence of Barrett's Oesophagus should be described using the Prague C & M Criteria.

2.2.7 What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?

Recommendation	Grade
The current practice of random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals remains the mainstay for tissue sampling until stronger evidence emerges for various	В
advancements in endoscope technology and chromoendoscopy.	

Point(s)

Focal abnormalities such as ulcerated or nodular lesions can be specifically targeted with biopsies and labelled prior to random biopsies from the rest of the mucosa as minor biopsy-related bleeding is common and may impair endoscopic views.

Technological advancements in chromoendoscopy, digital enhancements and enhancedmagnification can currently complement rather than replace random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals. Biopsies obtained every 2cm to be placed into separate jars which are labelled according to the distance from the incisors, while biopsies from the gastro-oesophageal junction and cardia can also be specifically labelled as such.

2.2.8 What is the histological definition of BO?

Point(s)

Definition of Barrett's Oesophagus

To identify patients at increased risk of neoplastic progression, Barrett's Oesophagus is defined as metaplastic columnar mucosa in the oesophagus, with intestinal metaplasia proven histologically.



2.2.8.1 Management

2.2.9 Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?

Recommendation	Grade
There is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of acid suppressive therapy for the regression of Barrett's Oesophagus.	В
Insufficient evidence exists to routinely recommend anti-reflux surgery for the regression of Barrett's Oesophagus.	С

Point(s)

Acid suppressive therapy and anti-reflux surgery can be used to control symptoms and heal reflux oesophagitis in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. There is insufficient evidence to recommend high dose (twice daily) acid suppressive therapy when symptom control or mucosal healing is achieved with standard dosing.

2.2.10 Are there any treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer?

Grade
В

Point(s)

The treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux with either proton pump inhibitors or antireflux surgery has not been shown to influence progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma.

There is currently no good evidence supporting the use of COX inhibitors for prevention of oesophageal adenocarcinoma.



2.2.11 What is appropriate medical systemic therapy for symptoms associated with BO?

Recommendation	Grade
Symptomatic patients with Barrett's Oesophagus should be treated with Proton Pump Inhibitor therapy (PPI), with the dose titrated to control symptoms.	С

2.2.12 Is there a role for ablative therapy to treat BO?

Recommendation	Grade
Long term outcome studies do not yet support ablation in patients without dysplasia.	В

2.2.12.1 Surveillance and Follow-up

2.2.13 How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?

Point(s)

In the absence of any randomised trial evidence, the frequency of surveillance endoscopy in Barrett' s Oesophagus can be guided by currently available practice guidelines.

It is advisable to undertake endoscopic surveillance in suitable patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. The frequency of surveillance is based on the presence or absence of dysplasia on previous Seattle protocol biopsies and length of Barrett's Oesophagus.

A diagnosis of dysplasia (indefinite, low and high grade) should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist.

It is recommended that oesophageal biopsies at the time of endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus be taken according to the "'`UNIQ--item-31077--QINU`".



2.2.14 Are there groups of patients with non-dysplastic BO that require more frequent surveillance?

Recommendation	Grade
Patients with Barrett's Oesophagus length equal to or greater than 3cm may have intensive surveillance, possibly every two to three years following the '"`UNIQitem- 53415QINU`"'	с
Patients with one or more modifiable risk factors for progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (such as smoking) should be encouraged to make lifestyle changes.	D

Point(s)

Patients with Barrett's Oesophagus length equal to or greater than 3cm may have more frequent surveillance than those less than 3cm.

2.2.15 Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?

Recommendation	Grade
For patients with < 1cm of columnar lined oesophagus that do not have evidence of intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia on '"`UNIQitem-53488QINU`"' biopsy of the segment, endoscopic surveillance is not recommended	С
Patients with one or more modifiable risk factors for progression from Barrett's Oesophagus to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (such as smoking or obesity) should be encouraged to make lifestyle changes.	D

Point(s)

Patients with evidence of "regression" of Barrett's Oesophagus i.e. reduced Barrett's Oesophagus length or absence of intestinal metaplasia, can still continue surveillance.

Patients with significant co-morbidities, or those whom are unable to tolerate procedural intervention for dysplasia/oesphageal adenocarcinoma may be considered to be discharged from surveillance.



2.2.16 Barrett's Oesophagus and Neoplasia

2.2.16.1 Definition and Diagnosis

2.2.17 What are the best modalities for accurately staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

Recommendation	Grade
Endoscopic resection is the most accurate staging modality for early oesophageal adenocarcinoma for suitable lesions and where appropriate expertise is available.	D
Endoscopic ultrasound can be used prior to endoscopic resection for the identification of deeply invasive adenocarcinoma (\geq T2) and locoregional lymph node metastasis, particularly for lesions with ulcerated or depressed morphology.	D
FDG-PET or PET/CT is not routinely indicated in staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma. It is best used for the staging of distant metastases or in cases of suspected more advanced local disease.	D

2.2.17.1 Biomarkers

2.2.18 Are there biomarkers for the diagnosis (presence) of BO?

Recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend cytokeratin staining to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend the implementation of immunohistochemistry biomarkers to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend mucin (MUC) expression immunostaining in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D
Insufficient high quality evidence exists to recommend the non-endoscopic capsule	



Recommendation	Grade
sponge device coupled with immunohistochemistry for trefoil factor 3 (TFF3) to replace the current clinical standard for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	С
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend the implementation of serum G17 for the diagnosis of Barret's Oesophagus.	D
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend evaluation of AG2 expression as a protein biomarker in fresh tissue to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend magnifying endoscopy to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D

Point(s)

Thorough endoscopic sampling ("`UNIQ--item-45012--QINU`") coupled with H&E staining of sections and interpretation by trained, expert pathologists is advised for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus. More clinical research is required before biomarkers for Barrett's Oesophagus can be implemented as standard clinical practice.

2.2.18.1 Management

Low grade dysplasia

2.2.19 What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

Recommendation	Grade
The diagnosis of low grade dysplasia should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist.	С
In patients with confirmed low grade dysplasia, it is advised to perform rigorous high definition endoscopy or refer to an expert centre for assessment.	С
In patients with confirmed low grade dysplasia, intensified endoscopic surveillance is required. Endoscopic ablation may be considered especially where low grade dysplasia is definite, multifocal and present on more than one occasion. This decision needs to be individualised, based on discussion of risk and benefits with the patient.	В



High grade dysplasia and early cancer

2.2.20 What are the goals of treatment of high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

Point(s)

The confirmation of high grade dysplasia should act as a trigger for definitive treatment.

2.2.21 What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

Recommendation	Grade
Endoscopic mucosal resection should be considered for patients with intramucosal adenocarcinoma or high grade dysplasia and visible/nodular lesions.	D
Radiofrequency ablation should be considered for patients with high grade dysplasia and flat segments of Barrett's. Radiofrequency ablation may be the preferred treatment strategy over endoscopic mucosal resection for patients with long segments Barrett's Oesophagus or circumferential Barrett's due to a lower rate of stricture formation.	В

Point(s)

It is advisable to refer patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and dysplasia or early oesophageal adenocarcinoma to tertiary referral centres for management.

2.2.22 After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy?

Point(s)

Consider three monthly surveillance gastroscopy with ""`UNIQ--item-52107--QINU`"' during the endoscopic treatment phase to confirm clearance of intramucosal adenocarcinoma (IMCa) and residual Barrett's. Once clearance has been achieved, consider 6 monthly endoscopic surveillance for one year, then annually. Higher risk patients (as outlined above) may require closer surveillance gastroscopy after clearance of Barrett's Oesophagus neoplasia is achieved (i.e. initially 3 monthly for a year). Endoscopic resection of any nodularity in the squamous epithelium should be considered to clarify possible recurrent or metachronous IMCa from subsquamous glands.



2.2.23 What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

Recommendation	Grade
All lesions and visible abnormalities should be staged by focal endoscopic resection.	D
Patients with T1a on endoscopic work-up should be offered endoscopic resection as a less morbid and potentially equally effective treatment option in comparison to oesophagectomy.	D
Selected patients with T1b early oesophageal adenocarcinoma may be offered endoscopic resection if oesophagectomy is not indicated.	
If endoscopic resection of early oesophageal adenocarincoma is planned, endoscopic mucosal resection is appropriate in most cases.	C
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma the remaining Barrett's mucosa should be eradicated.	С
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett's eradication options include complete Barrett's endoscopic resection, radiofrequency ablation, cryotherapy and argon plasma coagulation.	
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma the patient should undergo regular and careful surveillance examinations.	
Ablative therapies should not be used as primary endoscopic therapy for early oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	С

Point(s)

Endoscopic resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma should be performed in referral centres that have integrated expertise in endoscopy, imaging, surgery, and histopathology.

Careful and dedicated interrogation of all Barrett's mucosa is advised.

2.2.24 What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?

Point(s)

Surveillance is generally not indicated for patients with high grade dysplasia, and therapeutic



Point(s)

intervention must be considered instead.

Targeted biopsies of visible lesions plus quadrantic biopsies every 1cm throughout the segment of Barrett's mucosa should be taken.

High resolution endoscopes should be used, with optional use of virtual chromoendoscopy such as narrow band imaging (NBI).

If endoscopic surveillance is performed, intervals of three months may be appropriate.

2.2.25 How effective is endoscopic management compared with surgical management for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

Recommendation	Grade
It is recommended that patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus be managed in centres with high volume experience of the condition. The treatment	С
and follow-up should occur in those specialist centres.	

Point(s)

Patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus can be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting at a specialist centre.

Endoscopic treatment will be the first line treatment option for the majority of patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus. There will be a group of patients for whom endoscopic treatment is not appropriate or successful and will be best treated with surgery in a specialist centre.

2.3 Levels of evidence and grades for recommendations

The following table provides a list of the evidence-based recommendations detailed in the content of each topic question. The table below provides details on the highest level of evidence identified to support each recommendation (I-IV). The Summary of Recommendations table includes the grade for each recommendation (A-D). The key references that underpin the recommendation are provided in the last column. Individual levels of evidence can be found in the Evidence Summaries for each recommendation in each question.



Each recommendation was assigned a grade by the expert working group taking into account the volume, consistency, generalisability, applicability and clinical impact of the body of evidence supporting each recommendation. When no Level I or II evidence was available and in some areas, in particular where there was insufficient evidence in the literature to make a specific evidence-based recommendation, but also strong and unanimous expert opinion amongst the working group members about both the advisability of making a clinically relevant statement and its content, recommended best practice points were generated. Thus, the practice points relate to the evidence in each question, but are more expert opinion-based than evidence-basec These can be identified throughout the guidelines with the following: Practice point (PP).

Grade of recommendation	Description		
Α	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice		
В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in most situations		
с	Body of evidence provides some support for recommendation(s) but care should be taken in its application		
D	Body of evidence is weak and recommendation must be applied with caution		
PP (practice point)	Where no good-quality evidence is available but there is consensus among Guideline committee members, consensus-based guidance points are given, these are called "Practice points"		

Adapted from: National Health and Medical Research Council. NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC; 2009.^[1] (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf)

Level of evidence was assigned according to the following criteria from the NHMRC Evidence Hierarchy^[1]:

Level	Intervention	Diagnosis	Prognosis	Aetiology	Screening
I	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies
II	A randomised controlled trial	A study of test accuracy with: an independent, blinded comparison with a valid reference standard, among consecutive patients with a defined clinical presentation	A prospective cohort study	A prospective cohort study	A randomised controlled trial
	A pseudo- randomised controlled trial (i. e. alternate	A study of test accuracy with: an independent, blinded comparison with a valid reference standard, among			A pseudo- randomised controlled trial (i. e. alternate

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Level	Intervention	Diagnosis	Prognosis	Aetiology	Screening
-1	allocation or some other method)	non-consecutive patients with a defined clinical presentation	All or none	All or none	allocation or some other method)
111-2	 A comparative study with concurrent controls: Non- randomised, experimental trial Cohort study Case-control study Interrupted time series with a control group 	A comparison with reference standard that does not meet the criteria required for Level II and III-1 evidence	Analysis of prognostic factors amongst untreated control patients in a randomised controlled trial	A retrospective cohort study	 A comparative study with concurrent controls: Non- randomised, experimental trial Cohort study Case-control study
111-3	 A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study Interrupted time series without a parallel control group 	Diagnostic case-control study	A retrospective cohort study	A case- control study	A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study
IV	Case series with either post-test or pre-test/post- test outcomes	Study of diagnostic yield (no reference standard)	Case series, or cohort study of patients at different stages of disease	A cross- sectional study	Case series



Source: National Health and Medical Research Council. NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC; 2009. (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf)

Back to top

2.4 References

 ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} National Health and Medical Research Council. *NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for guideline developers.* Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council; 2009 Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf.

Back to top

2.1.1 Prevalence of BO in Australia

Contents

1 What is the prevalence of BO in the Australian population in comparison with other populations?

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Australian prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus
- 1.3 Barrett's Oesophagus in the Middle East
- 1.4 Barrett's Oesophagus in South America
- 1.5 Barrett's Oesophagus in Asia
- 1.6 Barrett's Oesophagus in Europe
- 1.7 Barrett's Oesophagus in the United States
- 1.8 Summary
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 4 References
- 5 Appendices

2.1.1.1 What is the prevalence of BO in the Australian population in comparison with other populations?



2.1.1.1.1 Introduction

There are a large number of studies reporting the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) from various countries around the world. The majority of these studies are cross-sectional in design and the sample sizes vary from less than 50 patients to more than 280,000 patients. The main limitations associated with the studies include the definition of Barrett's Oesophagus, the diagnostic criteria used with some endoscopic only and other studies including histopathologic verification, and the selection of patients. These factors and others may explain the substantial variation in the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus reported globally. Australian data are limited and future well designed large studies should be undertaken to improve the estimates of Barrett's Oesophagus among various population groups in Australia.

Back to top

2.1.1.1.2 Australian prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus

There are only three studies reporting prevalence estimates conducted in Australian populations.^{[1][2][3]} The first study reported on a consecutive sample of endoscopy patients (n=158) from a Sydney hospital (Nepean) and they specifically report the number of short segment Barrett's Oesophagus (n=46, 36%). Moreover, Barrett' s Oesophagus was more common among females (65%) and those who were older (56 years versus 48 years, p=0.009).^[1] In a 2006 published study which involved a record linkage data analysis of a region of Brisbane with a population of 376,907 individuals. The analysis which assessed all oesophageal biopsies over the time frame compared rates of Barrett's oesophagus at three different time points (1990, 1998, 2002). The prevalence rates at each of the time points were 0.29% (1990), 1.44% (1998), and 1.89% (2002).^[3] The final study was conducted on 2,153 patients undergoing anti-reflux surgery found that males were twice as likely to have Barrett's Oesophagus (18.4%) compared to females (9.2%).^[2] Overall, there are no studies describing the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus in an asymptomatic, unselected Australian population. One small study suggests a high prevalence in specific high-risk patient populations, and two larger studies in different groups of symptomatic patients having a lower prevalence.

Back to top

2.1.1.1.3 Barrett's Oesophagus in the Middle East

There are four studies from the Middle East reporting prevalence rates of Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[4][5][6][7]} There were no population-based studies, and the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus ranges were from $3.3\%^{[5]}$ to 7.3%.^[6] The groups assessed included select groups such as those with chronic gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms or dyspepsia. Prevalence varied significantly by gender with males more likely to be affected and those who were older (>50 years).^[7]



2.1.1.1.4 Barrett's Oesophagus in South America

There are three studies from South America reporting prevalence rates of Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[8][9][10]} There were no population-based studies, and the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus ranges were from 1.6%^[10] to 30.8%.^[9] All studies compared individuals with gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms. Reflux patients had higher rates of Barrett's compared with controls.^{[10][9]}

Back to top

2.1.1.1.5 Barrett's Oesophagus in Asia

There are 23 studies from Asia reporting prevalence rates of Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[11][12][13][14][15][16][17][18]} ^{[19][20][21][22][23][24][25][26][27][28][29][30][31][32][33]} There were no population-based studies, however, there were several large 'health check' studies and the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus ranges were from 0.06% ^[26] to 37.7%.^[22] The prevalence was low in Malaysia (<5%) with Barrett's patients more likely to occur in females and those of Indian ethnicity.^{[19][33]} In China, the average prevalence was around 6% with most cases likely to be male.^{[19][18]} In Taiwan, the prevalence was <2%, patients were more likely to be >60 years and were male.^{[11][26][27][30]} Japan had higher prevalence estimates (~20%) and patients were more likely to be >60 years and male.^{[12][17][22][25]} The prevalence was around 6% in Korea and patients were more likely to be older and male.^{[16][18][31][21][23][24][28]} A single study from India had a prevalence of 6% and patients were more likely to be older and male.^[13]

Back to top

2.1.1.1.6 Barrett's Oesophagus in Europe

There are 15 studies from Europe reporting prevalence rates of Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[34][35][36][37][38][39][40][41]} ^{[42][43][44][45][46][47][48]} There was only one population-based endoscopic study assessing the prevalence of Barrett's which was conducted in Finland (n=1,000), the rate was 1.6% and the majority of patients were female (69%).^[39] Other endoscopic studies reported the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus ranged between 0.06%^[38] and 33%.^[48] Studies from Turkey generally had low rates of Barrett's Oesophagus (<8%), and the patients were older and more likely to be male.^{[36][40][43][44]} The Netherlands produced the lowest prevalence of 0.06%^[38] and one of the largest 31%,^[41] but most studies were <5%.^[42] In the United Kingdom studies ranged from 1.4% ^[35] to 33%,^[48] again mostly males affected. A German study found a 18% prevalence, with two-thirds being male.^[34] Conversely, a Swedish study reported a 4% prevalence with 69% of patients being female.^[37] Studies from Spain,^[45] Lithuania^[47] and Italy^[46] all reported a <1% prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus.



2.1.1.1.7 Barrett's Oesophagus in the United States

There are 26 studies from the United States reporting prevalence rates of Barrett's Oesophagus. [49][50][51][52][53][54][55][56][57][58][59][60][61][62][63][64][65][66][67][68][69][70][71][72][73] There were no population-based studies

and the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus ranges from 0.25%^[61] to 28.4%.^[68] Generally the prevalence was low (<10%) for all studies in the United States. However, there were several studies comparing different ethnicities and these reported higher rates among Caucasians, followed by Hispanics, African Americans, then Asians.^{[52][67][70][71]}

Back to top

2.1.1.1.8 Summary

The prevalence of Barrett's oesophagus varies by geography and ethnicity, however, the prevalence is generally low (<5%), except for those with gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms or disease, older individuals (>55 years), and male gender. In certain ethnic populations, such as Asians the prevalence of Barrett's oesophagus is very low (<1%).

Back to top

2.1.1.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

Globally, the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus is generally low (<5%) and only in selected groups such as those with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease is it substantially higher (>15%). Prevalence also varies significantly by different ethnicities (e.g., Asians <1% prevalence) and by gender (i.e. more common in males).

Back to top

2.1.1.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Is there any importance in the variation of short and long segment Barrett's Oesophagus among different populations/ethnicities?
- Australian data are limited and future well designed large studies should be undertaken to improve the estimates of Barrett's Oesophagus among various population groups in Australia.



2.1.1.4 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Nandurkar S, Talley NJ, Martin CJ, Ng TH, Adams S. *Short segment Barrett's oesophagus:* prevalence, diagnosis and associations. Gut 1997 Jun;40(6):710-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/9245922.
- 2. ↑ ^{2.0 2.1} Chen Z, Thompson SK, Jamieson GG, Devitt PG, Watson DI. *Effect of sex on symptoms associated with gastroesophageal reflux.* Arch Surg 2011 Oct;146(10):1164-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/22006875.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0 3.1} Kendall BJ, Whiteman DC. *Temporal changes in the endoscopic frequency of new cases of Barrett's esophagus in an Australian health region.* Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Jun;101(6):1178-82 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16771933.
- 4. ↑ Gadour MO, Ayoola EA. *Barrett's oesophagus and oesophageal cancer in Saudi Arabia.* Trop Gastroenterol 1999 Jul;20(3):111-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10695416.
- ^{5.0}
 ^{5.1}
 Fireman Z, Wagner G, Weissman J, Kopelman Y, Wagner Y, Groissman G, et al. *Prevalence of short-segment Barrett's epithelium.* Dig Liver Dis 2001 May;33(4):322-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.
 nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11432509.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Fouad YM, Makhlouf MM, Tawfik HM, el-Amin H, Ghany WA, el-Khayat HR. *Barrett's esophagus: prevalence and risk factors in patients with chronic GERD in Upper Egypt.* World J Gastroenterol 2009 Jul 28;15(28):3511-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19630106.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Khamechian T, Alizargar J, Mazoochi T. *The Prevalence of Barrett's Esophagus in Outpatients with Dyspepsia in Shaheed Beheshti Hospital of Kashan.* Iran J Med Sci 2013 Sep;38(3):263-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24174698.
- 8. ↑ Csendes A, Smok G, Burdiles P, Quesada F, Huertas C, Rojas J, et al. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus by endoscopy and histologic studies: a prospective evaluation of 306 control subjects and 376 patients with symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux.* Dis Esophagus 2000;13(1):5-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11005324.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1 9.2} Dietz J, Meurer L, Maffazzoni DR, Furtado AD, Prolla JC. *Intestinal metaplasia in the distal esophagus and correlation with symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux disease.* Dis Esophagus 2003;16(1): 29-32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12581251.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} ^{10.2} Csendes A, Smok G, Burdiles P, Korn O, Gradiz M, Rojas J, et al. *Prevalence of intestinal metaplasia according to the length of the specialized columnar epithelium lining the distal esophagus in patients with gastroesophageal reflux.* Dis Esophagus 2003;16(1):24-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12581250.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Yeh C, Hsu CT, Ho AS, Sampliner RE, Fass R. *Erosive esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus in Taiwan: a higher frequency than expected.* Dig Dis Sci 1997 Apr;42(4):702-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9125635.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} Azuma N, Endo T, Arimura Y, Motoya S, Itoh F, Hinoda Y, et al. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus and expression of mucin antigens detected by a panel of monoclonal antibodies in Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in Japan.* J Gastroenterol 2000;35(8):583-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10955596.



- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} Dhawan PS, Alvares JF, Vora IM, Joseph TK, Bhatia SJ, Amarapurkar AD, et al. *Prevalence of short segments of specialized columnar epithelium in distal esophagus: association with gastroesophageal reflux.* Indian J Gastroenterol 2001 Jul;20(4):144-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/11497172.
- 14. ↑ Law S, Lam KY, Chu KM, Wong J. *Specialized intestinal metaplasia and carditis at the gastroesophageal junction in Chinese patients undergoing endoscopy.* Am J Gastroenterol 2002 Aug;97(8):1924-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12190155.
- 15. ↑ Wong WM, Lam SK, Hui WM, Lai KC, Chan CK, Hu WH, et al. Long-term prospective follow-up of endoscopic oesophagitis in southern Chinese--prevalence and spectrum of the disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002 Dec;16(12):2037-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12452935.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Choi DW, Oh SN, Baek SJ, Ahn SH, Chang YJ, Jeong WS, et al. *Endoscopically observed lower esophageal capillary patterns.* Korean J Intern Med 2002 Dec;17(4):245-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12647639.
- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} Fujiwara Y, Higuchi K, Shiba M, Watanabe T, Tominaga K, Oshitani N, et al. *Association between gastroesophageal flap valve, reflux esophagitis, Barrett's epithelium, and atrophic gastritis assessed by endoscopy in Japanese patients.* J Gastroenterol 2003;38(6):533-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12825128.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} ^{18.2} Lee JI, Park H, Jung HY, Rhee PL, Song CW, Choi MG. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in an urban Korean population: a multicenter study.* J Gastroenterol 2003;38(1):23-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12560918.
- 19. ↑ ^{19.0} ^{19.1} ^{19.2} Rajendra S, Kutty K, Karim N. *Ethnic differences in the prevalence of endoscopic esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus: the long and short of it all.* Dig Dis Sci 2004 Feb;49(2):237-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15104363.
- 20. ↑ Zhang J, Chen XL, Wang KM, Guo XD, Zuo AL, Gong J. *Barrett's esophagus and its correlation with gastroesophageal reflux in Chinese.* World J Gastroenterol 2004 Apr 1;10(7):1065-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15052695.
- 21. ↑ ^{21.0} ^{21.1} Kim JY, Kim YS, Jung MK, Park JJ, Kang DH, Kim JS, et al. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in Korea.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005 Apr;20(4):633-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /15836715.
- 22. 1^{22.0} 22.1 22.2 Amano Y, Kushiyama Y, Yuki T, Takahashi Y, Moriyama I, Fukuhara H, et al. *Prevalence of and risk factors for Barrett's esophagus with intestinal predominant mucin phenotype.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2006 Aug;41(8):873-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16803684.
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Kim JH, Rhee PL, Lee JH, Lee H, Choi YS, Son HJ, et al. *Prevalence and risk factors of Barrett's esophagus in Korea.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007 Jun;22(6):908-12 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17565647.
- 24. ↑ ^{24.0} ^{24.1} Kim JH, Hwang JK, Kim J, Lee SD, Lee BJ, Kim JS, et al. *Endoscopic findings around the gastroesophageal junction: an experience from a tertiary hospital in Korea.* Korean J Intern Med 2008 Sep; 23(3):127-33 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18787365.
- 25. ↑ ^{25.0} ^{25.1} Okita K, Amano Y, Takahashi Y, Mishima Y, Moriyama N, Ishimura N, et al. *Barrett's esophagus in Japanese patients: its prevalence, form, and elongation.* J Gastroenterol 2008;43(12):928-34 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19107336.



- 26. ↑ ^{26.0} ^{26.1} ^{26.2} Tseng PH, Lee YC, Chiu HM, Huang SP, Liao WC, Chen CC, et al. *Prevalence and clinical characteristics of Barrett's esophagus in a Chinese general population.* J Clin Gastroenterol 2008 Nov;42 (10):1074-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18360296.
- 27. ↑ ^{27.0} ^{27.1} Chang CY, Lee YC, Lee CT, Tu CH, Hwang JC, Chiang H, et al. *The application of Prague C and M criteria in the diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus in an ethnic Chinese population.* Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Jan;104(1):13-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19098843.
- 28. ↑ ^{28.0} ^{28.1} H. pylori and GERD Study Group of Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research, Park JJ, Kim JW, Kim HJ, Chung MG, Park SM, et al. *The prevalence of and risk factors for Barrett's esophagus in a Korean population: A nationwide multicenter prospective study.* J Clin Gastroenterol 2009 Nov;43(10):907-14 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19417682.
- 29. ↑ Peng S, Cui Y, Xiao YL, Xiong LS, Hu PJ, Li CJ, et al. *Prevalence of erosive esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus in the adult Chinese population.* Endoscopy 2009 Dec;41(12):1011-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19967617.
- 30. ↑ ^{30.0} ^{30.1} Kuo CJ, Lin CH, Liu NJ, Wu RC, Tang JH, Cheng CL. *Frequency and risk factors for Barrett's esophagus in Taiwanese patients: a prospective study in a tertiary referral center.* Dig Dis Sci 2010 May;55 (5):1337-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19557516.
- 31. ↑ ^{31.0} ^{31.1} Lee IS, Choi SC, Shim KN, Jee SR, Huh KC, Lee JH, et al. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus remains low in the Korean population: nationwide cross-sectional prospective multicenter study.* Dig Dis Sci 2010 Jul;55(7):1932-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19798574.
- 32. ↑ Xiong LS, Cui Y, Wang JP, Wang JH, Xue L, Hu PJ, et al. *Prevalence and risk factors of Barrett's esophagus in patients undergoing endoscopy for upper gastrointestinal symptoms.* J Dig Dis 2010 Apr;11 (2):83-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20402833.
- 33. ↑ ^{33.0} ^{33.1} Lee YY, Tuan Sharif SE, Syed Abd Aziz SH, Raj SM. *Barrett's Esophagus in an Area with an Exceptionally Low Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection.* ISRN Gastroenterol 2011;2011:394734 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21991505.
- 34. ↑ ^{34.0} ^{34.1} de Mas CR, Krämer M, Seifert E, Rippin G, Vieth M, Stolte M. *Short Barrett: prevalence and risk factors.* Scand J Gastroenterol 1999 Nov;34(11):1065-70 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/10582754.
- 35. ↑ ^{35.0} ^{35.1} Caygill CP, Reed PI, Johnston BJ, Hill MJ, Ali MH, Levi S. *A single centre's 20 years' experience of columnar-lined (Barrett's) oesophagus diagnosis.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999 Dec;11(12):1355-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10654794.
- 36. ↑ ^{36.0} ^{36.1} Toruner M, Soykan I, Ensari A, Kuzu I, Yurdaydin C, Ozden A. *Barrett's esophagus: prevalence and its relationship with dyspeptic symptoms.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004 May;19(5):535-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15086597.
- 37. ↑ ^{37.0} ^{37.1} Johansson J, Håkansson HO, Mellblom L, Kempas A, Johansson KE, Granath F, et al. *Prevalence* of precancerous and other metaplasia in the distal oesophagus and gastro-oesophageal junction. Scand J Gastroenterol 2005 Aug;40(8):893-902 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16165707.
- 38. ↑ ^{38.0} ^{38.1} ^{38.2} van Soest EM, Dieleman JP, Siersema PD, Sturkenboom MC, Kuipers EJ. *Increasing incidence of Barrett's oesophagus in the general population.* Gut 2005 Aug;54(8):1062-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15857935.



- 39. ↑ ^{39.0} ^{39.1} Ronkainen J, Aro P, Storskrubb T, Johansson SE, Lind T, Bolling-Sternevald E, et al. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in the general population: an endoscopic study.* Gastroenterology 2005 Dec;129(6): 1825-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16344051.
- 40. ↑ ^{40.0} ^{40.1} Yilmaz N, Tuncer K, Tunçyürek M, Ozütemiz O, Bor S. *The prevalence of Barrett's esophagus and erosive esophagitis in a tertiary referral center in Turkey.* Turk J Gastroenterol 2006 Jun;17(2):79-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16830286.
- 41. ↑ ^{41.0} ^{41.1} Post PN, Siersema PD, Van Dekken H. *Rising incidence of clinically evident Barrett's oesophagus in The Netherlands: a nation-wide registry of pathology reports.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2007 Jan;42(1):17-22 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17190757.
- 42. ↑ ^{42.0} ^{42.1} van Kerkhoven LA, van Rijswijck SJ, van Rossum LG, Laheij RJ, Witteman EM, Tan AC, et al. *Open-access upper gastrointestinal endoscopy a decade after the introduction of proton pump inhibitors and helicobacter pylori eradication: a shift in endoscopic findings.* Digestion 2007;75(4):227-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17986820.
- 43. ↑ ^{43.0} ^{43.1} Bayrakçi B, Kasap E, Kitapçioğlu G, Bor S. *Low prevalence of erosive esophagitis and Barrett esophagus in a tertiary referral center in Turkey.* Turk J Gastroenterol 2008 Sep [cited 2013 Jan 8];19(3): 145-51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19115148.
- 44. ↑ ^{44.0} ^{44.1} Odemiş B, Ciçek B, Zengin NI, Arhan M, Kacar S, Cengiz C, et al. *Barrett's esophagus and endoscopically assessed esophagogastric junction integrity in 1000 consecutive Turkish patients undergoing endoscopy: a prospective study.* Dis Esophagus 2009 [cited 2013 Jan 8];22(8):649-55. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2009.00982.x. Epub 2009 Jun 9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/19515192.
- 45. ↑ ^{45.0} ^{45.1} Alcedo J, Ferrández A, Arenas J, Sopeña F, Ortego J, Sainz R, et al. *Trends in Barrett's esophagus diagnosis in Southern Europe: implications for surveillance.* Dis Esophagus 2009;22(3):239-48 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19425201.
- 46. ↑ ^{46.0} ^{46.1} Masci E, Viaggi P, Mangiavillano B, Di Pietro S, Micheletto G, Di Prisco F, et al. *No increase in prevalence of Barrett's oesophagus in a surgical series of obese patients referred for laparoscopic gastric banding.* Dig Liver Dis 2011 Aug;43(8):613-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21441080.
- 47. ↑ ^{47.0} ^{47.1} Jonaitis L, Ivanauskas A, Janciauskas D, Funka K, Sudraba A, Tolmanis I, et al. *Precancerous gastric conditions in high Helicobacter pylori prevalence areas: comparison between Eastern European (Lithuanian, Latvian) and Asian (Taiwanese) patients.* Medicina (Kaunas) 2007;43(8):623-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17895638.
- 48. ↑ ^{48.0} ^{48.1} ^{48.2} Coleman HG, Bhat S, Murray LJ, McManus D, Gavin AT, Johnston BT. *Increasing incidence of Barrett's oesophagus: a population-based study.* Eur J Epidemiol 2011 Sep;26(9):739-45 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21671079.
- 49. ↑ Sarr MG, Hamilton SR, Marrone GC, Cameron JL. *Barrett's esophagus: its prevalence and association with adenocarcinoma in patients with symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux.* Am J Surg 1985 Jan;149(1): 187-93 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3966636.
- 50. ↑ Cameron AJ, Lomboy CT. *Barrett's esophagus: age, prevalence, and extent of columnar epithelium.* Gastroenterology 1992 Oct;103(4):1241-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1397881.



- 1 Johnston MH, Hammond AS, Laskin W, Jones DM. *The prevalence and clinical characteristics of short segments of specialized intestinal metaplasia in the distal esophagus on routine endoscopy.* Am J Gastroenterol 1996 Aug;91(8):1507-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8759651.
- 52. ↑ ^{52.0} 52.1 Bersentes K, Fass R, Padda S, Johnson C, Sampliner RE. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in Hispanics is similar to Caucasians.* Dig Dis Sci 1998 May;43(5):1038-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9590419.
- 53. ↑ Kim SL, Wo JM, Hunter JG, Davis LP, Waring JP. *The prevalence of intestinal metaplasia in patients with and without peptic strictures.* Am J Gastroenterol 1998 Jan;93(1):53-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/9448174.
- 54. ↑ Hirota WK, Loughney TM, Lazas DJ, Maydonovitch CL, Rholl V, Wong RK. Specialized intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia, and cancer of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction: prevalence and clinical data. Gastroenterology 1999 Feb;116(2):277-85 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /9922307.
- 55. ↑ Conio M, Cameron AJ, Romero Y, Branch CD, Schleck CD, Burgart LJ, et al. Secular trends in the epidemiology and outcome of Barrett's oesophagus in Olmsted County, Minnesota. Gut 2001 Mar;48(3): 304-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11171817.
- 56. ↑ Gerson LB, Shetler K, Triadafilopoulos G. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in asymptomatic individuals.* Gastroenterology 2002 Aug;123(2):461-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12145799.
- 57. ↑ Romero Y, Cameron AJ, Schaid DJ, McDonnell SK, Burgart LJ, Hardtke CL, et al. *Barrett's esophagus:* prevalence in symptomatic relatives. Am J Gastroenterol 2002 May;97(5):1127-32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12017151.
- 58. ↑ Rex DK, Cummings OW, Shaw M, Cumings MD, Wong RK, Vasudeva RS, et al. *Screening for Barrett's esophagus in colonoscopy patients with and without heartburn.* Gastroenterology 2003 Dec;125(6):1670-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14724819.
- 59. ↑ Connor MJ, Weston AP, Mayo MS, Sharma P. *The prevalence of Barrett's esophagus and erosive esophagitis in patients undergoing upper endoscopy for dyspepsia in a VA population.* Dig Dis Sci 2004 Jun;49(6):920-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15309878.
- 60. ↑ Westhoff B, Brotze S, Weston A, McElhinney C, Cherian R, Mayo MS, et al. *The frequency of Barrett's* esophagus in high-risk patients with chronic GERD. Gastrointest Endosc 2005 Feb;61(2):226-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15729230.
- 61. ↑ ^{61.0} ^{61.1} El-Serag HB, Gilger MA, Shub MD, Richardson P, Bancroft J. *The prevalence of suspected Barrett's esophagus in children and adolescents: a multicenter endoscopic study.* Gastrointest Endosc 2006 Nov;64(5):671-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17055854.
- 62. ↑ Halum SL, Postma GN, Bates DD, Koufman JA. *Incongruence between histologic and endoscopic diagnoses of Barrett's esophagus using transnasal esophagoscopy.* Laryngoscope 2006 Feb;116(2):303-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16467724.
- 63. ↑ Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJ, Thomson AB, Barkun AN, Armstrong D, Chiba N, White RJ, et al. *The prevalence of Barrett's oesophagus in a cohort of 1040 Canadian primary care patients with uninvestigated dyspepsia undergoing prompt endoscopy.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006 Mar 1;23(5):595-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16480398.
- 64. ↑ Ward EM, Wolfsen HC, Achem SR, Loeb DS, Krishna M, Hemminger LL, et al. *Barrett's esophagus is* common in older men and women undergoing screening colonoscopy regardless of reflux symptoms. Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Jan;101(1):12-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16405528.



- 65. ↑ Dickman R, Mattek N, Holub J, Peters D, Fass R. *Prevalence of upper gastrointestinal tract findings in patients with noncardiac chest pain versus those with gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD)-related symptoms: results from a national endoscopic database.* Am J Gastroenterol 2007 Jun;102(6):1173-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17378910.
- 66. ↑ Gilani N, Gerkin RD, Ramirez FC, Hakim S, Randolph AC. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in patients with moderate to severe erosive esophagitis.* World J Gastroenterol 2008 Jun 14;14(22):3518-22 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18567080.
- 67. ↑ ^{67.0} ^{67.1} Lam KD, Phan JT, Garcia RT, Trinh H, Nguyen H, Nguyen K, et al. *Low proportion of Barrett's esophagus in Asian Americans.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Jul;103(7):1625-30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18557711.
- 68. ↑ ^{68.0} ^{68.1} Musana AK, Resnick JM, Torbey CF, Mukesh BN, Greenlee RT. *Barrett's esophagus: incidence and prevalence estimates in a rural Mid-Western population.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Mar;103(3):516-24 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17970839.
- 69. ↑ Corley DA, Kubo A, Levin TR, Block G, Habel L, Rumore G, et al. *Race, ethnicity, sex and temporal differences in Barrett's oesophagus diagnosis: a large community-based study, 1994-2006.* Gut 2009 Feb; 58(2):182-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18978173.
- 70. ↑ ^{70.0} ^{70.1} Fan X, Snyder N. *Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in patients with or without GERD symptoms: role of race, age, and gender.* Dig Dis Sci 2009 Mar;54(3):572-7 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18654849.
- 71. ↑ ^{71.0} ^{71.1} Wang A, Mattek NC, Holub JL, Lieberman DA, Eisen GM. *Prevalence of complicated gastroesophageal reflux disease and Barrett's esophagus among racial groups in a multi-center consortium.* Dig Dis Sci 2009 May;54(5):964-71 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19255852.
- 72. ↑ Juhasz A, Mittal SK, Lee TH, Deng C, Chak A, Lynch HT. *Prevalence of Barrett esophagus in first-degree relatives of patients with esophageal adenocarcinoma.* J Clin Gastroenterol 2011 Nov;45(10):867-71 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21617543.
- 1 Roorda AK, Marcus SN, Triadafilopoulos G. *Algorithmic approach to patients presenting with heartburn and epigastric pain refractory to empiric proton pump inhibitor therapy.* Dig Dis Sci 2011 Oct;56(10):2871-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21512760.

Back to top

2.1.1.5 Appendices

View pendingViewevidenceView body ofView allView literaturerecommendationevidenceevidencecomments



2.1.2 Risk factors

	Contents
1 Which factors b	est predict the risk of developing BO?
1.1 Introducti	on
1.2 Risk facto	ors for Barrett's Oesophagus
1.2.1 Ref	ux
1.2.2 Obe	sity
1.2.3 Smo	oking
1.2.4 Mal	e sex
1.2.5 Age	
1.2.6 Heli	cobacter pylori
1.2.7 Alco	phol
1.2.8 Asp	irin and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)
1.2.9 Diet	t i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
1.2.10 Me	etabolic factors
1.2.11 Hia	atal hernia
1.2.12 Fa	mily history
1.3 Risk pred	iction tools for Barrett's Oesophagus
1.4 Other fact	tors
2 Evidence summ	nary and recommendations
3 Issues requiring	more clinical research study
4 References	
5 Appendices	

2.1.2.1 Which factors best predict the risk of developing BO?

2.1.2.1.1 Introduction

Risk factors for Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) have been assessed in more than 50 studies. All of the studies have been observational, and the vast majority to date have been case-control studies of varying degrees of quality. Several features of study design are likely to have contributed to differences in effect estimates between studies, particularly the ways in which BO cases and controls have been defined and selected. For example, a small number of studies have recruited only newly diagnosed BO cases, whereas others have recruited patients known to have pre-existing disease ('prevalent cases'). Similarly, important differences are likely to exist between population versus institutional controls, and between 'disease-free' versus 'reflux controls'. Other features include the quality of exposure measurements, the methods of analysis and control of potentially confounding factors. These elements of study quality must be borne in mind when assessing the evidence base. Wherever possible, estimates from higher quality studies have been used in the summaries below.

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.1.2.1.2 Risk factors for Barrett's Oesophagus

2.1.2.1.2.1 Reflux

There is consistent observational evidence that patients with long-segment BO are much more likely (up to tenfold in some reports) to report a past history of frequent (more than weekly) gastro-oesophageal acid reflux (GOR) symptoms than population controls. A systematic review of six high-quality observational studies reported a summary odds ratio of 4.92 (95% CI 2.01-12.0) for long segment BO and 1.15 (95% CI 0.763-1.73) for short segment BO.^[1]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.2 Obesity

The association between body mass index (BMI, a simple but crude measure of body mass adjusted for height) and risk of BO has been inconsistent across studies. Most studies have reported small, non-significant, positive associations. Measures of central adiposity (such as waist circumference, waist-hip ratio) and visceral obesity (such as computed tomography (CT) measures of abdominal fat) have been consistently reported to be significantly associated with moderately increased risks of BO. A pooled analysis of four population-based case-control studies comprising 1102 BO cases and 1400 population controls found no evidence of a significant association between BMI and the risk of BO. In contrast, that pooled analysis observed that persons in the highest versus the lowest quartiles of waist circumference had approximately 125% and 275% increases in the odds of BO among men and women, respectively (men OR 2.24, 95% CI 1.08 - 4.65; women OR 3.75, 95% CI 1.47 to 9.56). The associations with measures of central obesity persisted after adjusting for the confounding effects of BMI and gastro-oesophageal reflux.^[2] Similarly, a meta-analysis of 15 studies reported a summary OR of 1.98 (95% CI 1.52-2.57) for measures of central adiposity associated with BO.^[3]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.3 Smoking

Data from case-control studies consistently report risks of BO among smokers to be about 50-60% higher than non-smokers, after adjusting for other potentially confounding factors. A pooled analysis using primary data from five case-control studies (1059 BO cases, 1332 gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) controls, 1143 population controls) reported a summary odds ratio of 1.67 (95% CI 1.04-2.67) for ever versus never smoking when comparing BO cases to population controls, and OR 1.61 (95% CI 1.33-1.96) when compared to GORD controls.^[4] Similarly, a systematic review and meta-analysis of 39 studies comprising 7069 BO patients reported a summary odds ratio of 1.42 (95% CI 1.15-1.76) for ever versus never smoking when comparing BO cases to population controls.^[5]



2.1.2.1.2.4 Male sex

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 32 studies providing a sex ratio for Barrett's Oesophagus reported a summary ratio of 1.96 (95% Cl 1.77-2.17). Although there was considerable heterogeneity in the magnitude of the ratio across studies (ratio ranges 1.08-4.43), all studies observed a male excess of BO.^[6]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.5 Age

Population studies suggest that the probability of a new diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus increases with age. A US community study reported that the incidence of new Barrett's Oesophagus was 7 per 100,000 person-years for people 21-30 years and 31 per 100,000 person-years for people aged 61-70 years (adjusted for the different endoscopy rates at different ages).^[7] Case-control studies estimate that the relative risk of diagnosis of Barrett' s Oesophagus increases by about 30% per decade above 40 years when compared against patients with a diagnosis of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease.^[8]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.6 Helicobacter pylori

A limited number of case-control studies have conducted serological assays comparing the prevalence of anti-H pylori antibodies between BO cases and controls. These studies have typically reported risk reductions of about 50% for persons with evidence of past infection with H pylori.^[9].^[10]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.7 Alcohol

There is no evidence that alcohol consumption increases the risk of BO. At least three high-quality case-control studies^{[11][12][13]} and one cohort study^[14] have examined this factor in detail and all reported null findings.

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.8 Aspirin and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)

A very small number of observational studies have investigated possible associations between self-reported use of aspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and risks of BO.^{[15][16]} There was no evidence that regular users of aspirin or NSAIDs differed in their risks of BO from never users.



2.1.2.1.2.9 Diet

There is no consistent evidence implicating any dietary or nutritional factors in altering a person's risk of BO, however studies are few.

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.10 Metabolic factors

A small number of observational studies have investigated possible associations between metabolic factors and risks of BO. Some studies have reported modest positive associations with high levels of insulin and leptin,^[17] ^[18] although findings are inconsistent across studies. Data for other factors (such as insulin-like growth factors) are scarce.

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.11 Hiatal hernia

Hiatal hernias have been reported more frequently among patients with BO when compared against both patients with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) (about a three-fold increased relative risk) and non-GORD controls (about a 13-fold increased relative risk).^[19]

Back to top

2.1.2.1.2.12 Family history

A small number of studies has investigated the family history of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. These studies estimate that about 7% of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus have a confirmed history of Barrett's Oesophagus or oesophageal adenocarcinoma occurring in a first- or second-degree relative,^[20] equating to a relative risk about 12-fold higher than GORD controls.

Back to top

2.1.2.1.3 Risk prediction tools for Barrett's Oesophagus

One study has developed a prediction tool to estimate the probability that a person has BO.^[21] The tool included terms for age, sex, smoking status, body mass index, education, and frequency of use of acid suppressant medications (area under the ROC curve, 0.70; 95%CI, 0.66-0.74). The model had moderate discrimination in an external dataset (area under the ROC curve, 0.61; 95%CI, 0.56-0.66).



2.1.2.1.4 Other factors

Clinical studies have identified associations with obstructive sleep apnoea, although associations have been inconsistent across studies and residual confounding by other factors (notably obesity) cannot be excluded.^[22] ^[23]

Back to top

2.1.2.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Major risk factors for Barrett's Oesophagus have been well characterised in population-based studies, and include age, male sex, history of frequent gastro-	III-3,	[1] _, [2] _, [3] _, [4]
oesophageal acid reflux, abdominal obesity, smoking and family history.	IV	, [6] _, [8] _, [20]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Clinical assessment of a person's future risk of Barrett's Oesophagus should consider:	В
• Age	
• Person's sex	
 History of gastro-oesophageal acid reflux 	
 Waist-hip ratio or other measures of central adiposity 	
Smoking history	
 Family history of oesophageal adenocarcinoma and/or Barrett's Oesophagus 	

Back to top

2.1.2.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- What is the role of aspirin/NSAIDs in the development of BO, and is chemoprevention possible?
- Are there any dietary factors that reduce the risk of BO?
- Is the apparent protective effect of Helicobacter infection causal? If so, what are the implications for clinical management?

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.1.2.4 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Taylor JB, Rubenstein JH. *Meta-analyses of the effect of symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux on the risk of Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2010 Aug;105(8):1729, 1730-7; quiz 1738 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485283.
- 1^{2.0} ^{2.1} Kubo A, Cook MB, Shaheen NJ, Vaughan TL, Whiteman DC, Murray L, et al. *Sex-specific associations between body mass index, waist circumference and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus: a pooled analysis from the international BEACON consortium.* Gut 2013 Jan 26 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23355549.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} Singh S, Sharma AN, Murad MH, Buttar NS, El-Serag HB, Katzka DA, et al. *Central Adiposity is Associated with Increased Risk of Esophageal Inflammation, Metaplasia, and Adenocarcinoma: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 May 21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23707461.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1} Cook MB, Shaheen NJ, Anderson LA, Giffen C, Chow WH, Vaughan TL, et al. *Cigarette smoking increases risk of Barrett's esophagus: an analysis of the Barrett's and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Consortium.* Gastroenterology 2012 Apr;142(4):744-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/22245667.
- 5. ↑ Andrici J, Cox MR, Eslick GD. *CIGARETTE SMOKING AND THE RISK OF BARRETT'S ESOPHAGUS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Apr 23 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23611750.
- 6. 1 ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Cook MB, Wild CP, Forman D. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the sex ratio for Barrett's esophagus, erosive reflux disease, and nonerosive reflux disease. Am J Epidemiol 2005 Dec 1;162(11): 1050-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16221805.
- ↑ Corley DA, Kubo A, Levin TR, Block G, Habel L, Rumore G, et al. *Race, ethnicity, sex and temporal differences in Barrett's oesophagus diagnosis: a large community-based study, 1994-2006.* Gut 2009 Feb; 58(2):182-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18978173.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} ^{8.1} Edelstein ZR, Bronner MP, Rosen SN, Vaughan TL. *Risk factors for Barrett's esophagus among patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease: a community clinic-based case-control study.* Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Apr;104(4):834-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19319131.
- 9. ↑ Corley DA, Kubo A, Levin TR, Block G, Habel L, Zhao W, et al. *Helicobacter pylori infection and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus: a community-based study.* Gut 2008 Jun;57(6):727-33 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17895354.
- 10. ↑ Thrift AP, Pandeya N, Smith KJ, Green AC, Hayward NK, Webb PM, et al. *Helicobacter pylori infection and the risks of Barrett's oesophagus: a population-based case-control study.* Int J Cancer 2012 May 15; 130(10):2407-16 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21681741.
- ↑ Anderson LA, Cantwell MM, Watson RG, Johnston BT, Murphy SJ, Ferguson HR, et al. *The association between alcohol and reflux esophagitis, Barrett's esophagus, and esophageal adenocarcinoma.* Gastroenterology 2009 Mar;136(3):799-805 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19162028.
- 12. ↑ Kubo A, Levin TR, Block G, Rumore GJ, Quesenberry CP Jr, Buffler P, et al. *Alcohol types and sociodemographic characteristics as risk factors for Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2009 Mar;136 (3):806-15 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19111726.



- 13. ↑ Thrift AP, Pandeya N, Smith KJ, Mallitt KA, Green AC, Webb PM, et al. *Lifetime alcohol consumption and risk of Barrett's Esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2011 Jul;106(7):1220-30 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21427711.
- 14. ↑ Steevens J, Schouten LJ, Driessen AL, Huysentruyt CJ, Keulemans YC, Goldbohm RA, et al. *A prospective cohort study on overweight, smoking, alcohol consumption, and risk of Barrett's esophagus.* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011 Feb;20(2):345-58 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21173169.
- 15. ↑ Anderson LA, Johnston BT, Watson RG, Murphy SJ, Ferguson HR, Comber H, et al. *Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the esophageal inflammation-metaplasia-adenocarcinoma sequence.* Cancer Res 2006 May 1;66(9):4975-82 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16651456.
- ↑ Thrift AP, Pandeya N, Smith KJ, Green AC, Webb PM, Whiteman DC. *The use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011 Nov;34(10):1235-44 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21967506.
- 17. ↑ Kendall BJ, Macdonald GA, Hayward NK, Prins JB, Brown I, Walker N, et al. *Leptin and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2008 Apr;57(4):448-54 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18178609.
- 18. ↑ Thompson OM, Beresford SA, Kirk EA, Bronner MP, Vaughan TL. Serum leptin and adiponectin levels and risk of Barrett's esophagus and intestinal metaplasia of the gastroesophageal junction. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010 Nov;18(11):2204-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20111023.
- 19. ↑ Andrici J, Tio M, Cox MR, Eslick GD. *Hiatal Hernia and the Risk of Barrett's Esophagus: A Meta-Analysis.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012 Jun 13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22694245.
- 20. ↑ ^{20.0} ^{20.1} Chak A, Lee T, Kinnard MF, Brock W, Faulx A, Willis J, et al. *Familial aggregation of Barrett's oesophagus, oesophageal adenocarcinoma, and oesophagogastric junctional adenocarcinoma in Caucasian adults.* Gut 2002 Sep;51(3):323-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /12171951.
- 21. ↑ Thrift AP, Kendall BJ, Pandeya N, Vaughan TL, Whiteman DC, Study of Digestive Health. *A clinical risk prediction model for Barrett esophagus.* Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2012 Sep;5(9):1115-23 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22787114.
- 22. ↑ Cummings LC, Shah N, Maimone S, Salah W, Khiani V, Chak A. *Barrett's esophagus and the risk of obstructive sleep apnea: a case-control study.* BMC Gastroenterol 2013 May 11;13:82 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23663216.
- 23. ↑ Leggett CL, Gorospe EC, Calvin AD, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Caples S, et al. *Obstructive Sleep Apnea is a Risk Factor for Barrett's Esophagus.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Sep 11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24035775.


2.1.2.5 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.3 Incidence of neoplasia in BO patients

Contents

1 What is the incidence of neoplasia in patients with BO?

1.1 Introduction

1.2 Incidence - sources of data and factors affecting

1.3 Incidence of OAC in patients with BO - population based studies

1.4 Meta analyses

1.5 Clinical based studies

1.6 Summary

2 Issues requiring more clinical research study

3 References

4 Appendices

2.1.3.1 What is the incidence of neoplasia in patients with BO?

2.1.3.1.1 Introduction

Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) was described in the 1950' s. In Barrett's Oesophagus, cells of the lower portion of the oesophagus change from normal stratified squamous epithelium to include goblet cells (which are usually found lower in the oesophageal/gastric junction). Intestinal metaplasia is sometimes reported. The medical significance of Barrett's Oesophagus is its strong association with adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus (see also What is the histological

Uncertainty regarding risk of low grade dysplasia progression

The management of patients diagnosed with Barrett's oesophagus with low grade dysplasia (LGD) is currently uncertain, as there is considerable debate about the risks of



Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's Oesophagus and Early

Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma

definition of BO?). The predominant form of oesophageal cancer is the squamous cell type, however this has been declining in incidence in many developed countries. Adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus has been rising in most developed countries to the extent that now both are occurring at about a similar rate.

Back to top

progression to high grade dysplasia (HGD) or cancer in this group. Population-based studies which have followed Barrett's oesophagus patients diagnosed with LGD in the community have reported rates of progression to cancer of ~0.5% p.a. (Hvid-Jensen et al 2011). In contrast, studies undertaken in academic centres in which diagnoses of LGD are made only after review by expert gastrointestinal pathologists report rates of progression as high as 13% p.a. (Curvers et al 2010). Importantly, in those studies, about 85% of patients diagnosed originally with LGD were down-staged to non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus upon expert review. In the group of down-staged patients, the rate of progression was $\sim 0.5\%$ p.a – about the same as the rate observed in the community-based studies. These apparently conflicting data have implications for how LGD is diagnosed, how patients are managed and frequency of surveillance.

2.1.3.1.2 Incidence - sources of data and factors affecting

This review will focus on high quality studies as demonstrated in the body of evidence (see Appendices below), and mainly focused on a few meta-analyses that summarised the question succinctly. Factors influencing the quality score included sufficient follow-up time, whether or not the studies were population based, versus those being undertaken in specialist centres. For noting, none of these studies are from Australia, and so local variations may be possible.

There are three main sources of data ascertaining the incidence of oesphageal adenocarcinoma (OAC) in patients with BO. First includes case series at one or several institutional endoscopy clinics where patients first assessed with BO are then followed up after a period of time, e.g. re-endoscoped after one or two years. The second is a variant of these, whereby incident cases are placed in a program to undergo regular endoscopic surveillance and the third, through population based registries, linked to follow up information, such as cancer, mortality and cause of death. Each of these data sources produces different estimates of incidence of OAC in people with BO. Sources of variation appear to depend on the definition of BO at onset (new cases versus prevalent, time of follow-up, setting (e.g. population vs. specialist centre and sample size, to some extent).

In performing this review it is important to distinguish prevalent cases from incident ones (ie. new diagnoses), and to be mindful that in a surveillance setting, the natural history of BO is interrupted by treatment of people diagnosed with high grade dysplasia. Depending on the effectiveness of this treatment, people undergoing such treatment ought to be 'censored' from follow-up as the natural history of progression would have been interrupted. Even in 'population based studies', patients with diagnosed BO may undergo intensive surveillance according to a country's 'national norm' so the incidence of cancer may be underestimated. Further, certain



studies that have focused on certain subgroups, e.g. smokers, or those with certain histological sub-types who are already at high risk of developing oesophageal cancer, may be providing estimates that may be higher than expected from a more general representative population. Size of study may influence results: Shaheen et al^[1] reviewed 554 abstracts and included 27 articles including 2590 patients with BO, of which 87 developed oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Shaheen et al^[1] suggests that in the setting of BO and oesophageal cancer incidence, there is a strong inverse relationship between the size of the study and cancer risk after BO. Finally, length of follow-up may also influence results. Studies of short duration may be picking up prevalent oesophageal cancers that may have been missed at baseline.

Back to top

2.1.3.1.3 Incidence of OAC in patients with BO - population based studies

There are five population based studies that are pertinent here. Murray et al^[2] performed population based record linkage of cases diagnosed centrally through Northern Ireland's Pathology laboratories and linked these to cancer registration records and deaths. Overall annual incidence of oesophageal cancer six months after initial detection was 2.6/1000 person-years (py). The latest study of these series, using the BO Register^[3] suggests an annual incidence rate of OAC after at least a year of follow-up overall of 1.3/1000 py, 1.6/1000 py in OAC and gastric cardia cancer combined, and 2.2/1000 py of OAC and high grade dysplasia combined. Schouten et al^[4] in the Netherlands linked records of persons diagnosed with BO in a cohort of 120,000 individuals to the a national pathology repository 'PALGA', and estimated an overall annual incidence rate, after six months follow up of 3.3/1000 py, with 3.1 /1000 py in those followed up six months to one year and 4.3/1000 py in those diagnosed one to four years of follow up. Hvid-Jensen et al^[5] linked records of 11,121 cases of BO via national cancer registry and death records and yielded an overall incidence rate for OAC of 1.2 cases per 1000 py (but 2.3/1000 py in those aged 50-69 years of age- an age range more comparable to the other studies). Alexandropoulou et al^[6] using the UK General Practice Research Database where 398 approved general practitioner practices with a catchment population of three million patients record clinical and prescribing data on all their patients. In this study, the annual incidence of oesophageal cancer (OC), one year after documentation of BO between 1996 and 2005, was 3/1000 py.

There are indications that histological subtypes like the presence of intestinal metaplasia, high grade lesions, and length of the columnar mucosa suggesting higher risks. However, record linked studies sometimes miss out on further refinement (i.e. re-grading of lesions on follow up) once the index case has been ascertained. There is lack of censorship of possible intermediate events, e.g. treatment of high grade lesions.

Back to top

2.1.3.1.4 Meta analyses

Thomas et al^[7] performed a meta-analysis of a review of 41 studies from 1966-2004. Overall the incidence of OAC was 7/1000 py, i.e. more than about double those found in population based studies.

From Thomas et al: Note discrepancy between overall meta-analysis and population based data from Murray et al.



Desai et al performed a meta-analysis of 57 studies from 1966-2012 identifying 10 studies of the highest methodological quality, including those without any dysplasia at baseline. Overall, the annual incidence of OAC in those with BO at baseline 3.3/1000 py. No indication was given whether potentially prevalent cases of OAC were documented six months or one year after follow-up.

From Meta analysis by Desai et al 2012

2.1.3.1.5 Clinical based studies

Gaddam et al^[8] followed up for an average of 5.59 years 1401 patients with non-dysplastic BO in five tertiary care referral centres in the USA with a special interest in this condition. Patients were divided according to the number of times they underwent esophagogastro-duodenoscopy (EGD). As stated "Patients in group 1 were found to have non-dysplastic BO at their first EGD. Patients in group 2 were found to have non-dysplastic BO on their first two consecutive EGDs. Similarly, patients in groups 3, 4, and 5 were found to have non-dysplastic BO on third, fourth, and fifth consecutive surveillance EGDs". Of a total of 3515 patients with BO, 1401 patients met the inclusion criteria. (7846 patient-years). The annual risk of OAC in groups 1 to 5 was 3.2/1000, 2.7/1000, 1.6 /1000, 2/1000, and 1.1/1000 py, respectively.

Jung et al^[9] assessed records of patients with BO (columnar segment > 1 cm with intestinal metaplasia) and IMGEJ (intestinal metaplasia in biopsies from the gastroesophageal junction) from 1976 to 2006 in Olmsted County, Minnesota and followed up cases for a median period of 7-8 years. Demographic and clinical data were abstracted from medical records and pathology confirmed by gastrointestinal pathologists. Excluding those diagnosed with OAC within six months of diagnosis of BO, an estimated annual rate of 2.9 oesophageal adenocarcinomas per 1000 py was found. The rate was 5.0 per 1000 person-years for high grade dysplasias, suggesting if these were untreated, the risk of OAC would have been higher. The percentage follow up is not stated, but is assumed to be at least "reasonable" as over 80% of the county population attends one of the county's two health centres annually.

Two clinically based studies from Australia and New Zealand are acknowledged.^{[10][11]} In the Australian study, an incidence rate of 1/194 py of follow-up was reported (5.15 /1000 py), in the New Zealand study an incidence rate of 10/1000 patient years was provided.

It is clear that studies among specialist centres 'yield' a higher incidence of OAC after BO than population based studies.

Back to top

2.1.3.1.6 Summary

Australia is far more culturally diverse than the populations studied. There are no large local population based studies measuring the incidence of OAC in people with BO in the population. We have no data on the risk in relation to severity of pathology (IM, Dysplasia) nor on rates of incidence of high grade lesions and OAC. Lifestyle factors affect risk of progression and the relationship between those and outcomes would be important to unravel in a local setting.



Back to top

2.1.3.2 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Does OAC risk in Australia differ by place of birth?
- Are people with HG BO 'cured' of their condition?
- What is the local incidence of OAC in persons with BO?
- What is the local incidence of OAC in relation to histological subtypes of BO?
- What proportion of BO is related to OAC?
- What proportion of people with BO are symptomatic?
- Are there variations in risk in relation to place of birth, smoking status or BMI to guide follow-up activity?

Back to top

2.1.3.3 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Shaheen NJ, Crosby MA, Bozymski EM, Sandler RS. *Is there publication bias in the reporting of cancer risk in Barrett's esophagus?* Gastroenterology 2000 Aug;119(2):333-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10930368.
- 2. ↑ Murray L, Watson P, Johnston B, Sloan J, Mainie IM, Gavin A. *Risk of adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus: population based study.* BMJ 2003 Sep 6;327(7414):534-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12958113.
- 3. ↑ Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6; 103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- ↑ Schouten LJ, Steevens J, Huysentruyt CJ, Coffeng CE, Keulemans YC, van Leeuwen FE, et al. *Total cancer incidence and overall mortality are not increased among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011 Sep;9(9):754-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21570484.
- 5. ↑ Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, Sørensen HT, Funch-Jensen P. *Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* N Engl J Med 2011 Oct 13;365(15):1375-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21995385.
- 6. ↑ Alexandropoulou K, van Vlymen J, Reid F, Poullis A, Kang JY. *Temporal trends of Barrett's oesophagus and gastro-oesophageal reflux and related oesophageal cancer over a 10-year period in England and Wales and associated proton pump inhibitor and H2RA prescriptions: a GPRD study.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Jan;25(1):15-21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23022985.
- 7. ↑ Thomas T, Abrams KR, De Caestecker JS, Robinson RJ. *Meta analysis: Cancer risk in Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007 Dec;26(11-12):1465-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17900269.



- A Gaddam S, Singh M, Balasubramanian G, Gupta N, Wani S, Higbee AD, et al. *Persistence of Non-Dysplastic Barrett's Esophagus Identifies Patients at Lower Risk for Esophageal Adenocarcinoma-Results from a Large Multicenter Cohort.* Gastroenterology 2013 May 25 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23714382.
- 9. ↑ Jung KW, Talley NJ, Romero Y, Katzka DA, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, et al. *Epidemiology and natural history of intestinal metaplasia of the gastroesophageal junction and Barrett's esophagus: a population-based study.* Am J Gastroenterol 2011 Aug;106(8):1447-55; quiz 1456 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/21483461.
- 10. ↑ Bright T, Schloithe A, Bull JA, Fraser RJ, Bampton P, Watson DI. *Outcome of endoscopy surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus*. ANZ J Surg 2009 Nov;79(11):812-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/20078532.
- 11. ↑ Switzer-Taylor V, Schlup M, Lübcke R, Livingstone V, Schultz M. *Barrett's esophagus: a retrospective analysis of 13 years surveillance.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008 Sep 1;23(9):1362-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18205769.

Back to top

2.1.3.4 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation		evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.4 Risk factors for progression

Contents

- 1 What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma? 1.1 Introduction
 - 1.2 Patient factors associated with rate of progression from BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma
 - 1.3 Endoscopic factors associated with rate of progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

1.4 Histologic factors associated with rate of progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

1.5 Pharmacologic factors associated with rate of progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

2 Evidence summary and recommendations



Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's Oesophagus and Early

Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study 4 References

5 Appendices

2.1.4.1 What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma?

2.1.4.1.1 Introduction

Many observational studies have attempted to define the rate of progression from non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus to states of low- or high-grade dysplasia, or adenocarcinoma. There is emerging consensus from large-scale, population-based cohort studies and meta-analyses that the rate of progression to cancer among patients with non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus is in the range of 1 to 5 per 1000 per year (i.e. 0.1% to 0.5%). ^{[1][2]} A subset of studies has further attempted to identify those factors which modify the rate of progression to dysplasia or cancer. The quality of these 'modifying factor studies' has been uneven, with the majority of studies suffering from one or more of the following limitations: small sample sizes and low statistical power; retrospective exposure assessment; high rates of loss to follow-up; selection bias (single institution referral centres); inadequate confounder control. To date, no randomised controlled trials have been published which have tested whether any factors modify the rate of progression to cancer, although at least one is in the field.^[3] These elements of study quality must be borne in mind when assessing the evidence base. Wherever possible, estimates from higher quality studies have been used in the summaries below.

Back to top

2.1.4.1.2 Patient factors associated with rate of progression from BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

Some studies^{[4][5][6]} but not all^{[7][8]} report significantly increased rates of progression with increasing age. There is consistent evidence that the rates of progression to cancer are significantly higher in men than women, with most estimates converging on two-fold higher rates among men.^{[6][8][9]} Rates of progression appear to be about two-fold higher among ever smokers than never smokers.^{[6][10]} A number of studies have assessed whether progression rates are modified by measures of obesity with no evidence of an effect. One study has assessed biochemical analytes, and reported significantly higher rates of progression to cancer among those with higher HOMA scores and higher leptin levels.^[11]

Back to top



2.1.4.1.3 Endoscopic factors associated with rate of progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

Longer segments of columnar mucosa in Barrett's Oesophagus have been consistently associated with higher rates of progression to cancer.^{[7][9][10][12][13][14][15][16]} Endoscopic features that have been associated with significantly increased rates of progression in some studies include the presence of nodules,^{[13][15]} ulceration^[17] and strictures.^{[8][17]} Such areas of abnormality are likely to harbour high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma, and as such require further investigation (see also What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?)

Back to top

2.1.4.1.4 Histologic factors associated with rate of progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

For non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus, there are no histological features that have been reliably associated with risk of progression. Markers of cellular atypia such as aneuploidy appear to confer higher risks of progression to cancer,^[18] although these are frequently associated with dysplasia.

Back to top

2.1.4.1.5 Pharmacologic factors associated with rate of progression from nondysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma

There is evidence from observational studies that several classes of medications significantly reduce the rate of progression to cancer among patients with Barrett's Oesophagus, including non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs),^{[12][19][20]} proton-pump inhibitors (acid suppressant medications)^{[19][21][22]} and statins (HMG co-A reductase inhibitors which act to lower serum cholesterol).^{[12][23][24]} However, it is important to note that no randomised trials have yet reported on these associations, although at least one such trial is currently underway. ^[25]

Back to top

2.1.4.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Factors that have been associated with an increased rate of progression from non- dysplastic BO to high-grade dyplasia or adenocarcinoma in observational studies include those relating to the patient (age, sex, smoking), endoscopic appearance (greater segment length), and histology (aneuploidy).	111-2	[9] _, [10] _, [17] _, [18] _, [26]



Evidence summary	Level	References
There is observational evidence that regular users of proton-pump inhibitors, non- steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and statins, may have lower rates of progression from BO to neoplasia. These findings await confirmation from randomised controlled trials.	, - 2, - 3	[12] [19] [22] , [23] [24]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
A clinical assessment of a patient's future risk of high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma in the setting of non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus should consider their:	С
Age	
Sex	
Smoking history	
Endoscopic findings	

Back to top

2.1.4.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Do medications reduce the rate of progression to cancer? Is chemoprevention possible?
- Are there any dietary factors that reduce the rate of progression from BO to cancer?
- Does obesity modify the rate of progression to cancer?

Back to top

2.1.4.4 References

- 1. ↑ Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, Sørensen HT, Funch-Jensen P. *Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* N Engl J Med 2011 Oct 13;365(15):1375-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21995385.
- ↑ Yousef F, Cardwell C, Cantwell MM, Galway K, Johnston BT, Murray L. *The incidence of esophageal cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Am J Epidemiol 2008 Aug 1;168(3):237-49 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18550563.



- 3. ↑ Jankowski J, Barr H. *Improving surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus: AspECT and BOSS trials provide an evidence base.* BMJ 2006 Jun 24;332(7556):1512 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16793832.
- 4. ↑ Gatenby PA, Caygill CP, Ramus JR, Charlett A, Watson A. *Barrett's columnar-lined oesophagus: demographic and lifestyle associations and adenocarcinoma risk.* Dig Dis Sci 2008 May;53(5):1175-85 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17939050.
- 5. ↑ Verbeek RE, van Oijen MG, ten Kate FJ, Vleggaar FP, Schipper ME, Casparie MK, et al. Surveillance and follow-up strategies in patients with high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a Dutch population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Apr 1;107(4):534-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/22270082.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} Hardikar S, Onstad L, Blount PL, Odze RD, Reid BJ, Vaughan TL. *The role of tobacco, alcohol, and obesity in neoplastic progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma: a prospective study of Barrett's esophagus.* PLoS One 2013;8(1):e52192 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23300966.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0 7.1} Anaparthy R, Gaddam S, Kanakadandi V, Alsop BR, Gupta N, Higbee AD, et al. Association Between Length of Barrett's Esophagus and Risk of High-Grade Dysplasia or Adenocarcinoma in Patients Without Dysplasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 May 21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/23707463.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1 8.2} Bani-Hani KE, Bani-Hani BK, Martin IG. *Characteristics of patients with columnar-lined Barrett's esophagus and risk factors for progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma.* World J Gastroenterol 2005 Nov 21;11(43):6807-14 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16425388.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0} ^{9.1} ^{9.2} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} ^{10.2} Coleman HG, Bhat S, Johnston BT, McManus D, Gavin AT, Murray LJ. *Tobacco smoking increases the risk of high-grade dysplasia and cancer among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2012 Feb;142(2):233-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22062359.
- 11. ↑ Duggan C, Onstad L, Hardikar S, Blount PL, Reid BJ, Vaughan TL. Association between markers of obesity and progression from Barrett's esophagus to esophageal adenocarcinoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Aug 1;11(8):934-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23466711.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} ^{12.2} ^{12.3} Kastelein F, Spaander MC, Biermann K, Steyerberg EW, Kuipers EJ, Bruno MJ, et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and statins have chemopreventative effects in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2011 Dec;141(6):2000-8; quiz e13-4 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21878200.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} Rugge M, Zaninotto G, Parente P, Zanatta L, Cavallin F, Germanà B, et al. *Barrett's esophagus and adenocarcinoma risk: the experience of the North-Eastern Italian Registry (EBRA).* Ann Surg 2012 Nov; 256(5):788-94; discussion 794-5. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182737a7e. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23095623.
- 14. ↑ Rudolph RE, Vaughan TL, Storer BE, Haggitt RC, Rabinovitch PS, Levine DS, et al. *Effect of segment length on risk for neoplastic progression in patients with Barrett esophagus.* Ann Intern Med 2000 Apr 18; 132(8):612-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10766679.



- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} Sikkema M, de Jonge PJ, Steyerberg EW, Kuipers EJ. *Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma and mortality in patients with Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Mar;8(3):235-44; quiz e32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19850156.
- 16. ↑ Thomas T, Abrams KR, De Caestecker JS, Robinson RJ. *Meta analysis: Cancer risk in Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007 Dec;26(11-12):1465-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17900269.
- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} ^{17.2} Coleman HG, Bhat SK, Murray LJ, McManus DT, O'Neill OM, Gavin AT, et al. *Symptoms and Endoscopic Features at Barrett's Esophagus Diagnosis: Implications for Neoplastic Progression Risk.* Am J Gastroenterol 2014 Mar 4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24589668.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} Reid BJ, Levine DS, Longton G, Blount PL, Rabinovitch PS. *Predictors of progression to cancer in Barrett's esophagus: baseline histology and flow cytometry identify low- and high-risk patient subsets.* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Jul;95(7):1669-76 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10925966.
- 19. ↑ ^{19.0} ^{19.1} ^{19.2} Nguyen DM, El-Serag HB, Henderson L, Stein D, Bhattacharyya A, Sampliner RE. Medication usage and the risk of neoplasia in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Dec;7(12):1299-304 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19523538.
- 20. ↑ Vaughan TL, Dong LM, Blount PL, Ayub K, Odze RD, Sanchez CA, et al. *Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of neoplastic progression in Barrett's oesophagus: a prospective study.* Lancet Oncol 2005 Dec;6(12):945-52 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16321762.
- 21. ↑ Kastelein F, Spaander MC, Steyerberg EW, Biermann K, Valkhoff VE, Kuipers EJ et al. Proton Pump Inhibitors Reduce the Risk of Neoplastic Progression in Patients with Barrett's Esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012 Nov 27 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23200977.
- 22. ↑ ^{22.0} ^{22.1} Singh S, Garg SK, Singh PP, Iyer PG, El-Serag HB. *Acid-suppressive medications and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Gut 2013 Nov 12 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24221456.
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Kantor ED, Onstad L, Blount PL, Reid BJ, Vaughan TL. Use of statin medications and risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma in persons with Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012 Mar;21(3):456-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22241250.
- 24. ↑ ^{24.0} ^{24.1} Singh S, Singh AG, Singh PP, Murad MH, Iyer PG. *Statins Are Associated with Reduced Risk of Esophageal Cancer, Particularly in Patients with Barrett's Esophagus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Jan 25 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /23357487.
- 25. ↑ Jankowski J, Moayyedi P. *Re: Cost-effectiveness of aspirin chemoprevention for Barrett's esophagus.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2004 Jun 2;96(11):885-7; author reply 887 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/15173278.
- 26. ↑ de Jonge PJ, van Blankenstein M, Looman CW, Casparie MK, Meijer GA, Kuipers EJ. *Risk of malignant progression in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a Dutch nationwide cohort study.* Gut 2010 Aug;59(8): 1030-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20639249.

Back to top



2.1.4.5 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.5 Cost-effectiveness of population screening

Contents

 For which populations is screening for BO cost-effective?

 1.1 Conclusion
 2 Evidence summary and recommendations

3 References

4 Appendices

2.1.5.1 For which populations is screening for BO cost-effective?

Eight studies were included in this review, which were published between 2000 and 2012. A non-systematic review of the literature which included five of these eight papers was also considered in developing these recommendations. (^[1] Four studies used Markov modelling,^{[2][3][4][5]} three decision analysis^{[6][7][8]} and one microsimulation^[9] to model the outcomes and associated costs in various hypothetical cohorts. All studies were based on US data with the exception of a single UK study.^[9]

All studies compared endoscopic screening versus no screening. In addition, one study also compared ultra-thin endoscopy versus no screening;^[2] one study compared capsule endoscopy versus no screening;^[5] and one study compared a non-endoscopic cytosponge as the screening test versus no screening.^[9] Seven of the eight studies screened populations with a history of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD), which was defined to varying degrees of precision. Only one study screened an asymptomatic population of 50-year old men and women who were attending for screening colonoscopy.^[8] One study included 50-year old men and women with GORD^[2] and another study 60-year old men and women with GORD.^[6] The other five studies screened 50-year old men with GORD, of which three specified that only white men were included.^{[4][5][7]}



Assumptions about the prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus and dysplasia varied considerably across studies: prevalence estimates for Barrett's Oesophagus ranged from 1-10% but were not necessarily consistent across studies for the same hypothetical population. As discussed elsewhere in this guideline, assumptions about other key model estimates such as transition rates and treatment protocols were not consistent across studies or based on robust data. Similarly there was some variation in assumptions about the utilities of different states and none accounted for the potential psychological harms of screening or disutility of chronic GORD. Only three studies included endoscopic therapies for Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[9][8][3]} Importantly estimates of effectiveness are not based on data from randomised controlled trials.

The table below summarises the key findings from the included studies, reporting only the estimates of the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for the base-case assumptions. All studies report sensitivity analyses for a range of different assumptions for the key model parameters. The prevalence of Barrett's Oesophagus in the screened population is clearly a major driver of cost-effectiveness.

Author	Population screened	Prevalence of BO	Incremental cost- effectiveness ratio
Inadomi 2003 [7]	50-yr white men with GORD	10%	\$10,444 per QALY
Rubenstein 2006 ^[4]	50-yr white men with GORD	10%	\$13,721 per QALY
Rubenstein 2007 ^[5]	50-yr white men with GORD	10%	\$11,254 per QALY
Gerson 2004 [3]	50-yr men with GORD	10%	\$12,140 per QALY
Benaglia 2012 [9]	50-yr men with GORD	8%	\$22,167 per QALY for endoscopy \$15,724 per QALY for cytosponge
Nietert 2003 [2]	50-yr men and women with GORD	3%	\$86,883 per QALY for standard endoscopy \$55,764 per QALY for ultra-thin endoscopy
Soni 2000 ^[6]	60-yr men and women with GORD	10%	\$24,718 per QALY
Gupta 2011 ^[8]	50-yr men and women attending for screening colonoscopy	1%	\$95,559 per QALY

QALY = (Quality Adjusted Life Years)

Back to top



2.1.5.1.1 Conclusion

Despite the limitations of the studies discussed already, there is consistent evidence that the most costeffective strategy is one-off screening of 50-year old men with GORD. This could potentially be refined further to only white men, recognising that this is based on hypothetical populations from the US. The generalisability of this to the Australian population is uncertain. Both the cytosponge and ultra-thin endoscopy may be more costeffective compared to standard endoscopic screening. Screening men and women with GORD at aged 60 would be an alternative screening model which would still be considered cost-effective on current standards, albeit less so than screening only symptomatic men at 50 years. General population screening, even if conducted coincident with colonoscopy screening, is not cost-effective and would also not be consistent with current Australian recommendations for general population screening for colorectal cancer.

Back to top

2.1.5.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

There is no evidence to support general population screening for Barrett's Oesophagus.

Practice point

In the absence of Randomised Controlled Trial evidence of effectiveness, screening for Barrett's Oesophagus would be most cost-effective if limited to 50-year old men with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease.

2.1.5.3 References

- ↑ Barbiere JM, Lyratzopoulos G. Cost-effectiveness of endoscopic screening followed by surveillance for Barrett's esophagus: a review. Gastroenterology 2009 Dec;137(6):1869-76 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19840798.
- ^{2.0}
 ^{2.1}
 ^{2.2}
 ^{2.2}
 ^{2.3}
 Nietert PJ, Silverstein MD, Mokhashi MS, Kim CY, Glenn TF, Marsi VA, et al. *Cost-effectiveness of screening a population with chronic gastroesophageal reflux.* Gastrointest Endosc 2003
 Mar;57(3):311-8
 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12612508.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} ^{3.2} Gerson LB, Groeneveld PW, Triadafilopoulos G. *Cost-effectiveness model of endoscopic screening and surveillance in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004 Oct;2(10):868-79 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15476150.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} Rubenstein JH, Inadomi JM. *Defining a clinically significant adverse impact of diagnosing Barrett's esophagus.* J Clin Gastroenterol 2006 Feb;40(2):109-15 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/16394870.



- 5. ↑ ^{5.0 5.1 5.2 5.3} Rubenstein JH, Inadomi JM, Brill JV, Eisen GM. Cost utility of screening for Barrett's esophagus with esophageal capsule endoscopy versus conventional upper endoscopy. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007 Mar;5(3):312-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17368230.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} Soni A, Sampliner RE, Sonnenberg A. *Screening for high-grade dysplasia in gastroesophageal reflux disease: is it cost-effective?* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Aug;95(8):2086-93 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10950062.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} ^{7.2} Inadomi JM, Sampliner R, Lagergren J, Lieberman D, Fendrick AM, Vakil N. *Screening and surveillance for Barrett esophagus in high-risk groups: a cost-utility analysis.* Ann Intern Med 2003 Feb 4; 138(3):176-86 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12558356.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} ^{8.1} ^{8.2} ^{8.3} Gupta N, Bansal A, Wani SB, Gaddam S, Rastogi A, Sharma P. *Endoscopy for upper Gl cancer screening in the general population: a cost-utility analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2011 Sep;74(3): 610-624.e2 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21741639.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0} ^{9.1} ^{9.2} ^{9.3} ^{9.4} Benaglia T, Sharples LD, Fitzgerald RC, Lyratzopoulos G. *Health Benefits and Cost Effectiveness of Endoscopic and Nonendoscopic Cytosponge Screening for Barrett's Esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2012 Oct 3 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23041329.

Back to top

2.1.5.4 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all comments	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence		search
components				

Back to top

2.1.6 Endoscopic definition

Contents

- 1 What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?
 - 1.1 Introduction
 - 1.2 Intestinal metaplasia at the cardia
 - 1.3 Endoscopic landmarks for a diagnosis of BO
- 2 References

3 Appendices



2.1.6.1 What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?

2.1.6.1.1 Introduction

Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) is a premalignant condition of the oesophagus defined as the presence of metaplastic columnar epithelium,^[1]which endoscopically appears as salmon pink mucosa, extending above the gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ) and into the tubular oesophagus, thereby replacing the stratified squamous epithelium that normally lines the distal oesophagus.^{[1][2]}

The columnar type mucosa can be one of three types: gastric-fundic type, cardiac type and intestinal-type.^[3] It is the intestinal type that has been clearly shown to predispose to cancer development^[4] and therefore most experts agree that an oesophageal biopsy of columnar epithelium above the GOJ showing intestinal type is required to confirm and establish a diagnosis of BO, rather than relying on endoscopy alone. This is discussed in more detail in the section titled What is the histological definition of BO?

Back to top

2.1.6.1.2 Intestinal metaplasia at the cardia

There has been debate in the literature as to whether or not cardiac-type epithelium should be included in the definition of BO. Hence according to the 2011 American Gastroenterological Association (AGA) Technical Review on the Management of Barrett's Oesophagus "'Barrett's esophagus' presently should be used only for patients who have intestinal metaplasia in the esophagus".^[5] This differs from the definition in previous British Society of Gastroenterology^[6] in which BO was defined as "an endoscopically apparent area above the oesophagogastric junction that is suggestive of Barrett's, which is supported by the finding of columnar lined oesophagus on histology."^[6] This was based on the premise that the diagnosis of IM can be limited by sampling error in mucosal biopsies, especially were less than 8 biopsies were taken. More recently the BSG guidelines have been updated,^[7] and although admitting that 'barrett's mucosa' without IM has a lower risk of progression to cancer based on the population-based study from the Northen Ireland register,^[8] they still recommend that "the presence of IM is not a prerequisite for the definition of Barrett's oesophagus", and if cardiac type epithelium were present in two subsequent endoscopies in segments <=3cm, these patients can be discharged from further surveillance.

This issue of length of columnar segment with IM and surveillance is discussed in later chapters on recommended surveillance for patients with BO (see also How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?), however for the purposes of these guidelines, given the population-based study from the Northen Ireland register^[8] showning a significantly lower risk of progression to cancer in those patients without intestinal-type epithelium we advocate utilisation of the AGA definition provided that appropriate sampling of the columnnar segment has been performed.

Back to top



2.1.6.1.3 Endoscopic landmarks for a diagnosis of BO

A reliable endoscopic diagnosis of BO depends on the accurate endoscopic recognition of the anatomic landmarks at the GOJ and squamocolumnar junction (SCJ).^[9] To standardise the objective diagnosis of endoscopic BO, the Prague C & M Criteria were proposed by a subgroup of the International Working Group for the Classification of Oesophagitis (IWGCO).^[10] In this system, the landmark for the GOJ is the proximal end of the gastric folds. Whilst the exact definition of what constitutes the GOJ remains unresolved with no universally accepted definition, the vast majority of published papers on BO have used the proximal extent of the gastric folds, which was first described in 1987 by McClave et.al.,^[11] and indeed the Prague C & M Criteria have been widely adopted. In the original paper, criteria were externally validated by 29 expert endoscopists and the interobserver agreement, for recognising different lengths of BO and the GOJ location position were very good. This has recently been further externally validated by another group where 16 gastroenterology trainees had similary high interobserver agreement^[12] confirming the utility of these criteria by both trainees and experts after adequate training. However recognition of ≤ 1 cm of BO using the Prague C & M Criteria was less reliable, which is the basis for the recommendation of recent BSG guidelines^[7] to "suggest that 1 cm (M of Prague criteria) should be the minimum length for an endoscopic diagnosis of Barrett's (Evidence grade IV)".

In addition, a recent study in Japan has also highlighted the importance of training on Prague criteria. Before adequate training interobserver agreement amongst a group of 25 experienced endoscopists for identification of the GOJ was poor but this improved markedly after training.^[13] It should also be noted that a criticism of the Prague criteria are that they may fail to identify short segment BO, a lesion found frequently in most Asian countries.^[9] Hence, many Japanese authors believe endoscopic BO is better defined as the most distal extent of the palisade vessels.^{[9][14][15]} Given the absence of evidence to advocate the use of one over the other, and the widespread use of Praque C & M Criteria by western endoscopists, we advocate the use of the proximal extent of the gastric folds in defining BO.

The proximal margin of BO in the Prague Criteria are based on measurement of both the circumferential (C) and maximal (M) extent of metaplasia (shown in figures 1 & 2 below).^[10] There is less debate regarding this margin and it is defined as maximum extent of columnar epithelium above the GOJ.^[10]

Back to top

Figure 1. Diagrammatic representation of endoscopic Barrett's Oesophagus showing an area classified as C2M5. C: extent of circumferential metaplasia; M: maximal extent of the metaplasia (C plus a distal "tongue" of 3 cm); GEJ: gastroesophageal junction.

Figure 2. Video still of endoscopic Barrett's Oesophagus showing an area classified as C2M5. C: extent of circumferential metaplasia; M: maximal extent of the metaplasia (C plus a distal "tongue" of 3 cm).



Source: Images used from Publication Gastroenterology, 131(5), Prateek Sharma, John Dent, David Armstrong et. al, The Development and Validation of an Endoscopic Grading System for Barrett's Esophagus: The Prague C & M Criteria, p1395-1396, Copyright (2006), with permission from Elsevier

Practice point

Biopsies assessing for intestinal metaplasia (columnar epithelium with goblet cells) should be performed when any length of salmon pink mucosa is seen extending above the gastro-oesophageal junction into the tubular oesophagus for a confirmed diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.

Practice point

The presence of Barrett's Oesophagus should be described using the Prague C & M Criteria.

Back to top

2.1.6.2 References

- 1. 1.0 1.1 Vakil N, van Zanten SV, Kahrilas P, Dent J, Jones R, Global Consensus Group. *The Montreal definition and classification of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a global evidence-based consensus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Aug;101(8):1900-20; quiz 1943 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16928254.
- 2. ↑ Shaheen NJ, Richter JE. *Barrett's oesophagus.* Lancet 2009 Mar 7;373(9666):850-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19269522.
- 3. ↑ Paull A, Trier JS, Dalton MD, Camp RC, Loeb P, Goyal RK. *The histologic spectrum of Barrett's esophagus.* N Engl J Med 1976 Aug 26;295(9):476-80 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/940579.
- ↑ Shaheen NJ, Crosby MA, Bozymski EM, Sandler RS. *Is there publication bias in the reporting of cancer risk in Barrett's esophagus?* Gastroenterology 2000 Aug;119(2):333-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/10930368.
- ↑ Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21376940.



- 6. 1 ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Watson A, Heading RC, Shepherd NA. *Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's columnar-lined oesophagus.* BSO 2005 [cited 2013 Jan 11] Available from: http://www.bsg.org.uk /pdf_word_docs/Barretts_Oes.pdf. Cite error: Invalid <ref> tag; name "Citation:Watson A, Heading RC, Shepherd NA 2005" defined multiple times with different content
- 7. 1 ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P, et al. *British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2014 Jan;63 (1):7-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24165758.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} ^{8.1} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1 9.2} Ishimura N, Amano Y, Appelman HD, Penagini R, Tenca A, Falk GW, et al. *Barrett's esophagus:* endoscopic diagnosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2011 Sep;1232:53-75 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21950807.
- 10. 10.1 10.2 Sharma P, Dent J, Armstrong D, Bergman JJ, Gossner L, Hoshihara Y, et al. *The development and validation of an endoscopic grading system for Barrett's esophagus: the Prague C & M criteria.* Gastroenterology 2006 Nov;131(5):1392-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /17101315.
- 11. ↑ McClave SA, Boyce HW Jr, Gottfried MR. *Early diagnosis of columnar-lined esophagus: a new endoscopic diagnostic criterion.* Gastrointest Endosc 1987 Dec;33(6):413-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/3443258.
- 12. ↑ Vahabzadeh B, Seetharam AB, Cook MB, Wani S, Rastogi A, Bansal A, et al. *Validation of the Prague C & M criteria for the endoscopic grading of Barrett's esophagus by gastroenterology trainees: a multicenter study.* Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Feb;75(2):236-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22248595.
- 13. ↑ Amano Y, Ishimura N, Furuta K, Takahashi Y, Chinuki D, Mishima Y, et al. *Which landmark results in a more consistent diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus, the gastric folds or the palisade vessels?* Gastrointest Endosc 2006 Aug;64(2):206-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16860070.
- 14. ↑ Choi DW, Oh SN, Baek SJ, Ahn SH, Chang YJ, Jeong WS, et al. *Endoscopically observed lower esophageal capillary patterns.* Korean J Intern Med 2002 Dec;17(4):245-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/12647639.
- 15. ↑ Vianna A, Hayes PC, Moscoso G, Driver M, Portmann B, Westaby D, et al. *Normal venous circulation of the gastroesophageal junction. A route to understanding varices.* Gastroenterology 1987 Oct;93(4):876-89 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3623028.

Back to top

2.1.6.3 Appendices

View
recommendation
components

View pending evidence

View body of evidence

View all comments View literature search



Back to top

2.1.7 Optimal tissue sampling

Contents

1 What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 The current standard for tissue sampling
- 1.3 Technological advancements
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 References
- 4 Appendices

2.1.7.1 What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?

2.1.7.1.1 Introduction

Barrett's Oesophagus can be suspected endoscopically but it is the histological confirmation of specialised intestinal metaplasia (SIM) that supports its diagnosis and confers an increased risk of development of neoplasia. SIM can be patchy within oesophageal columnar-lined mucosa, and may therefore not be consistently sampled with endoscopic biopsies,^[1] underlining the importance of a systematic approach to maximize the yield of biopsies.

Back to top

2.1.7.1.2 The current standard for tissue sampling

Advancements in chromoendoscopy, endoscope digital enhancements and enhanced-magnification have not been shown to be significantly superior to the currently accepted practice of random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals. ^{[2][3][4]} The diagnostic yield for SIM may be higher with increasing number of biopsies obtained.^[5] If there is concurrent erosive oesophagitis, acid suppressive therapy should be optimised before repeating the endoscopy with further biopsies in two to three months.



Prior to biopsy acquisition, adequate time must be devoted to careful endoscopic inspection using highresolution white light endoscopy (HR-WLE) for any focal abnormality such as ulcerated or nodular lesions which should be specifically biopsied and labelled prior to random biopsies from the rest of the mucosa as minor biopsy-related bleeding is common and may impair endoscopic views. Spraying dilute adrenaline may improve visibility and efficiency during random biopsies of long-segment Barrett's^[6] but this is not routinely practised.

To maximise the size of tissue fragment biopsied, the open jaw of the biopsy forceps at the tip of the endoscope should be directed perpendicular to the targeted mucosal surface using endoscope angulation and torque, before applying endoscope suctioning and closing the forceps jaw. Jumbo biopsy forceps (jaw outer diameter 2.8 mm) are often utilised but this has not been shown to be superior to large capacity (jaw outer diameter 2.4mm) and standard capacity (jaw outer diameter 2.2mm) forceps in obtaining adequate biopsy samples.^[7]

Back to top

2.1.7.1.3 Technological advancements

Technological advancements in chromoendoscopy (methylene-blue, indigo carmine, and acetic acid), digital enhancements (Narrow-Band Imaging, i-SCAN, Fujinon Intelligent Chromo Endoscopy) and enhancedmagnification can complement rather than replace the current practice described above for diagnosing SIM. Whilst promising, these techniques may not be superior to existing practice and may be impractical, timeconsuming and costly. Ongoing studies will define their role in routine clinical practice.

Office-based unsedated transnasal endoscopy using paediatric biopsy forceps (jaw outer diameter 1.8mm) is well-tolerated and may emerge as a cost-effective screening option for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.^[8] [9][10]

Back to top

2.1.7.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
SIM can be patchy within oesophageal columnar-lined mucosa and may not be consistently sampled with endoscopic biopsies.	IV	[1]
Advancements in chromoendoscopy, endoscope digital enhancements and enhanced-magnification have not been shown to be significantly superior to the currently accepted practice of random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals.	I, II, IV	[2],[3],[4]
The diagnostic yield for SIM may be higher with increasing number of biopsies obtained.	IV	[5]
Jumbo biopsy forceps has not been shown to be superior to large capacity and standard capacity forceps in obtaining adequate biopsy samples	II	[7]



Evidence summary	Level	References
Office-based unsedated transnasal endoscopy using paediatric biopsy forceps is well- tolerated and may emerge as a cost-effective strategy.	II	[8] _, [9] _, [10]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
The current practice of random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals remains the mainstay for tissue sampling until stronger evidence emerges for various advancements in endoscope technology and chromoendoscopy.	В

Practice point

Focal abnormalities such as ulcerated or nodular lesions can be specifically targeted with biopsies and labelled prior to random biopsies from the rest of the mucosa as minor biopsy-related bleeding is common and may impair endoscopic views.

Practice point

Technological advancements in chromoendoscopy, digital enhancements and enhanced-magnification can currently complement rather than replace random four-quadrant biopsies at 2cm intervals. Biopsies obtained every 2cm to be placed into separate jars which are labelled according to the distance from the incisors, while biopsies from the gastro-oesophageal junction and cardia can also be specifically labelled as such.

Back to top

2.1.7.3 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Endlicher E, Rümmele P, Beer S, Knüchel R, Rath H, Schlottmann K, et al. *Barrett's esophagus: a discrepancy between macroscopic and histological diagnosis.* Endoscopy 2005 Nov;37(11):1131-5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16281145.
- 1^{2.0}^{2.1} Ngamruengphong S, Sharma VK, Das A. *Diagnostic yield of methylene blue chromoendoscopy for detecting specialized intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2009 May;69(6):1021-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19215918.



- 3. ↑ ^{3.0 3.1} Admad N Z, Ahmed A. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing methylene bluedirected biopsies with random biopsies in the surveillance of Barrett's esophagus. Esophagus 2010 [cited 2012 Dec 19];7:4 (207-213) Available from: http://www.embase.com.ezproxy2.library.usyd.edu.au/search /results?subaction=viewrecord&id=L361449159&from=savedclipboard&L361449159.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} Ferguson DD, DeVault KR, Krishna M, Loeb DS, Wolfsen HC, Wallace MB. *Enhanced magnification*directed biopsies do not increase the detection of intestinal metaplasia in patients with GERD. Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Jul;101(7):1611-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16863568.
- ↑ Pohl J, Nguyen-Tat M, Manner H, Pech O, van Weyenberg SJ, Ell C. "Dry biopsies" with spraying of dilute epinephrine optimize biopsy mapping of long segment Barrett's esophagus. Endoscopy 2008 Nov;40(11): 883-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18833509.
- 7. 1 ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Gonzalez S, Yu WM, Smith MS, Slack KN, Rotterdam H, Abrams JA, et al. *Randomized comparison of 3 different-sized biopsy forceps for quality of sampling in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2010 Nov;72(5):935-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21034895.
- 8. 1 ^{8.0} ^{8.1} Garcia RT, Cello JP, Nguyen MH, Rogers SJ, Rodas A, Trinh HN, et al. Unsedated ultrathin EGD is well accepted when compared with conventional sedated EGD: a multicenter randomized trial. Gastroenterology 2003 Dec;125(6):1606-12 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /14724812.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Jobe BA, Hunter JG, Chang EY, Kim CY, Eisen GM, Robinson JD, et al. *Office-based unsedated small-caliber endoscopy is equivalent to conventional sedated endoscopy in screening and surveillance for Barrett's esophagus: a randomized and blinded comparison.* Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Dec;101(12): 2693-703 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17227516.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} Shariff MK, Bird-Lieberman EL, O'Donovan M, Abdullahi Z, Liu X, Blazeby J, et al. *Randomized crossover study comparing efficacy of transnasal endoscopy with that of standard endoscopy to detect Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2012 May;75(5):954-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/22421496.

Back to top

2.1.7.4 Appendices

View pending View evidence recommendation components	View body of evidence	View all comments	View literature search
---	--------------------------	-------------------	---------------------------

Back to top



2.1.8 Histological definition

Contents
1 What is the histological definition of BO?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Requirement for intestinal metaplasia
1.3 Intestinal metaplasia at the gastro-oesophageal junction or in the gastric cardia
1.4 Definitions applied by other Organisations
2 Evidence summary and recommendations
3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
4 References
5 Appendices

2.1.8.1 What is the histological definition of BO?

2.1.8.1.1 Introduction

The features that should define Barrett's Oesophagus are not completely understood and this is reflected in the differing definitions given in guidelines from Europe and the USA.^{[1][2][3][4]} It is generally agreed that Barrett's Oesophagus is characterised by metaplastic columnar mucosa replacing normal oesophageal squamous mucosa, but at this time clinical studies are contradictory about whether histologically-proven intestinal metaplasia (IM) with morphologically typical goblet cells should be necessary for its diagnosis. Further studies are needed to clarify the exact definition to optimise patient screening and follow-up.

Back to top

2.1.8.1.2 Requirement for intestinal metaplasia

It is the aim of guidelines to ensure that screening is directed to those with a significantly increased cancer risk. Because Barrett's Oesophagus is a precursor to oesophageal adenocarcinoma, a disease that is increasing in incidence, patients with this change are currently recommended to enter surveillance programmes in most clinical guidelines.

It is clear that metaplastic columnar mucosa, usually cardiac or cardio-oxyntic type, may occur in the oesophagus without IM being detected. This often reflects sampling, since longer Barrett's segments^[5] or larger numbers of biopsies^[6] are associated with increased detection of IM, as is a longer duration of follow-up with rebiopsy.^[7] It is also apparent from several studies that oesophageal adenocarcinoma may arise in a segment of metaplastic columnar mucosa without IM.^{[7][8][9]}



Since many studies of cancer risk in Barrett's Oesophagus were restricted to patients whose diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus required the histological identification of IM, further studies will be required to determine the relative risks of intestinalised and non-intestinalised columnar metaplasia as precursors to oesophageal adenocarcinoma. At this time the data are conflicting. One multicentre study of 1751 patients with a median follow up of 3.5 years found a similar carcinoma incidence whether IM was present or not (3.2% and 3.1% respectively).^[7] Conversely, interrogating the Northern Ireland Barrett's Oesophagus Register of 8522 patients with a mean seven years follow-up, a study from Bhat and colleagues found that the presence of IM in the index biopsy was associated with a greater than five-fold increased risk of adenocarcinoma and combined high grade dysplasia/adenocarcinoma compared with those who did not have IM.^[8] This suggests that the presence of IM identifies a cohort at significantly increased cancer risk. A smaller multicentre study of 209 patients with oesophageal columnar mucosa under surveillance for a mean of greater than nine years also found a low malignant risk if IM was not detected.^[10] Therefore, based on current knowledge there is insufficient evidence to recommend surveillance of patients who have only metaplastic cardiac-type columnar mucosa in the oesophagus.

In routine practice, intestinal metaplasia is diagnosed by the presence of goblet cells. These cells are distended by acidic mucin, which can usually be detected in routine haematoxylin-eosin stained sections and also stains intensely with the alcian blue stain (see figures below). Columnar cells with weaker positive staining and which do not have the characteristic flask shape of goblet cells are not sufficient to diagnose IM.

Biopsies from the tubular oesophagus that have columnar mucosa without IM should be given a descriptive diagnosis (e.g. glandular mucosa without intestinal metaplasia), but it is currently recommended that these are not specifically diagnosed as Barrett's Oesophagus until the biological significance is clarified.

Figure 1. Normal oesophageal squamous mucosa

Figure 2. Intestinal metaplasia with goblet cells highlighted by alcian blue staining

Back to top

2.1.8.1.3 Intestinal metaplasia at the gastro-oesophageal junction or in the gastric cardia

Intestinal metaplasia occurring in isolation at the gastro-oesophageal junction or cardia without metaplasia in the tubular oesophagus is not diagnosed as Barrett's Oesophagus. It may be a precursor to carcinoma, but the risk appears to be low and surveillance is not warranted based on current knowledge.^{[11][12]} However goblet cells noted in a GOJ biopsy can be confirmed to be IM in columnar lined oesophagus if the particular biopsy fragment shows native oesophageal structures such as submucosal glands and/or ducts.

Back to top

2.1.8.1.4 Definitions applied by other Organisations

American Gastroenterological Association^[2]



The definition of Barrett's esophagus is the condition in which any extent of metaplastic columnar epithelium that predisposes to cancer development replaces the stratified squamous epithelium that normally lines the distal esophagus. Presently, intestinal metaplasia is required for the diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus because intestinal metaplasia is the only type of esophageal columnar epithelium that clearly predisposes to malignancy.

American College of Gastroenterologists^[4]

Barrett's esophagus is a change in the distal esophageal epithelium of any length that can be recognized as columnar type mucosa at endoscopy and is confirmed to have intestinal metaplasia by biopsy of the tubular esophagus. (Grade B recommendation).

British Society of Gastroenterology^[1]

Barrett's oesophagus is defined as an oesophagus in which any portion of the normal distal squamous epithelial lining has been replaced by metaplastic columnar epithelium, which is clearly visible endoscopically (\geq 1 cm) above the GOJ and confirmed histopathologically from oesophageal biopsies (Recommendation grade C).

Back to top

2.1.8.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

Definition of Barrett's Oesophagus

To identify patients at increased risk of neoplastic progression, Barrett's Oesophagus is defined as metaplastic columnar mucosa in the oesophagus, with intestinal metaplasia proven histologically.

Back to top

2.1.8.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Further studies are needed to clarify the exact definition of Barrett's Oesophagus to optimise patient screening and follow-up.
- Further studies will be required to determine the relative risks of intestinalised and non-intestinalised columnar metaplasia as precursors to oesophageal adenocarcinoma.
- The biological significance of intestinal metaplasia confined to the gastro-oesophageal junction needs to be clarified.

Back to top



2.1.8.4 References

- 1. ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P, et al. *British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2014 Jan;63 (1):7-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24165758.
- ^{2.0}
 ^{2.1} Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/21376940.
- ↑ Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association technical review on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):e18-52; quiz e13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21376939.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1} Wang KK, Sampliner RE, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. *Updated guidelines 2008 for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Mar;103(3):788-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/18341497.
- 5. ↑ Csendes A. *Barrett's esophagus.* J Am Coll Surg 2003 Nov;197(5):882-3 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14585434.
- ↑ Harrison R, Perry I, Haddadin W, McDonald S, Bryan R, Abrams K, et al. *Detection of intestinal metaplasia in Barrett's esophagus: an observational comparator study suggests the need for a minimum of eight biopsies.* Am J Gastroenterol 2007 Jun;102(6):1154-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/17433019.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} ^{7.2} Gatenby PA, Ramus JR, Caygill CP, Shepherd NA, Watson A. *Relevance of the detection of intestinal metaplasia in non-dysplastic columnar-lined oesophagus.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2008;43(5):524-30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18415743.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} ^{8.1} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- 9. ↑ Takubo K, Aida J, Naomoto Y, Sawabe M, Arai T, Shiraishi H, et al. *Cardiac rather than intestinal-type background in endoscopic resection specimens of minute Barrett adenocarcinoma.* Hum Pathol 2009 Jan; 40(1):65-74 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18755496.
- 10. ↑ Becker V, Bobardt J, Ott R, Rösch T, Meining A. *Long-term follow-up in patients with indeterminate Barrett esophagus.* Digestion 2013;88(3):161-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /24080585.
- 11. ↑ Jung KW, Talley NJ, Romero Y, Katzka DA, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, et al. *Epidemiology and natural history of intestinal metaplasia of the gastroesophageal junction and Barrett's esophagus: a population-based study.* Am J Gastroenterol 2011 Aug;106(8):1447-55; quiz 1456 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/21483461.
- 12. ↑ Sharma P, Weston AP, Morales T, Topalovski M, Mayo MS, Sampliner RE. *Relative risk of dysplasia for patients with intestinal metaplasia in the distal oesophagus and in the gastric cardia.* Gut 2000 Jan;46(1): 9-13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10601047.



Back to top

2.1.8.5 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation		evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.9 Medical or surgical inverventions to regress BO

Contents		
1 Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?		
1.1 Introduction		
1.2 Medical therapies		
1.3 Surgical therapies		
2 Evidence summary and recommendations		
3 References		
4 Appendices		

2.1.9.1 Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?

2.1.9.1.1 Introduction

Regression of Barrett's Oesophagus is defined by a reduction in the length or area of metaplastic columnar epithelium. The significance of partial or complete regression in Barrett's Oesophagus is unclear. There are insufficient data to indicate that regression of the Barrett's segment leads to a reduced incidence of adenocarcinoma. Available evidence is limited by a lack of randomised trials, variations in the definition of Barrett's regression and differences in the method and duration of intervention. The degree of Barrett's regression appears to be largest amongst case series of patients undergoing anti-reflux surgery although a randomised trial comparing surgical and medical therapy found the differences to be insignificant.

Back to top



2.1.9.1.2 Medical therapies

Combined analysis of randomised trials has not demonstrated a regression of Barrett's Oesophagus with medical therapy.^[1] Several studies including a case series of 188 patients treated with a proton-pump inhibitor over a mean follow-up of 5.1 years have reported an increase in the development of squamous islands within the Barrett's segment although the significance of this finding is uncertain.^[2]

Back to top

2.1.9.1.3 Surgical therapies

Although medical therapies reduce oesophageal acid exposure, gastro-oesophageal reflux of bile and other noxious agents may continue to occur. Anti-reflux surgery has therefore been proposed as a more effective treatment than medical therapy. Studies are largely in the form of case series and different surgical approaches have been described, reporting the incidence of regression at between 0-73%. Only one trial has compared surgery (Nissen fundoplication) with medical therapy in a randomised fashion.^[3] The surgically treated group had a small but statistically significant reduction in the median length of the Barrett's segment at a median follow-up of five years (5cm versus 4cm) and the medical group had a significant increase in the median length (4cm versus 5cm) although no difference in the rate of progression to high grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma was found between the two groups.

Back to top

2.1.9.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
There are no medical therapies that result in clinically significant regression of Barrett's Oesophagus.	1	[1]
Anti-reflux surgery may induce regression of Barrett's Oesophagus although this is not associated with a decreased risk of high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma.	11	[3]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
There is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of acid suppressive therapy for the regression of Barrett's Oesophagus.	В

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to routinely recommend anti-reflux surgery for the regression of Barrett's Oesophagus.	С



Practice point

Acid suppressive therapy and anti-reflux surgery can be used to control symptoms and heal reflux oesophagitis in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. There is insufficient evidence to recommend high dose (twice daily) acid suppressive therapy when symptom control or mucosal healing is achieved with standard dosing.

Back to top

2.1.9.3 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Rees JR, Lao-Sirieix P, Wong A, Fitzgerald RC. *Treatment for Barrett's oesophagus.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Jan 20;(1):CD004060 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /20091557.
- ↑ Cooper BT, Chapman W, Neumann CS, Gearty JC. Continuous treatment of Barrett's oesophagus patients with proton pump inhibitors up to 13 years: observations on regression and cancer incidence. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006 Mar 15;23(6):727-33 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16556174.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} Parrilla P, Martínez de Haro LF, Ortiz A, Munitiz V, Molina J, Bermejo J, et al. *Long-term results of a randomized prospective study comparing medical and surgical treatment of Barrett's esophagus.* Ann Surg 2003 Mar;237(3):291-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12616111.

Back to top

2.1.9.4 Appendices

View
recommendation
components

View pending evidence

View body of evidence

View all comments View literature search

Back to top

2.1.10 Treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer



Contents	
1 Are there any treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer?	
1.1 Introduction	
1.2 Treatment of reflux	
1.3 Ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus	
1.3.1 Photodynamic therapy	
1.3.2 Argon Plasma Coagulation (APC)	
1.3.3 Radiofrequency ablation	
1.4 Chemoprevention	
1.5 Emerging evidence	
1.6 Summary	
2 Evidence summary and recommendations	
3 Issues requiring more clinical research study	
4 References	
5 Appendices	

2.1.10.1 Are there any treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer?

2.1.10.1.1 Introduction

Barrett's Oesophagus arises in individuals with moderate to severe gastro-oesophageal reflux. Treatment of reflux has been recommended to prevent progression to cancer, as have various endoscopic ablation therapies, and the use of COX inhibition. Whilst there is an extensive literature that addresses this issue, only a few randomised trials have evaluated ablation treatments, and no high level evidence is available which addresses the role of anti-reflux treatment or chemoprevention.

2.1.10.1.2 Treatment of reflux

Proponents of medical and surgical therapies for the treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux have at various times recommended the use of proton pump inhibitor medication or antireflux surgery to prevent cancer developing in Barrett's Oesophagus. Unfortunately there is no high level evidence or randomised trials which support this contention. Whilst clinicians who treat individuals with gastro-oesophageal reflux would like to believe that their treatments make a difference to cancer prevention, evidence supporting this is lacking, and for now decisions to use medication or surgery to treat reflux in individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus should be based on the need to manage reflux symptoms, rather than cancer risk.^[1]

Back to top



2.1.10.1.3 Ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus

Various endoscopic techniques have been investigated for eradicating Barrett's Oesophagus epithelium with or without dysplasia (see also What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?, What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?, What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?). Focal ablation techniques (argon plasma coagulation (APC), multipolar electrocoagulation, laser heater probe, and endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR)) and field ablation techniques (photodynamic therapy (PDT) and radiofrequency ablation (RFA)) have been all been described. What is clear from the literature pertinent to this area is that in patients undergoing treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux by either medical or surgical therapy, the destruction of Barrett's Oesophagus epithelium, irrespective of the method used, is followed in most individuals by regeneration with a squamous mucosa. However, ablation is often followed by areas of persistent Barrett's Oesophagus mucosa in the form of Barrett's islands. Further, recurrence of the Barrett's Oesophagus mucosa occurs in some individuals, and ablation also fails in some individuals. The rationale behind ablation is that it is hoped that the post-ablation squamous mucosa (neosquamous mucosa) has a reduced cancer risk, or even that the risk of cancer is eliminated. The evidence supporting this is limited. The potential for malignancy to arise in islands of retained columnar mucosa or in buried areas of columnar mucosa lying underneath neosquamous mucosa is uncertain, as is the potential for cancer to arise from within the neosquamous mucosa. There has been a case report of cancer arising in neosquamous mucosa,^[2] and there have been reports of HGD and oesophageal adenocarcinoma developing following an endoscopically assessed 100% complete eradication response to ablation.^{[3][4]}

Much of the evidence addressing outcomes following ablation therapy is limited to low quality studies - e.g. uncontrolled case series. However, four randomised controlled trials have compared ablation using PDT, APC or RFA to ongoing endoscopic surveillance.^{[5][6][7]}

Back to top

2.1.10.1.3.1 Photodynamic therapy

PDT entails administering a photosensitising drug which sensitises the Barrett's Oesophagus mucosa to specific wavelengths of light. Light of the appropriate wavelength is then delivered via an endoscope to activate the photosensitiser, and this "burns" the Barrett's Oesophagus mucosa. Circumferential ablation over a 3-7cm segment length can be achieved. PDT is associated with morbidity including chest pain and odynophagia, photosensitivity, and up to one third of treated patients develop an oesophageal stricture.^[8] In countries with strong sunlight such as Australia, this treatment is not practical, and hence it is not available.

In 2005 Overholt et al reported a randomised trial of PDT ablation versus surveillance in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and high grade dysplasia (HGD).^[9] The trial recruited 208 patients and randomised them 2:1 to PDT versus surveillance. All patients used omeprazole 20mg twice daily for reflux control. The results showed less progression to cancer at five years following PDT (15.2% versus 28.6%), with the risk of cancer halved. Follow-up in the study was incomplete, and one third of the PDT group also developed an oesophageal stricture which required dilatation. However, this trial did show that the risk of malignancy in Barrett's Oesophagus with HGD can be reduced by endoscopic ablation, although the risk was not eliminated.



Back to top

2.1.10.1.3.2 Argon Plasma Coagulation (APC)

Argon Plasma Coagulation (APC) ablation is widely available and relatively inexpensive. It uses monopolar electrocautery, via an argon gas stream to carry electrical charge to the closest mucosal surface. This achieves ablation without direct contact. Recently, APC has fallen out of favour as an ablation technique, and it is being replaced by RFA in many parts of the world.

The only randomised trial evaluating APC versus surveillance was conducted in Adelaide. One hundred and twenty six (126) patients with non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus or low grade dysplasia (LGD) were enrolled into two randomised controlled trials of APC ablation versus endoscopy surveillance.^{[5][6][10]} One trial enrolled patients in whom reflux was controlled by proton pump inhibitor therapy,^[5] and in the other patients had undergone effective anti-reflux surgery to control reflux.^[10] In both studies 95-100% macroscopic (endoscopic) ablation was achieved after two to six treatment sessions. In patients who underwent ablation after fundoplication, a stable neosquamous epithelium was confirmed five or more years after ablation. However, only one patient progressed to high grade dysplasia (HGD) across the follow-up period, and this study failed to demonstrate any role for APC ablation in preventing cancer progression in patients with non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus.^[6]

Back to top

2.1.10.1.3.3 Radiofrequency ablation

RFA employs a bipolar array to create an electrical field, which is mounted on either a circumferential balloonbased catheter or an endoscope-mounted device. Ablation is achieved relatively uniformly to a depth of 0.5 to 1 mm. Reported results are generally good, but follow-up in most studies remains short.

Shaheen et al reported a multicentre randomised trial of RFA ablation versus surveillance in 127 patients with dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[4][11]} Approximately half had HGD, and the remainder has low grade dysplasia (LGD) at enrolment. When assessed 12 months after commencing treatment, complete regression was achieved in 77% following RFA versus 0% in controls, and complete remission of HGD was achieved in 80% of the treated group.^[11] RFA ablation was associated with a decreased rate of progression to cancer in the first 12 months, although the number of cancers was small; 1/84 versus 4/43, p=0.04. Three year follow-up was reported two years later. 25% of patients who initially had dysplasia and had complete eradication of intestinal metaplasia developed recurrent Barrett's Oesophagus.^[4] They also reported progression to HGD or Cancer in 4.2% of the ablation group (1.37% per patient per year), and hence concluded that the RFA treated population remains at a significant risk, requiring ongoing endoscopy surveillance.

Phoa et al recently reported a randomised trial of RFA versus endoscopic surveillance in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and low grade dysplasia.^[7] In this study 68 patients underwent RFA ablation versus 68 controls. At 3 years follow-up, progression to high grade dysplasia or cancer was reduced from 18/68 (26.5%) in the control group to 1/68 (1.5%) in the RFA ablation group, offset by a higher complication rate (19.1%) in the RFA group. However, the effect on progression to cancer was less - 6/68 (8.8%) in the control group versus 1/68 (1.5%)



following RFA ablation, and cancer progression was not completely prevented following RFA. Of note, the definition of low grade dysplasia in this trial was stringent, and excluded a significant proportion of patients who would currently be diagnosed with low grade dysplasia in Australia. The definition of low grade dysplasia used probably better matches the definition used for high grade dysplasia elsewhere, and for this reason the trial results better reflect RFA treatment for high grade dysplasia in the Shaheen trial,^{[11][4]} and lend support to ablation for high grade dysplasia, but not low grade dysplasia as currently defined and diagnosed in Australian practice. As with the Shaheen trial, the RFA treated group still remains at risk of cancer progression and require ongoing endoscopy surveillance. Currently Medicare funding for RFA in Australia is only available for patients diagnosed with high grade dysplasia.

Back to top

2.1.10.1.4 Chemoprevention

Researchers have speculated that COX or COX-2 inhibition might prevent the progression of Barrett's Oesophagus to cancer, but high quality evidence to support the use of aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors to prevent cancer development remains lacking. Heath et al^[12] reported a randomised controlled trial which enrolled 222 patients with Barrett's Oesophagus to 48 weeks treatment with 200mg per day Celocoxib versus placebo. One hundred patients had dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus (either LGD or HGD). No differences were seen for the treated versus control group for the outcomes of dysplasia development, regression of dysplasia, surface area of Barrett's Oesophagus, or biomarker expression. From these data the authors concluded that the COX-2 inhibitor Celocoxib was ineffective as a preventer of cancer progression in Barrett's Oesophagus.

In a short term outcome study which included 114 patients, Falk et al^[13] evaluated the impact of the proton pump inhibitor esomeprazole with or without aspirin and showed reduced tissue concentrations of prostaglandin E2 in Barrett's Oesophagus mucosa. From this they concluded that high dose aspirin and esomeprazole as a cancer prevention strategy should be evaluated further. However, whilst showing some interesting laboratory results, the study did not actually address the issue of cancer prevention in a clinically relevant context.

A recent health economic modeling study from Hur et al,^[14] claimed that daily aspirin is likely to be cost effective as a chemoprevention agent for preventing cancer progression in Barrett's Oesophagus. However, the major assumption underlying this study and its conclusions was that aspirin will reduce cancer progression by 50%, but if this cannot be achieved then the model's outcomes might be very different.

Back to top

2.1.10.1.5 Emerging evidence

A large randomised controlled trial is being conducted to evaluate the efficacy of aspirin as a cancer preventer in individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus which has not progressed to HGD,^[15] and this study appears powered to give a definitive answer about whether or not aspirin should be recommended for prevention of cancer. This



is a four arm trial which is using a 2x2 design, randomising patients to 20mg versus 80 mg per day esomeprazole, and 300mg aspirin versus no aspirin. The study has enrolled 2513 individuals, but follow-up will not complete until 2019. Hence, at present, there remains no high quality evidence to support the use of COX inhibitors as preventers of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus, and a positive outcome from the large randomised trial is needed before an aspirin based prevention strategy should be recommended to individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus in the wider community.

Back to top

2.1.10.1.6 Summary

There is currently only limited evidence supporting strategies which aim to prevent the development of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's Oesophagus. The choice of antireflux therapy - proton pump inhibitors versus antireflux surgery - has not been shown to influence progression to cancer, although few would argue against aiming for reflux symptom control in individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus. Interest has been shown in using COX inhibitors, but unless the outcome of the large aspirin chemoprevention trial, when available in 2019, shows benefit, there will be no high level evidence to support the wider use of aspirin in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. Ablation therapies have shown benefit in randomised trials, but only in individuals who have already developed dysplasia. In these individuals, the risk of cancer progression appears to be reduced by approximately 50% by both PDT and RFA ablation techniques, but cancer risk is not eliminated. The only randomised trial^[6] to evaluate ablation (APC) in non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus, failed to show benefit for ablation in this group, and for this reason ablation should remain limited to individuals with HGD, who are at imminent and high risk of developing oesophageal adenocarcinoma.

Back to top

2.1.10.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus with radiofrequency ablation or photodynamic therapy in individuals who have already developed high grade dysplasia, reduces, the risk of progression to oesophageal cancer by approximately 50%, although cancer progression is not eliminated.	II	[4] _, [8] _, [9] _, [11] _, [7]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus should remain limited to individuals with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus who are at imminent risk of developing oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	В



Practice point

The treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux with either proton pump inhibitors or antireflux surgery has not been shown to influence progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma.

Practice point

There is currently no good evidence supporting the use of COX inhibitors for prevention of oesophageal adenocarcinoma.

Back to top

2.1.10.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Long term outcome studies for cohorts of patients undergoing endoscopic ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus are required.
- Long term outcome studies for randomised trials evaluating endoscopic ablation of Barrett's Oesophagus are required.

Back to top

2.1.10.4 References

- 1. ↑ Phillips WA, Lord RV, Nancarrow DJ, Watson DI, Whiteman DC. *Barrett's esophagus.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011 Apr;26(4):639-48 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21166712.
- ↑ Dua KS, Merrill JT, Komorowski R. *Neosquamous epithelium after Barrett's ablation: cause for concern?* Gastrointest Endosc 2011 Dec;74(6):1424-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21429488.
- ↑ Prasad GA, Wang KK, Halling KC, Buttar NS, Wongkeesong LM, Zinsmeister AR, et al. *Correlation of histology with biomarker status after photodynamic therapy in Barrett esophagus.* Cancer 2008 Aug 1;113 (3):470-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18553366.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} ^{4.3} ^{4.4} Shaheen NJ, Overholt BF, Sampliner RE, Wolfsen HC, Wang KK, Fleischer DE, et al. *Durability of radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* Gastroenterology 2011 Aug; 141(2):460-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21679712.


- 5. ↑ ^{5.0} ^{5.1} ^{5.2} Bright T, Watson DI, Tam W, Game PA, Ackroyd R, Devitt PG, et al. *Prospective randomized trial of argon plasma coagulation ablation versus endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus in patients treated with antisecretory medication.* Dig Dis Sci 2009 Dec;54(12):2606-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19101798.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} ^{6.3} Sie C, Bright T, Schoeman M, Game P, Tam W, Devitt P, et al. Argon plasma coagulation ablation versus endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus: late outcomes from two randomized trials. Endoscopy 2013 Sep 9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24019134.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} ^{7.2} Phoa KN, van Vilsteren FG, Weusten BL, Bisschops R, Schoon EJ, Ragunath K, et al. *Radiofrequency ablation vs endoscopic surveillance for patients with Barrett esophagus and low-grade dysplasia: a randomized clinical trial.* JAMA 2014 Mar 26;311(12):1209-17 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24668102.
- 1^{8.0}^{8.1} Overholt BF, Wang KK, Burdick JS, Lightdale CJ, Kimmey M, Nava HR, et al. *Five-year efficacy and safety of photodynamic therapy with Photofrin in Barrett's high-grade dysplasia.* Gastrointest Endosc 2007 Sep;66(3):460-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17643436.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Overholt BF, Lightdale CJ, Wang KK, Canto MI, Burdick S, Haggitt RC, et al. *Photodynamic therapy with porfimer sodium for ablation of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: international, partially blinded, randomized phase III trial.* Gastrointest Endosc 2005 Oct;62(4):488-98 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16185958.
- ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} Bright T, Watson DI, Tam W, Game PA, Astill D, Ackroyd R, et al. *Randomized trial of argon plasma coagulation versus endoscopic surveillance for barrett esophagus after antireflux surgery: late results.* Ann Surg 2007 Dec;246(6):1016-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18043104.
- ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} ^{11.2} ^{11.3} Shaheen NJ, Sharma P, Overholt BF, Wolfsen HC, Sampliner RE, Wang KK, et al. *Radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* N Engl J Med 2009 May 28;360(22):2277-88 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19474425.
- 12. ↑ Heath EI, Canto MI, Piantadosi S, Montgomery E, Weinstein WM, Herman JG, et al. *Secondary chemoprevention of Barrett's esophagus with celecoxib: results of a randomized trial.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2007 Apr 4;99(7):545-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17405999.
- ↑ Falk GW, Buttar NS, Foster NR, Ziegler KL, Demars CJ, Romero Y, et al. A combination of esomeprazole and aspirin reduces tissue concentrations of prostaglandin E(2) in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2012 Oct;143(4):917-26.e1 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22796132.
- 14. ↑ Hur C, Nishioka NS, Gazelle GS. *Cost-effectiveness of aspirin chemoprevention for Barrett's esophagus.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2004 Feb 18;96(4):316-25 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /14970280.
- 15. ↑ Jankowsk J. *A Phase III, Randomized, Study of Aspirin and Esomeprazole Chemoprevention in Barrett's Metaplasia (AspECT).* ClinicalTrials.gov 2005 Mar;NCT00357682 Available from: http://clinicaltrials.gov /show/NCT00357682.



2.1.10.5 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.11 Medical systemic therapy for symptoms of BO

Contents

1 What is appropriate medical systemic therapy for symptoms associated with BO?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Asymptomatic Barrett's Oesophagus
1.3 H2 Receptor Antagonist therapy
1.4 Proton Pump Inhibitor Therapy
1.5 Prokinetic Therapy
2 Evidence summary and recommendations
3 References
4 Appendices

2.1.11.1 What is appropriate medical systemic therapy for symptoms associated with BO?

2.1.11.1.1 Introduction

Medical systemic therapy for patients with Barrett's Oesophagus aims to control symptoms and reduce the risk of complications, including those related to peptic damage and (potentially) progression to adenocarcinoma. Uncomplicated Barrett's Oesophagus itself is not a cause of symptoms, indeed patients with Barrett's Oesophagus may have reduced sensitivity to oesophageal acidification, rather these are due to the effects of gastrooesophageal reflux on the squamous mucosa above the Barrett's Oesophagus and to regurgitation of refluxate.^[1] As a group, patients with Barrett's Oesophagus have greater acid exposure than patients with less



endoscopically severe reflux disease.^{[2][3]} The general principles of medical systemic therapy for symptoms are essentially identical to treatment of the more severe forms of reflux oesophagitis without evidence of Barrett's Oesophagus. The quality of evidence in the assessment of the control of symptoms specifically in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus is poor, with few comparative randomised trials. Most information is derived from observational studies and medical treatment arms of comparative studies with surgical therapy or studies into other aspects of therapy (eg regression of metaplasia or control of intraoesophageal pH).

Back to top

2.1.11.1.2 Asymptomatic Barrett's Oesophagus

A subpopulation of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus have minimal or no typical reflux symptoms, but may still be at risk of complications. The value of medical systemic treatment in currently asymptomatic patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and no macroscopic evidence of peptic oesophagitis diagnosed incidentally has not been examined. Patients with evidence of peptic oesophagitis should be treated to prevent the development of stricture.

Back to top

2.1.11.1.3 H2 Receptor Antagonist therapy

In the pre Proton Pump Inhibitor Therapy (PPI) era the use of cimetidine and ranitidine (+ antacid/other antisecretory agents) was shown to be effective in treating symptoms due to reflux in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus.^{[4][5][6]} These studies were small and selection of patients was not described. Up to 43% of patients may require higher doses than standard therapy to control symptoms,^[7] but on an escalating dose regimen most patients' symptoms can be controlled.^[8]

Back to top

2.1.11.1.4 Proton Pump Inhibitor Therapy

Largely observational studies (sometimes the medical arm of a randomised study) show that most patients can be adequately controlled from a symptomatic point of view on PPI therapy, ^{[6][9][10][11][12][13][14][15]} although in a significant proportion treatment with higher doses of PPI is required.^{[16][17][18]} Control of symptoms does not, however, equate to control of oesophageal acidification.^{[19][20][21]}

Patients who achieve control of symptoms have a durable response over a period of years.^{[13][22][23][24]}

Comparison of PPIs has not shown any PPI to be consistently superior to another in the control of symptoms in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus.^[25]

In patients with symptoms controlled on Ranitidine, changing to omeprazole did not result in better control.^[26] Comparison of PPI to H2RA in a single trial showed that PPIs were superior in controlling symptoms.^[6]



2.1.11.1.5 Prokinetic Therapy

No studies have been performed to demonstrate that either prokinetic therapy alone, or its addition to acid suppression therapy has therapeutic value in the treatment of symptoms in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus.

Back to top

2.1.11.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Acid suppression with PPI is the most effective systemic therapy for reflux symptoms in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and can be expected to control symptoms in most patients with a durable effect over years	II, IV	[9] _, [6] _, [10] _, [11] _, [12] _, [13] , [14] _, [15] _, [22] _, [23] _, [24]
Higher than standard doses of PPI may be required to control symptoms in a proportion of patients.	IV	[16] _, [17] _, [18]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Symptomatic patients with Barrett's Oesophagus should be treated with Proton Pump Inhibitor therapy (PPI), with the dose titrated to control symptoms.	С

Back to top

2.1.11.3 References

- 1. ↑ Johnson DA, Winters C, Spurling TJ, Chobanian SJ, Cattau EL Jr. *Esophageal acid sensitivity in Barrett's esophagus.* J Clin Gastroenterol 1987 Feb;9(1):23-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /3559107.
- 2. ↑ Neumann CS, Cooper BT. *24 hour ambulatory oesophageal pH monitoring in uncomplicated Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 1994 Oct;35(10):1352-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7959184.
- 3. ↑ Parrilla P, Ortiz A, Martinez de Haro LF, Aguayo JL, Ramirez P. *Evaluation of the magnitude of gastro-oesophageal reflux in Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 1990 Sep;31(9):964-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2210462.
- 4. ↑ Wesdorp IC, Bartelsman J, Schipper ME, Tytgat GN. *Effect of long-term treatment with cimetidine and antacids in Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 1981 Sep;22(9):724-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/7297920.



- 5. ↑ Humphries TJ. *Effects of long-term medical treatment with cimetidine and bethanechol in patients with esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus.* J Clin Gastroenterol 1987 Feb;9(1):28-32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2881958.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} ^{6.3} Sontag SJ, Schnell TG, Chejfec G, Kurucar C, Karpf J, Levine G. *Lansoprazole heals erosive reflux oesophagitis in patients with Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1997 Feb;11(1):147-56 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9042987.
- Collen MJ, Johnson DA. Correlation between basal acid output and daily ranitidine dose required for therapy in Barrett's esophagus. Dig Dis Sci 1992 Apr;37(4):570-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/1551347.
- 8. ↑ Cooper BT, Barbezat GO. *Treatment of Barrett's esophagus with H2 blockers.* J Clin Gastroenterol 1987 Apr;9(2):139-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2883213.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0} ^{9.1} Malesci A, Savarino V, Zentilin P, Belicchi M, Mela GS, Lapertosa G, et al. *Partial regression of Barrett's esophagus by long-term therapy with high-dose omeprazole.* Gastrointest Endosc 1996 Dec;44 (6):700-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8979061.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} Ortiz A, Martínez de Haro LF, Parrilla P, Molina J, Bermejo J, Munitiz V. *24-h pH monitoring is necessary to assess acid reflux suppression in patients with Barrett's oesophagus undergoing treatment with proton pump inhibitors.* Br J Surg 1999 Nov;86(11):1472-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/10583299.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Fass R, Sampliner RE, Malagon IB, Hayden CW, Camargo L, Wendel CS, et al. *Failure of oesophageal acid control in candidates for Barrett's oesophagus reversal on a very high dose of proton pump inhibitor.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2000 May;14(5):597-602 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/10792123.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} Yeh RW, Gerson LB, Triadafilopoulos G. *Efficacy of esomeprazole in controlling reflux symptoms, intraesophageal, and intragastric pH in patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Dis Esophagus 2003;16(3):193-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14641308.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} ^{13.2} Attwood SE, Lundell L, Hatlebakk JG, Eklund S, Junghard O, Galmiche JP, et al. *Medical or surgical management of GERD patients with Barrett's esophagus: the LOTUS trial 3-year experience.* J Gastrointest Surg 2008 Oct;12(10):1646-54; discussion 1654-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/18709511.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} Frazzoni M, Savarino E, Manno M, Melotti G, Mirante VG, Mussetto A, et al. *Reflux patterns in patients with short-segment Barrett's oesophagus: a study using impedance-pH monitoring off and on proton pump inhibitor therapy.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2009 Sep 1;30(5):508-15 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19519732.
- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} Watson JT, Moawad FJ, Veerappan GR, Bassett JT, Maydonovitch CL, Horwhat JD, et al. *The dose of omeprazole required to achieve adequate intraesophageal acid suppression in patients with gastroesophageal junction specialized intestinal metaplasia and Barrett's esophagus.* Dig Dis Sci 2013 Aug;58(8):2253-60 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23824407.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Sharma P, Sampliner RE, Camargo E. *Normalization of esophageal pH with high-dose proton pump inhibitor therapy does not result in regression of Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 1997 Apr; 92(4):582-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9128303.



- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} Basu KK, Bale R, West KP, de Caestecker JS. *Persistent acid reflux and symptoms in patients with Barrett's oesophagus on proton-pump inhibitor therapy.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002 Nov;14(11): 1187-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12439112.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} Frazzoni M, Manno M, De Micheli E, Savarino V. *Efficacy in intra-oesophageal acid suppression may decrease after 2-year continuous treatment with proton pump inhibitors.* Dig Liver Dis 2007 May;39 (5):415-21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17379591.
- ↑ Ouatu-Lascar R, Triadafilopoulos G. Complete elimination of reflux symptoms does not guarantee normalization of intraesophageal acid reflux in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Am J Gastroenterol 1998 May;93(5):711-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9625114.
- 20. ↑ Katzka DA, Castell DO. Successful elimination of reflux symptoms does not insure adequate control of acid reflux in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Am J Gastroenterol 1994 Jul;89(7):989-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8017396.
- 21. ↑ Sarela AI, Hick DG, Verbeke CS, Casey JF, Guillou PJ, Clark GW. Persistent acid and bile reflux in asymptomatic patients with Barrett esophagus receiving proton pump inhibitor therapy. Arch Surg 2004 May;139(5):547-51 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15136356.
- 22. ↑ ^{22.0} ^{22.1} Sampliner RE. *Effect of up to 3 years of high-dose lansoprazole on Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 1994 Oct;89(10):1844-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7942680.
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Parrilla P, Martínez de Haro LF, Ortiz A, Munitiz V, Molina J, Bermejo J, et al. *Long-term results of a randomized prospective study comparing medical and surgical treatment of Barrett's esophagus.* Ann Surg 2003 Mar;237(3):291-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12616111.
- 24. ↑ ^{24.0} ^{24.1} Zaninotto G, Parente P, Salvador R, Farinati F, Tieppo C, Passuello N, et al. *Long-term follow-up of Barrett's epithelium: medical versus antireflux surgical therapy.* J Gastrointest Surg 2012 Jan;16(1):7-14; discussion 14-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22086718.
- 25. ↑ Frazzoni M, Manno M, De Micheli E, Savarino V. *Intra-oesophageal acid suppression in complicated gastro-oesophageal reflux disease: esomeprazole versus lansoprazole.* Dig Liver Dis 2006 Feb;38(2):85-90 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16289976.
- 26. ↑ Peters FT, Ganesh S, Kuipers EJ, Sluiter WJ, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, Lamers CB, et al. *Endoscopic regression of Barrett's oesophagus during omeprazole treatment; a randomised double blind study.* Gut 1999 Oct;45(4):489-94 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10486353.

Back to top

2.1.11.4 Appendices

View recommendation components	View pending evidence	View body of evidence	View all comments	View literature search	
--------------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	----------------------	---------------------------	--



2.1.12 Role of ablative therapy

Contents
1 Is there a role for ablative therapy to treat BO?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Photodynamic therapy
1.3 Argon plasma coagulation
1.4 Multipolar electrocoagulation
1.5 Cryotherapy
1.6 Radiofrequency ablation
2 Evidence summary and recommendations
3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
4 References
5 Appendices

2.1.12.1 Is there a role for ablative therapy to treat BO?

2.1.12.1.1 Introduction

There is considerable interest in the possibility of ablating the Barrett's mucosa in an effort to reduce the risk of progression to malignancy and perhaps obviate the need for ongoing endoscopic surveillance. There have been a number of endoscopic therapies that have been studied to ablate Barrett's mucosa. These have mostly been tested in patients with non-dysplastic mucosa (see also Are there any treatments that prevention progression of BO to cancer?).

Back to top

2.1.12.1.2 Photodynamic therapy

Photodynamic therapy involves the administration of a photosensitiser drug and then subsequent exposure of the target tissue (Barrett's mucosa) with a laser light. There are two photosensitisers that have been mainly studied and these are aminolevulinic acid (given orally) and Photofrin (given intravenously). The studies have all been published in North America and Europe due to the potentially severe skin sensitivity that arises after administration of the photosensitiser. In the case of aminolevulinic acid this can last days and for Photofrin possibly months. During this time the subject must remain in a darkened environment. This issue restricts the use of this technology to cooler climate countries. Studies comparing the photosensitisers and various doses



and times of administration favour aminolevulinic acid over Photofrin as being more effective.^[1] Most published studies however are small and methods vary widely making comparisons difficult.^[2] One study includes a large number of patients from 30 centres in four countries.^[2] This study may be prone to institutional variations and inconsistent application of the study protocol. Photodynamic therapy is able to reliably ablate Barrett's mucosa and in up to 77% of patients there is complete ablation.^{[3][4]} Comparisons have been made between photodynamic therapy and argon plasma coagulation but a clear difference has not been established.^{[5][6][4]}

Back to top

2.1.12.1.3 Argon plasma coagulation

Argon plasma coagulation (APC) is a widely available monopolar electrocautery device where argon gas is passed through a fine catheter inserted through the channel of an endoscope. As the gas leaves the catheter it passes over a high voltage electrode which electrifies the gas producing argon plasma. This plasma conducts the electrical energy to the target tissue without physical contact. The benefit of the system is that it produces superficial coagulation of the target tissue without injuring deeper layers of the gut wall. APC has been shown to effectively ablate Barrett's mucosa and mucosal eradication of greater that 95% has been reported in the majority of subjects (97% of treated patients).^{[7][8][9][10]} Randomised controlled studies show that both medically treated patients and those with prior successful fundoplication can be cleared of Barrett's mucosa whereas control patients do not show significant regression.^{[7][8][9]} Long term data to >84 months shows some relapse of Barrett's mucosa but 65% of patients have no evidence of Barrett's mucosa.^[11] APC has been compared to PDT^{[5][6]} and multipolar electrocoagulation therapy,^{[12][13]} but no significant differences have been identified. APC is safe but isolated reports of oesophageal stricture formation and oesophageal perforation have been reported. The majority of studies examining APC have treated non-dysplastic Barrett's mucosa.

Back to top

2.1.12.1.4 Multipolar electrocoagulation

Multipolar electrocoagulation (MPEC) is a bipolar technique using a catheter passed through the channel of an endoscope. The catheter has a number of electrodes on its tip. Electrical current is passed between the electrodes through the adjacent target tissue causing thermal coagulation of the tissue. The current is confined to the mucosal surface and therefore only mucosal destruction is seen with sparing of the deeper layers. The type of mucosal effect is similar to that of APC. MPEC has been compared to APC and these two techniques have been found to have comparable efficacy in ablation of Barrett's mucosa.^[12] MPEC may require slightly fewer treatment sessions than APC and be quicker to perform. Safety of MPEC therapy appears to be good and long term follow up suggests the results are similar to that seen in patients treated with APC. The majority of studies examining MPEC have treated non-dysplastic Barrett's mucosa.



2.1.12.1.5 Cryotherapy

Cryotherapy for Barrett's mucosal ablation involves spraying the oesophageal mucosa with either liquid nitrogen or pressurised CO2 gas. The mucosa is ablated by freezing the superficial layers. The equipment required is bulky, expensive and highly specialised and at this stage not readily available outside research centres. Initial studies were performed using liquid nitrogen but this is relatively hazardous equipment to use as catheter dysfunction could cause injury to staff and equipment. More recent studies use pressurised CO2 which is technically easier to administer. Reported safety seems good but significant treatment side effects include chest pain, dysphagia and odynophagia. These symptoms can last a number of days. Studies have been performed only for dysplastic Barrett's mucosa.^[1]

2.1.12.1.6 Radiofrequency ablation

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) of Barrett's mucosa has received the most rigorous study of all the ablation techniques. RFA involves placement of a balloon catheter in the oesophagus. Around the circumference of the balloon are fine electrodes through which radiofrequency energy is delivered allowing treatment of a 3cm circumferential segment of the oesophagus. Balloon position is monitored with an endoscope and treatment of the entire Barrett's segment is generally possible in one session. The procedure is relatively easy and quick to perform and is well tolerated by patients. Side effects include chest pain, dysphagia and stricture formation. Rare complications such as bleeding and perforation have been noted. The RFA catheters are single use and relatively expensive limiting broad application of this technology. Well-designed randomised sham controlled studies have shown high levels of eradication of both non-dysplastic (>90%) and dysplastic (>90%) Barrett's mucosa.^[1] Long term follow up studies show the response is durable with the majority of patients (>85%) maintaining complete eradication over a five year follow up period. RFA has been compared to PDT and has been shown to be more offective at Parrett's mucosal ablation.

been shown to be more effective at Barrett's mucosal ablation. Studies have been performed in patients whose reflux disease was treated medically or managed with surgical fundoplication and the outcome was similar in these two groups.

Back to top

2.1.12.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
There are a number of therapies that are able to ablate Barrett's mucosa but ablation is incomplete in a number of patients and relapse of the Barrett's mucosa over time means that ongoing surveillance endoscopy is still required. The prognosis of patients who have achieved complete eradication of Barrett's mucosa after ablation is not known.	1, 11	[1] _, [3] _, [4] _, [6] , [11] _, [12] _, [13]



Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Long term outcome studies do not yet support ablation in patients without dysplasia.	В

Back to top

2.1.12.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

The long term outcome of ablation of non-dysplastic Barrett's mucosa needs to be studied to assess the durability of the ablation therapy and determine if there are any patients who subsequently no longer need follow up in Barrett's surveillance programs.

Back to top

2.1.12.4 References

- 1. 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 Rees JR, Lao-Sirieix P, Wong A, Fitzgerald RC. *Treatment for Barrett's oesophagus*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Jan 20;(1):CD004060 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/20091557.
- 2. ↑ ^{2.0 2.1} Fayter D, Corbett M, Heirs M, Fox D, Eastwood A. *A systematic review of photodynamic therapy in the treatment of pre-cancerous skin conditions, Barrett's oesophagus and cancers of the biliary tract, brain, head and neck, lung, oesophagus and skin.* Health Technol Assess 2010 Jul;14(37):1-288 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20663420.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0 3.1} Sánchez A, Reza M, Blasco JA, Callejo D. *Effectiveness, safety, and cost-effectiveness of photodynamic therapy in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review.* Dis Esophagus 2010 Nov;23(8):633-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20545970.
- ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} Li YM, Li L, Yu CH, Liu YS, Xu CF. *A systematic review and meta-analysis of the treatment for Barrett's esophagus.* Dig Dis Sci 2008 Nov;53(11):2837-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/18427992.
- 5. ↑ ^{5.0 5.1} Hage M, Siersema PD, van Dekken H, Steyerberg EW, Haringsma J, van de Vrie W, et al. 5aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy versus argon plasma coagulation for ablation of Barrett's oesophagus: a randomised trial. Gut 2004 Jun;53(6):785-90 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/15138203.
- ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} Kelty CJ, Ackroyd R, Brown NJ, Stephenson TJ, Stoddard CJ, Reed MW. *Endoscopic ablation of Barrett's oesophagus: a randomized-controlled trial of photodynamic therapy vs. argon plasma coagulation.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004 Dec;20(11-12):1289-96 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/15606390.



- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Ackroyd R, Tam W, Schoeman M, Devitt PG, Watson DI. *Prospective randomized controlled trial of argon plasma coagulation ablation vs. endoscopic surveillance of patients with Barrett's esophagus after antireflux surgery.* Gastrointest Endosc 2004 Jan;59(1):1-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/14722539.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1} Bright T, Watson DI, Tam W, Game PA, Astill D, Ackroyd R, et al. *Randomized trial of argon plasma coagulation versus endoscopic surveillance for barrett esophagus after antireflux surgery: late results.* Ann Surg 2007 Dec;246(6):1016-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18043104.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Bright T, Watson DI, Tam W, Game PA, Ackroyd R, Devitt PG, et al. *Prospective randomized trial of argon plasma coagulation ablation versus endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus in patients treated with antisecretory medication.* Dig Dis Sci 2009 Dec;54(12):2606-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19101798.
- 10. ↑ Zhang L, Dong L, Liu J, Lu X, Zhang J. *Endoscopic ablation of Barrett's esophagus using the second generation argon plasma coagulation: a prospective randomized controlled trail.* JNMU 2009;23(3):183-188.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Sie C, Bright T, Schoeman M, Game P, Tam W, Devitt P, et al. Argon plasma coagulation ablation versus endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus: late outcomes from two randomized trials. Endoscopy 2013 Sep 9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24019134.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} ^{12.2} Dulai GS, Jensen DM, Cortina G, Fontana L, Ippoliti A. *Randomized trial of argon plasma coagulation vs. multipolar electrocoagulation for ablation of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2005 Feb;61(2):232-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15729231.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} Sharma P, Wani S, Weston AP, Bansal A, Hall M, Mathur S, et al. *A randomised controlled trial* of ablation of Barrett's oesophagus with multipolar electrocoagulation versus argon plasma coagulation in combination with acid suppression: long term results. Gut 2006 Sep;55(9):1233-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16905695.

Back to top

2.1.12.5 Appendices

View recommendation components View pending evidence

View body of evidence

View all comments

View literature search

Back to top

2.1.13 Frequency of endoscopy



Contents 1 How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy? 1.1 Introduction 1.2 What is the evidence that endoscopic surveillance is effective? 1.3 What is the evidence for frequency of endoscopic surveillance? 1.4 What is the evidence for basing endoscopic frequency on previous endoscopic and histological findings? 1.5 What non-patient factors influence current endoscopic surveillance practice? 1.6 Economic analyses 1.7 Current recommendations of other international guidelines 1.8 Recommendations for frequency of endoscopic BO surveillance 1.9 Endoscopic surveillance in patients with CLO without intestinal metaplasia 2 Evidence summary and recommendations 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study 4 References 5 Appendices

2.1.13.1 How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?

2.1.13.1.1 Introduction

Endoscopic surveillance in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) is the current standard of practice.^[1] ^[2] The aim of surveillance is to effectively detect Barrett's dysplasia and early cancer that can be curatively treated with the least invasive modality, thereby improving survival and reducing death from oesophageal adenocarcinoma. The decision to commence an endoscopic surveillance programme is based on multiple factors including age, co-morbidities and the patient's wishes and ability to adhere to the recommended surveillance schedule.

Back to top

Uncertainty regarding risk of low grade dysplasia progression

The management of patients diagnosed with Barrett's oesophagus with low grade dysplasia (LGD) is currently uncertain, as there is considerable debate about the risks of progression to high grade dysplasia (HGD) or cancer in this group. Population-based studies which have followed Barrett's oesophagus patients diagnosed with LGD in the community have reported rates of progression to cancer of ~0.5% p.a. (Hvid-Jensen et al 2011). In contrast, studies undertaken in academic centres in which diagnoses of LGD are made only after review by expert gastrointestinal pathologists report rates of progression as high as 13% p.a. (Curvers et al 2010). Importantly, in those studies, about 85% of patients diagnosed originally with LGD were down-staged to non-dysplastic Barrett's



> oesophagus upon expert review. In the group of down-staged patients, the rate of progression was ~0.5% p.a - about the same as the rate observed in the community-based studies. These apparently conflicting data have implications for how LGD is diagnosed, how patients are managed and frequency of surveillance.

2.1.13.1.2 What is the evidence that endoscopic surveillance is effective?

Although endoscopic surveillance is the current standard of practice, there is no direct evidence based on randomised controlled trials for its effectiveness. There is indirect evidence based on earlier stage and improved survival in those patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma detected in a surveillance program, although these retrospective studies are subject to potential lead and length time bias.^{[3][4]} A recent case-control study has shown that endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus patients was not associated with a substantially decreased risk of death from oesophageal adenocarcinoma, although a small to moderate benefit could not be excluded.^[5]

2.1.13.1.3 What is the evidence for frequency of endoscopic surveillance?

There are no prospective studies comparing the effectiveness of differing frequencies of endoscopic surveillance. A prospective UK cohort study found no relationship between the frequency of detection of

dysplasia and frequency of endoscopic surveillance in patients with non dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus.^[6] In those with low grade dysplasia, more frequent (< three monthly) endoscopic surveillance was associated with an increased detection of high-grade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma. However those patients, who underwent endoscopy more frequently than third monthly, were also more likely to have oesophageal strictures and ulcers, both of which are associated with advanced lesions. 40% of adenocarcinomas diagnosed in the overall cohort were diagnosed at endoscopies done for symptoms rather than at the time of a scheduled surveillance procedure. This study was limited by no standardisation of endoscopic and biopsy protocol with low adherence to Seattle biopsy protocol and wide variation in endoscopic surveillance in low grade dysplasia.

Back to top

2.1.13.1.4 What is the evidence for basing endoscopic frequency on previous endoscopic and histological findings?

Current international guidelines use the presence or absence of dysplasia on previous protocol biopsies to determine the frequency of endoscopic surveillance.^{[1][2]} There has been no prospective study comparing the effectiveness of differing frequencies of endoscopic surveillance based on these factors. Indirect evidence comes from studies that have shown a previous history of any grade of dysplasia,^[7] low grade dysplasia^{[8][9]}



and high grade dysplasia, aneuploidy and increased 4N (tetraploidy)^[10] are associated with an increased risk of progression to high grade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma. The British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines also use the presence or absence of intestinal metaplasia and segment length to determine the frequency of endoscopic surveillance. Again this is based on indirect evidence of a higher risk of progression to adenocarcinoma in those with intestinal metaplasia compared to those without^[9] and in those with longer Barrett's segment length.^{[11][12]}

Back to top

2.1.13.1.5 What non-patient factors influence current endoscopic surveillance practice?

A number of studies in countries outside Australia have surveyed practitioners regarding their endoscopic surveillance practice. 50-60% of practitioners reported adhering to endoscopic frequency and biopsy guidelines. ^{[13][14][15]} Factors that influenced adherence to guidelines included younger practitioner age, ^[13] practice in an academic centre, ^[13] belief in the efficacy of Barrett's surveillance^{[16][17]} and medico-legal considerations. ^{[16][18]}

A US cross-sectional study found that 65% of patients with non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus had endoscopic over-surveillance.^[19] Patient related factors, including numeracy skills and patient perception of cancer risk were not associated with over-surveillance, suggesting that non-patient factors may influence the frequency of endoscopic surveillance.

An Australian study found that dissemination of guidelines to endoscopists had little effect on adherence to endoscopic frequency and biopsy guidelines. However, introduction of a Barrett's Oesophagus surveillance officer led to a marked sustained improvement in adherence to endoscopic frequency (17% to 92%) and biopsy protocols (45% to 83%).^[20]

Back to top

2.1.13.1.6 Economic analyses

In an attempt to overcome the lack of high quality clinical evidence, mathematical modelling studies have examined the cost-effectiveness of varying endoscopic surveillance strategies, including different endoscopic frequencies.^{[21][22][23]} These studies have significant limitations including predating the use of endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia and early adenocarcinoma, inconsistent methods and delivery of surveillance and variable data regarding the incidence of progression of BO to high-grade dysplasia and carcinoma. A large systematic review with economic modelling concluded that there was insufficient evidence available to assess the clinical effectiveness of endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus^[24] (see also Is surveillance cost-effective for follow-up of patients with BO?).

Transient low grade dysplasia results in a substantial increase in endoscopic workload (28-61% of endoscopies) and costs (\$509,549 over 10 years in a cohort of 95 patients) in a Barrett's surveillance programs.^[25] The authors recommended returning to a non-dysplastic surveillance program after two endoscopies that showed no dysplasia.



Back to top

2.1.13.1.7 Current recommendations of other international guidelines

Currently, both the British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) and American Gastroenterological Association (AGA) have published guidelines for endoscopic surveillance of BO. ^{[1][2]} The guidelines differ in the criteria for the diagnosis of BO with both requiring a columnar lined oesophagus (CLO) but the AGA also requiring intestinal metaplasia to be present in biopsies from the CLO. This Australian guideline uses the AGA criteria for a diagnosis of BO (see also What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described? and What is the histological definition of BO?). Both guidelines use the grade of dysplasia found at endoscopy to determine the timing of the subsequent surveillance endoscopy. These recommendations are based on the evidence of an increased risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma with increasing degrees of dysplasia. In those with no dysplasia, the BSG guidelines also take into account the absence of intestinal metaplasia and short-segment (<3cm) length, both of which appear to be associated with a decreased risk of malignant progression (see also Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?). Both guidelines recommend biopsies of any visible lesion or mucosal irregularity and quadrantic biopsies. The BSG guidelines recommend quadrantic biopsies every 2 cm in all surveillance endoscopies. The AGA guidelines recommend Seattle protocol biopsies with quadrantic biopsies every 2 cm unless there is suspected or known dysplasia where every 1 cm is recommended. These biopsy protocols have been shown to increase the detection of advanced (high grade and early adenocarcinoma) lesions.^{[26][27]} However, there is low adherence to the protocols^[6] resulting in lower detection rates of dysplasia.^[28]

Back to top

2.1.13.1.8 Recommendations for frequency of endoscopic BO surveillance

The recommendations of this Australian guideline for frequency of surveillance of BO are shown in Tables 1-4. For a diagnosis of BO, the guidelines require both a CLO and the presence of intestinal metaplasia in biopsies from the CLO. Recommendations for CLO without intestinal metaplasia are discussed below. After careful and meticulous examination of the Barrett's segment for any lesion or visible abnormality, Seattle protocol biopsies from the CLO are recommended at the time of endoscopic surveillance. In this protocol biopsies are taken of any mucosal irregularity (labelled separately) and quadrantic biopsies every 2cm unless known or suspected dysplasia then quadrantic biopsies every 1cm. The presence of dysplasia (indefinite, low and high grade) should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist (see also What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO? and What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?).

The management of patients diagnosed with BO with low grade dysplasia is currently uncertain, as there is considerable debate about the risks of progression to high grade dysplasia or cancer in this group. This has implications for how low grade dysplasia is diagnosed and how patients with low grade dysplasia are managed (see also What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO? and What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?).

Decisions regarding the frequency of endoscopy and management of patients with BO also need to take into consideration clinical judgement and individual patient circumstances including:



a) The presence of concurrent erosive oesophagitis within the BO segment (see also What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?).

b) The presence of a lesion or visible abnormality within the BO segment at endoscopy (see also What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment? and What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?).

Table 1-4: Recommended frequency of endoscopic surveillance of patients with Barrett'sOesophagus

BO SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL

NO DYSPLASIA ON ENDOSCOPIC ASSESSMENT AND SEATTLE PROTOCOL BIOPSY^{*}

Short (<3cm) segment	Long (≥ 3cm) segment
Repeat endoscopy in 3-5 years.	Repeat endoscopy in 2-3 years.

*Note: If there has been previous low grade dysplasia, see low grade dysplasia protocol.

BO SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL

INDEFINITE FOR DYSPLASIA ON BIOPSY

The changes of indefinite for dysplasia on biopsy should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist. If indefinite for dysplasia is confirmed, then the following endoscopic surveillance is recommended:

Repeat endoscopy in 6 months with Seattle protocol biopsies for suspected dysplasia (biopsy of any mucosal irregularity and quadrantic biopsies every 1cm) on maximal acid suppression.

If repeat shows no dysplasia then follow as per non-dysplastic protocol.

If repeat shows low grade or high grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma then follow as per protocols for these respective conditions.

If repeat again shows confirmed indefinite for dysplasia, then repeat endoscopy in 6 months with Seattle protocol biopsies for suspected dysplasia (biopsy of any mucosal irregularity and quadrantic biopsies every 1cm).

BO SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL

LOW GRADE DYSPLASIA ON BIOPSY

The changes of low grade dysplasia on biopsy should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist. If low grade dysplasia is confirmed, then the following endoscopic surveillance is recommended:

Repeat endoscopy every 6 months with Seattle protocol biopsies for dysplasia (biopsy of any mucosal irregularity and quadrantic biopsies every 1cm). If two consecutive 6 monthly endoscopies with Seattle dysplasia biopsy protocol show no dysplasia, then consider reverting to a less frequent follow up schedule.



BO SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL

HIGH GRADE DYSPLASIA OR ADENOCARCINOMA ON BIOPSY

Referral to a referral centre that has integrated expertise in endoscopy, imaging, surgery and histopathology.

Back to top

2.1.13.1.9 Endoscopic surveillance in patients with CLO without intestinal metaplasia

In some patients, despite Seattle protocol biopsies from a CLO, there will be no intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia within the biopsies from the CLO. In these patients, if there is evidence of a long (\geq 3cm) segment of CLO, it is recommended that they continue endoscopic surveillance as per the protocol for long segment BO (i.e. every 2-3 years). If there is 1-<3cm of CLO without intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia, a repeat endoscopy in 3-5 years is suggested with consideration of discharge from endoscopic surveillance if the repeat endoscopy with Seattle protocol biopsies again shows no intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia within the CLO. In patients with CLO less than 1cm without intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia on biopsies from the CLO, no endoscopic surveillance is suggested. If dysplasia is found in any biopsies from a CLO without intestinal metaplasia, then recommendations are as per the protocols for BO with dysplasia.

Back to top

2.1.13.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

In the absence of any randomised trial evidence, the frequency of surveillance endoscopy in Barrett's Oesophagus can be guided by currently available practice guidelines.

Practice point

It is advisable to undertake endoscopic surveillance in suitable patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. The frequency of surveillance is based on the presence or absence of dysplasia on previous Seattle protocol biopsies and length of Barrett's Oesophagus.



Practice point

A diagnosis of dysplasia (indefinite, low and high grade) should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist.

Practice point

It is recommended that oesophageal biopsies at the time of endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus be taken according to the Seattle protocol.

Back to top

2.1.13.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Is endoscopic surveillance in Barrett's Oesophagus effective?
- What factors are associated with an increased risk of progression in Barrett's Oesophagus?
- Does integration of these risk factors into endoscopic surveillance protocols improve their effectiveness?

Back to top

2.1.13.4 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} ^{1.2} Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P, et al. *British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2014 Jan;63 (1):7-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24165758.
- 2. 1^{2.0} 2.1^{2.2} Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/21376940.
- ↑ Cooper GS, Kou TD, Chak A. Receipt of previous diagnoses and endoscopy and outcome from esophageal adenocarcinoma: a population-based study with temporal trends. Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Jun; 104(6):1356-62 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19491849.
- 4. ↑ Rubenstein JH, Sonnenberg A, Davis J, McMahon L, Inadomi JM. *Effect of a prior endoscopy on outcomes of esophageal adenocarcinoma among United States veterans.* Gastrointest Endosc 2008 Nov;68(5):849-55 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18547567.



- ↑ Corley DA, Mehtani K, Quesenberry C, Zhao W, de Boer J, Weiss NS. Impact of Endoscopic Surveillance on Mortality from Barrett's Esophagus-Associated Esophageal Adenocarcinomas. Gastroenterology 2013 May 11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23673354.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0 6.1} Ramus JR, Gatenby PA, Caygill CP, Winslet MC, Watson A. Surveillance of Barrett's columnar-lined oesophagus in the UK: endoscopic intervals and frequency of detection of dysplasia. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jun;21(6):636-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19177028.
- 7. ↑ Miros M, Kerlin P, Walker N. *Only patients with dysplasia progress to adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 1991 Dec;32(12):1441-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1773946.
- ↑ von Rahden BH, Stein HJ, Weber A, Vieth M, Stolte M, Rösch T, et al. *Critical reappraisal of current surveillance strategies for Barrett's esophagus: analysis of a large German Barrett's database.* Dis Esophagus 2008;21(8):685-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18847456.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- ↑ Reid BJ, Levine DS, Longton G, Blount PL, Rabinovitch PS. *Predictors of progression to cancer in Barrett's esophagus: baseline histology and flow cytometry identify low- and high-risk patient subsets.* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Jul;95(7):1669-76 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10925966.
- ↑ Rudolph RE, Vaughan TL, Storer BE, Haggitt RC, Rabinovitch PS, Levine DS, et al. *Effect of segment length on risk for neoplastic progression in patients with Barrett esophagus.* Ann Intern Med 2000 Apr 18; 132(8):612-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10766679.
- 12. ↑ Desai TK, Krishnan K, Samala N, Singh J, Cluley J, Perla S, et al. *The incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gut 2012 Jul;61(7):970-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21997553.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} ^{13.2} Amamra N, Touzet S, Colin C, Ponchon T. *Current practice compared with the international guidelines: endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus.* J Eval Clin Pract 2007 Oct;13(5):789-94 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17824873.
- 14. ↑ MacNeil-Covin L, Casson AG, Malatjalian D, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S. *A survey of Canadian gastroenterologists about the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Can J Gastroenterol 2003 May;17(5): 313-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12772005.
- 15. ↑ van Sandick JW, Bartelsman JF, van Lanschot JJ, Tytgat GN, Obertop H. *Surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus: physicians' practices and review of current guidelines.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000 Jan; 12(1):111-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10656220.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Lin OS, Mannava S, Hwang KL, Triadafilopoulos G. *Reasons for current practices in managing Barrett's esophagus.* Dis Esophagus 2002;15(1):39-45 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/12060041.
- 17. ↑ Smith AM, Maxwell-Armstrong CA, Welch NT, Scholefield JH. *Surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus in the UK.* Br J Surg 1999 Feb;86(2):276-80 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10100803.
- ↑ Rubenstein JH, Saini SD, Kuhn L, McMahon L, Sharma P, Pardi DS, et al. *Influence of malpractice history* on the practice of screening and surveillance for Barrett's esophagus. Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Apr;103(4): 842-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18076733.
- ↑ Crockett SD, Lipkus IM, Bright SD, Sampliner RE, Wang KK, Boolchand V, et al. Overutilization of endoscopic surveillance in nondysplastic Barrett's esophagus: a multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Jan;75(1):23-31.e2 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22100301.



- 20. ↑ Bampton PA, Schloithe A, Bull J, Fraser RJ, Padbury RT, Watson DI. *Improving surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus.* BMJ 2006 Jun 3;332(7553):1320-3 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16740562.
- 21. ↑ Eloubeidi MA, Homan RK, Martz MD, Theobald KE, Provenzale D. *A cost analysis of outpatient care for patients with Barrett's esophagus in a managed care setting.* Am J Gastroenterol 1999 Aug;94(8):2033-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10445524.
- 22. ↑ Provenzale D, Schmitt C, Wong JB. *Barrett's esophagus: a new look at surveillance based on emerging estimates of cancer risk.* Am J Gastroenterol 1999 Aug;94(8):2043-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/10445526.
- 23. ↑ Sonnenberg A, Soni A, Sampliner RE. *Medical decision analysis of endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus to prevent oesophageal adenocarcinoma.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002 Jan;16(1):41-50 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11856077.
- 24. ↑ Garside R, Pitt M, Somerville M, Stein K, Price A, Gilbert N. *Surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus: exploring the uncertainty through systematic review, expert workshop and economic modelling.* Health Technol Assess 2006 Mar;10(8):1-142, iii-iv Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16545207.
- 25. ↑ Ofman JJ, Lewin K, Ramers C, Ippoliti A, Lieberman D, Weinstein W. *The economic impact of the diagnosis of dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Oct;95(10):2946-52 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11051373.
- 26. ↑ Fitzgerald RC, Saeed IT, Khoo D, Farthing MJ, Burnham WR. *Rigorous surveillance protocol increases detection of curable cancers associated with Barrett's esophagus.* Dig Dis Sci 2001 Sep;46(9):1892-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11575441.
- 27. ↑ Reid BJ, Blount PL, Feng Z, Levine DS. *Optimizing endoscopic biopsy detection of early cancers in Barrett's high-grade dysplasia.* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Nov;95(11):3089-96 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11095322.
- 28. ↑ Abrams JA, Kapel RC, Lindberg GM, Saboorian MH, Genta RM, Neugut AI, et al. Adherence to biopsy guidelines for Barrett's esophagus surveillance in the community setting in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jul;7(7):736-42; quiz 710 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19268726.

Back to top

2.1.13.5 Appendices

View pending view evidence components	View body of evidence	View all comments	View literature search
---	--------------------------	----------------------	---------------------------



2.1.14 Frequency of surveillance

Contents

1 Are there groups of patients with non-dysplastic BO that require more frequent surveillance? 1.1 Introduction

1.2 What are the endoscopic and/or histological factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may require more frequent surveillance?

1.3 What are the patient factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may require more frequent surveillance?

- 1.4 What is the suggested surveillance protocol and management for a high risk group?
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 4 References
- 5 Appendices

2.1.14.1 Are there groups of patients with non-dysplastic BO that require more frequent surveillance?

2.1.14.1.1 Introduction

The aim of surveillance is to detect evidence of the progression of Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) to dysplasia and early cancer at a stage where an effective intervention will reduce morbidity and mortality. Overall, the surveillance protocol for patients with BO is based on observational studies on the conversion rate to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (OAC).^[1] (See also "How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?"). A group of patients which may be targeted for more frequent surveillance may be defined as one which has evidence of a higher rate of progression to OAC. A number of studies have investigated risk factors for progression to OAC (see also What are the risk factors for progression rates to OAC, high numbers of loss to follow up, retrospective reporting and the incomplete study of risk factors. However, a number of recommendations may still be made based on the available evidence. Note that these recommendations do not include patients with evidence of dysplasia, which is covered in a separate section (see also What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?).



2.1.14.1.2 What are the endoscopic and/or histological factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may require more frequent surveillance?

Longer BO length has been consistently observed to have a higher rate of progression. Three meta-analysis have distinguished a higher incidence of progression to OAC in patients diagnosed with long (>3cm) versus short (<3cm) segment non-dysplastic BO ^{[1][2][3]}. A recent study confirmed these findings, reporting an increased risk of progression in patients with long BO length (hazard ratio 7, 95% CI 1.71 – 28.64).^[4] In addition, three multi-centre studies consistently show on multi-variant analysis the increased relative risk of length (per centimetre) in the order of 1.1 – 1.21.^{[5][6][7]}

Other observed features at endoscopy which may also be associated with a higher incidence of progression to OAC include the observation of ulcers, nodules and oesophageal strictures, with relative risk of 3.0 to 7.6 in these case series.^{[6][8]} These features may be a marker of prevalent (i.e. pre-existing) dysplasia and/or OAC, thus confirming the need to biopsy all abnormal areas at endoscopy (see also What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?).

Clear evidence for a sub-group of patients with a higher rate of progression to OAC is those with histological evidence of dysplasia.^{[9][10][11]} The recommended management and surveillance for these patients is found in section What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO? and What are the goals of treatment of high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?.

Back to top

2.1.14.1.3 What are the patient factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may require more frequent surveillance?

A number of patient factors which have been independently associated with increased risk of progression include age ^{[12][9][11]}, male gender ^{[11][13]} and smoking.^{[14][12]} Interestingly, those who have been on surveillance for BO for greater than 10 years have a higher cumulative incidence of OAC (9.2%, 95% CI 2.2 – 17.0).^[5] Although the increased relative risk of each may be statistically significant, the rate of progression has yet to be determined and hence no recommendations have been suggested for a surveillance strategy. In addition, the combination of risk factors has not been studied and a risk algorithm for progression is yet to be developed and validated. However, it is likely that the combination of age, male gender and smoking may have the additive effect on progression to OAC.^{[15][16]}

There are a number of other factors that have been suggested to be associated with the development of BO but yet to be fully studied as also contributing to an increased risk of progression to OAC. These include a strong family history of BO and/or OAC ^[17], racial/regional factors ^{[18][19]}, dietary factors ^[20] and patients with poorly controlled gastro-oesophageal reflux disease.^[4] However, it has observed that those who have regular use of proton-pump inhibitors have a significantly reduced relative risk of developing OAC (RR 0.29, 95% CI 0.12 – 0.79),^[21] suggesting that the control of acid reflux has an important role in preventing the onset of OAC.



2.1.14.1.4 What is the suggested surveillance protocol and management for a high risk group?

The suggested surveillance protocol should account for patient factors such as co-morbidities and patient preference. A multi-disciplinary meeting can aid the decision making processes for individual patients. Recommendations for patients may also take in to account current international guidelines. (See also How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?).

Patients with BO \geq 3cm have a higher incidence of progression to OAC than those <3cm, and it is recommended that they continue surveillance indefinitely. British guidelines,^[22] recommend surveillance endoscopy intervals of 2 to 3 yearly (as opposed to 3 to 5 yearly for those <3cm), whereas American guidelines do not make this distinction.^[23] Those with BO for greater than 10 years may also have closer surveillance endoscopy intervals, although the time interval has not been outlined in other guidelines.

There is currently no evidence for an intensive surveillance protocol for one or more other risk factors e.g. male, older age, smoking, uncontrolled GORD. Modifications such smoking cessation, weight loss in obese patients and acid suppression therapy may be encouraged but there is currently no data on their outcomes.

Back to top

2.1.14.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Patients with a longer length of BO (particularly \geq 3cm) are a higher risk group for progression to OAC.	III-2	[1] _, [2] _, [7] _, [4] _, [3] _, [6] _, [5]
Patients with risk profiles such as, older age, male and smokers may also be at higher risk of progression to OAC.	11, 111- 2	[9] _, [11] _, [12] _, [13] _, [14]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Patients with Barrett's Oesophagus length equal to or greater than 3cm may have intensive surveillance, possibly every two to three years following the Seattle protocol.	С

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Patients with one or more modifiable risk factors for progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (such as smoking) should be encouraged to make lifestyle changes.	D



Practice point

Patients with Barrett's Oesophagus length equal to or greater than 3cm may have more frequent surveillance than those less than 3cm.

Back to top

2.1.14.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Are there other risks factors that may modify progression rates that are not yet studied? Eg family history, medications
- Is there an algorithm that may be used to quantify the risk of progression to BO?
- Does modification of known risk factors improve patient outcomes?
- Are there other means to risk stratify patients requiring intensive surveillance, eg the use of biomarkers?

Back to top

2.1.14.4 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} ^{1.2} Desai TK, Krishnan K, Samala N, Singh J, Cluley J, Perla S, et al. *The incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gut 2012 Jul;61(7):970-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21997553.
- 2. 1^{2.0 2.1} Yousef F, Cardwell C, Cantwell MM, Galway K, Johnston BT, Murray L. *The incidence of esophageal cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Am J Epidemiol 2008 Aug 1;168(3):237-49 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18550563.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0 3.1} Thomas T, Abrams KR, De Caestecker JS, Robinson RJ. *Meta analysis: Cancer risk in Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007 Dec;26(11-12):1465-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17900269.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} Coleman HG, Bhat SK, Murray LJ, McManus DT, O'Neill OM, Gavin AT, et al. *Symptoms and Endoscopic Features at Barrett's Esophagus Diagnosis: Implications for Neoplastic Progression Risk.* Am J Gastroenterol 2014 Mar 4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24589668.
- 5. 1 ^{5.0 5.1 5.2} Sikkema M, Looman CW, Steyerberg EW, Kerkhof M, Kastelein F, van Dekken H, et al. *Predictors for neoplastic progression in patients with Barrett's Esophagus: a prospective cohort study.* Am J Gastroenterol 2011 Jul;106(7):1231-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21577245.



- ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} Rugge M, Zaninotto G, Parente P, Zanatta L, Cavallin F, Germanà B, et al. *Barrett's esophagus and adenocarcinoma risk: the experience of the North-Eastern Italian Registry (EBRA).* Ann Surg 2012 Nov; 256(5):788-94; discussion 794-5. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182737a7e. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23095623.
- 7. 1 ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Anaparthy R, Gaddam S, Kanakadandi V, Alsop BR, Gupta N, Higbee AD, et al. *Association Between Length of Barrett's Esophagus and Risk of High-Grade Dysplasia or Adenocarcinoma in Patients Without Dysplasia.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 May 21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/23707463.
- 8. ↑ Hillman LC, Chiragakis L, Clarke AC, Kaushik SP, Kaye GL. *Barrett's esophagus: Macroscopic markers and the prediction of dysplasia and adenocarcinoma.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003 May;18(5):526-33 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12702044.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1 9.2} Verbeek RE, van Oijen MG, ten Kate FJ, Vleggaar FP, Schipper ME, Casparie MK, et al. Surveillance and follow-up strategies in patients with high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a Dutch population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Apr 1;107(4):534-42 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22270082.
- 10. ↑ Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, Sørensen HT, Funch-Jensen P. *Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* N Engl J Med 2011 Oct 13;365(15):1375-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21995385.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} ^{11.2} ^{11.3} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} ^{12.2} Gatenby PA, Caygill CP, Ramus JR, Charlett A, Watson A. *Barrett's columnar-lined oesophagus: demographic and lifestyle associations and adenocarcinoma risk.* Dig Dis Sci 2008 May;53(5): 1175-85 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17939050.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} de Jonge PJ, van Blankenstein M, Looman CW, Casparie MK, Meijer GA, Kuipers EJ. *Risk of malignant progression in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a Dutch nationwide cohort study.* Gut 2010 Aug;59(8):1030-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20639249.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} Coleman HG, Bhat S, Johnston BT, McManus D, Gavin AT, Murray LJ. *Tobacco smoking increases the risk of high-grade dysplasia and cancer among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2012 Feb;142(2):233-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22062359.
- 15. ↑ Hardikar S, Onstad L, Blount PL, Odze RD, Reid BJ, Vaughan TL. *The role of tobacco, alcohol, and obesity in neoplastic progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma: a prospective study of Barrett's esophagus.* PLoS One 2013;8(1):e52192 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23300966.
- 16. ↑ Oberg S, Wenner J, Johansson J, Walther B, Willén R. *Barrett esophagus: risk factors for progression to dysplasia and adenocarcinoma.* Ann Surg 2005 Jul;242(1):49-54 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/15973101.
- ↑ Chak A, Chen Y, Vengoechea J, Canto MI, Elston R, Falk GW, et al. *Variation in age at cancer diagnosis in familial versus nonfamilial Barrett's esophagus.* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012 Feb;21(2):376-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22178570.
- ↑ Corley DA, Kubo A, Levin TR, Block G, Habel L, Rumore G, et al. *Race, ethnicity, sex and temporal differences in Barrett's oesophagus diagnosis: a large community-based study, 1994-2006.* Gut 2009 Feb; 58(2):182-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18978173.



- 19. ↑ Ford AC, Forman D, Reynolds PD, Cooper BT, Moayyedi P. *Ethnicity, gender, and socioeconomic status as risk factors for esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Epidemiol 2005 Sep 1;162(5):454-60 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16076833.
- 20. ↑ Dong LM, Kristal AR, Peters U, Schenk JM, Sanchez CA, Rabinovitch PS, et al. *Dietary supplement use and risk of neoplastic progression in esophageal adenocarcinoma: a prospective study.* Nutr Cancer 2008; 60(1):39-48 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18444134.
- 21. ↑ Singh S, Garg SK, Singh PP, Iyer PG, El-Serag HB. Acid-suppressive medications and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2013 Nov 12 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24221456.
- 22. ↑ Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P, et al. *British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2014 Jan;63 (1):7-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24165758.
- 23. ↑ Wang KK, Sampliner RE, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. *Updated guidelines 2008 for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Mar;103(3):788-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18341497.

Back to top

2.1.14.5 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.15 Discharge from surveillance

Contents

1 Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?

1.1 Introduction

1.2 What are the endoscopic and/or histological factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

1.3 What are the patient factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

1.4 What is the suggested surveillance protocol that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

2 Evidence summary and recommendations

3 References

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.1.15.1 Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?

2.1.15.1.1 Introduction

The aim of surveillance in non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) is to detect evidence of the progression to cancer to provide intervention that is curative. If there is a subgroup of cases which progress to cancer at a low or negligible rate, then these cases may be effectively discharged from surveillance as no benefit for the surveillance would exist. Similarly, if a subgroup of cases is unlikely to benefit from intervention, then these cases may also be discharged from surveillance. The majority of studies that investigate factors in the progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (OAC) concentrate on risk factors that increase the progression rate, rather than protective factors that may reduce or normalise this rate (see also What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high grade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma?). In addition, there are no randomised studies and no long term data reporting outcomes of surveillance of patients in low risk groups, or groups where surveillance was ceased. However, on extrapolation from available data, a number of recommendations may still be made based on observations from these studies.

Back to top

2.1.15.1.2 What are the endoscopic and/or histological factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

Shorter segments of BO and the absence of dysplasia have been shown to have lower rates of progression to cancer than longer BO length and the presence of dysplasia. Short segment BO, defined as biopsy proven BO of less than 3cm length from the gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ), has been observed to have a lower incidence of progression to OAC of 0.19% per year (compared with 0.33% per year overall).^{[1][2]} Histological evidence of intestinal metaplasia in cases with normal appearing GOJ has been reported (termed "cardiac intestinal metaplasia"). This has been observed in a number of studies to have a low or negligible rate of progression to dysplasia and/or cancer.^{[3][4][5]}

A further subgroup of patients may have a columnar lined oesophagus (CLO) with histological evidence of gastric differentiation, but without evidence of intestinal differentiation i.e. do not have identified goblet cells at histology. These are defined as "gastric metaplasia". At this stage, it is still unclear whether patients with evidence of gastric metaplasia are a further subgroup of patients with a defined risk of OAC, and international guidelines differ in their advice. The British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) guidelines include these within the spectrum of BO based on studies which show that there is malignant potential with similar observed rates.^[6] Furthermore, subsequent sampling in these patients has been shown to result in observed intestinal metaplasia, as reported in a prospective study by Gatenby et al.^[7] Hence, continued surveillance is recommended in BSG guidelines for these patients, particularly if the observed segment is ≥ 1 cm. However, the American



Gastroenterology Association (AGA) guidelines exclude these cases as it is felt that these do not represent true intestinal differentiation,^[8] and recent studies support a low malignant potential if this is observed.^[9] At this stage, patients with CLO may be recommended surveillance using similar protocols if the length of CLO is greater than 3cm. If the length is less than 3cm, then patients may be discharged from surveillance if certain criteria are met (see section below, What is the suggested surveillance protocol that may lead to discharge from surveillance?).

Back to top

2.1.15.1.3 What are the patient factors of non-dysplastic BO patients that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

At this stage, there is a lack of strong evidence about factors that may reduce the incidence of progression from BO to OAC. There are number of factors which have been independently associated with lower progression rates to OAC, including female gender,^{[9][10]} never smokers,^[11] and normal body mass index.^[12] These factors alone are not sufficient to recommend complete discharge from surveillance, but lifestyle changes may be recommended to reduce risk of progression. There are number of studies which show a benefit for chemo-preventative medications such as anti-inflammatories,^[13] acid suppressive medications,^[14] and statins,^[15] which are hypothesised to reduce factors which may drive malignancy. A randomised study is currently being conducted studying the role of anti-inflammatories and proton pump inhibitors in the progression to OAC.^[16] However, further study is required to determine if the reported risk reduction of these medications will be significant enough to recommend discharge for surveillance.

Back to top

2.1.15.1.4 What is the suggested surveillance protocol that may lead to discharge from surveillance?

To summarise the current international guidelines regarding patients with non-dysplastic BO, the AGA does not recommend surveillance for patients with CLO without intestinal metaplasia regardless of length. The BSG recommends no surveillance if the observed CLO (without intestinal metaplasia) is less than 1cm, and those 1cm or greater may continue surveillance using the same protocol as intestinal metaplasia. As there is no high level evidence to support either position, clinicians should be guided by their index of suspicion regarding the appropriate surveillance for these patients. These international guidelines (i.e. BSG and AGA) imply that if intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia is observed, then surveillance should continue indefinitely (see also How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?, What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?).

There are currently no guidelines that outline management if there is observed "regression" of BO length or the observation of gastric metaplasia in the setting of a previous diagnosis of intestinal metaplasia. Due to (a) interobserver variation during endoscopy, (b) possible sampling error and (c) no observed reduction in the rate of progression to OAC, normal endoscopic surveillance should continue if "regression" of BO is suspected (see also Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?).



In addition, there are no guidelines as to what age and after how many years that surveillance may cease. It may be considered that if other co-morbidities significantly reduce the expected life expectancy, or if there is likely to be significant morbidity associated with procedural intervention for dysplasia/OAC, then these patients may be discharged from surveillance.

Back to top

2.1.15.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Short segment BO (<3cm) has a lower rate of progression to oesophageal adenocarcinoma, but not low enough to recommend discharge from surveillance.		[1] _, [2]
Cardiac intestinal metaplasia (intestinal metaplasia without endoscopic evidence of Barrett's Oesophagus) has a low or negligible rate of progression to dysplasia /oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	IV	[3],[4],[5]
Patients with evidence of columnar lined oesophagus (i.e. gastric metaplasia without intestinal metaplasia) may be considered to have surveillance, particularly if subsequent intestinal metaplasia is identified.		[6],[7]
There is lack of strong evidence for factors that may reduce incidence enough to consider discharge from surveillance, although studies are in progress which may yield risk reducing modifiers.	11, 111- 2, 111- 3	[11] _, [12] _, [13] , ^[15]

Evidence-based recommendation	
For patients with < 1cm of columnar lined oesophagus that do not have evidence of intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia on Seattle protocol biopsy of the segment, endoscopic surveillance is not recommended	С

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Patients with one or more modifiable risk factors for progression from Barrett's Oesophagus to oesophageal adenocarcinoma (such as smoking or obesity) should be encouraged to make	D
lifestyle changes.	



Practice point

Patients with evidence of "regression" of Barrett's Oesophagus i.e. reduced Barrett's Oesophagus length or absence of intestinal metaplasia, can still continue surveillance.

Practice point

Patients with significant co-morbidities, or those whom are unable to tolerate procedural intervention for dysplasia/oesphageal adenocarcinoma may be considered to be discharged from surveillance.

Back to top

2.1.15.3 References

- ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Desai TK, Krishnan K, Samala N, Singh J, Cluley J, Perla S, et al. *The incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gut 2012 Jul;61(7):970-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21997553.
- 2. ↑ ^{2.0} ^{2.1} Thomas T, Abrams KR, De Caestecker JS, Robinson RJ. *Meta analysis: Cancer risk in Barrett's oesophagus.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007 Dec;26(11-12):1465-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17900269.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} Sharma P, Weston AP, Morales T, Topalovski M, Mayo MS, Sampliner RE. *Relative risk of dysplasia for patients with intestinal metaplasia in the distal oesophagus and in the gastric cardia.* Gut 2000 Jan;46 (1):9-13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10601047.
- 4. 1 ^{4.0} ^{4.1} Horwhat JD, Baroni D, Maydonovitch C, Osgard E, Ormseth E, Rueda-Pedraza E, et al. *Normalization of intestinal metaplasia in the esophagus and esophagogastric junction: incidence and clinical data.* Am J Gastroenterol 2007 Mar;102(3):497-506 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/17156135.
- 5. ↑ ^{5.0 5.1} Chang Y, Liu B, Liu GS, Wang T, Gong J. Short-segment Barrett's esophagus and cardia intestinal metaplasia: A comparative analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2010 Dec 28;16(48):6151-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21182233.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Kelty CJ, Gough MD, Van Wyk Q, Stephenson TJ, Ackroyd R. *Barrett's oesophagus: intestinal metaplasia is not essential for cancer risk.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2007 Nov;42(11):1271-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17852872.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Gatenby PA, Ramus JR, Caygill CP, Shepherd NA, Watson A. *Relevance of the detection of intestinal metaplasia in non-dysplastic columnar-lined oesophagus.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2008;43(5):524-30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18415743.



- A Wang KK, Sampliner RE, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Updated guidelines 2008 for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's esophagus. Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Mar;103(3):788-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18341497.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0} ^{9.1} Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6;103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.
- ↑ de Jonge PJ, van Blankenstein M, Looman CW, Casparie MK, Meijer GA, Kuipers EJ. *Risk of malignant progression in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a Dutch nationwide cohort study.* Gut 2010 Aug;59(8): 1030-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20639249.
- ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Coleman HG, Bhat S, Johnston BT, McManus D, Gavin AT, Murray LJ. *Tobacco smoking increases the risk of high-grade dysplasia and cancer among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2012 Feb;142(2):233-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22062359.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} Duggan C, Onstad L, Hardikar S, Blount PL, Reid BJ, Vaughan TL. *Association between markers of obesity and progression from Barrett's esophagus to esophageal adenocarcinoma.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Aug 1;11(8):934-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23466711.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} Kastelein F, Spaander MC, Biermann K, Steyerberg EW, Kuipers EJ, Bruno MJ, et al. *Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and statins have chemopreventative effects in patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Dec;141(6):2000-8; quiz e13-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21878200.
- 14. ↑ Singh S, Garg SK, Singh PP, Iyer PG, El-Serag HB. *Acid-suppressive medications and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Gut 2013 Nov 12 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24221456.
- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} Singh S, Singh AG, Singh PP, Murad MH, Iyer PG. *Statins Are Associated with Reduced Risk of Esophageal Cancer, Particularly in Patients with Barrett's Esophagus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Jan 25 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /23357487.
- 16. ↑ Jankowski J, Sharma P. *Review article: approaches to Barrett's oesophagus treatment-the role of proton pump inhibitors and other interventions.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004 Feb;19 Suppl 1:54-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14725580.

Back to top

2.1.15.4 Appendices

View pending View evidence recommendation components	View body of evidence	View all comments	View literature search
---	--------------------------	----------------------	---------------------------



Back to top

2.1.16 Cost-effectiveness of surveillance for follow-up

Contents

1 Is surveillance cost-effective for follow-up of patients with BO?

- 1.1 Background
- 1.2 Review of the evidence
- 1.3 Current directions surveillance of high-risk individuals
- 1.4 Conclusion
- 1.5 Implications for practice
- 1.6 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 2 References
- 3 Appendices

2.1.16.1 Is surveillance cost-effective for follow-up of patients with BO?

2.1.16.1.1 Background

Australia's health system faces increasing pressure to contain healthcare costs, while still maintaining high quality and optimal care. Cost-effectiveness analysis is a process that systematically compares the relative healthcare costs and benefits of alternative strategies to inform policy-makers of the strategies with the best value.^[1] There are a number of economic considerations in deciding whether the surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus is worthwhile. These include:

- A surveillance program involves repeated invasive endoscopies that are also costly when low-risk individuals will be examined frequently, although it is the only method to detect early stage oesophageal cancer and avoid death from advanced disease;
- Efficacy of surveillance should be established first before assessment of cost-effectiveness but no large-scale trial has been undertaken and it is unlikely one will be given that recruitment is usually slow, the yield of cancer cases is low and very high numbers of participants are required;
- To undertake a high-quality cost-effectiveness study, robust data on the natural history of disease progression, the effectiveness of surveillance, and evidence of health resources used are required. However, data on all of these has been scarce, until more recently;^{[2][3]}
- Treatment costs for oesophageal cancer are changing with newer less-invasive endoscopic technologies; and
- The cost-effectiveness of treatments for oesophageal cancer and high-grade dysplasia and the associated impact on the economic benefit of surveillance programs is unknown.



Whether surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus is cost-effective or not depends on if the incremental costs of surveillance (versus no surveillance) and the incremental health gains (versus no surveillance) are acceptable. Economic studies addressing this question have used mathematical modelling to synthesize the 'best available' evidence required for cost-effectiveness analysis and importantly address the uncertainty inherent in the model estimates.^[4]

2.1.16.1.2 Review of the evidence

One systematic review summarizes the evidence for cost-effectiveness of endoscopic surveillance of nondysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus.^[5] The review included seven studies that met the inclusion criteria^{[6][7][8][9][10]} ^{[11][12]} which were; 1) it had to be a comparison of surveillance for individuals with Barrett's Oesophagus versus no surveillance, and 2) it had to include the key outcome of either quality-adjusted life year (QALY) or life-years saved (LYS) and 3) included both costs and health benefits in the analysis. Figure 1 illustrates the key results for the studies included in the review for the incremental cost per QALY/LYS ratios of endoscopic surveillance versus no surveillance strategy. Two studies by Sonnenberg et al. reported incremental cost per LYS.^{[11][12]}

Figure 1. Key findings of cost-effectiveness of surveillance versus no surveillance (incremental cost per QALY/LYS gained ratios)

Source: Data from Hirst et al. (2011)^[5]

All studies were US-based with the exception of one UK study^[7] and published from 1999-2009. All studies used decision-analytic Markov models to track hypothetical patient cohorts able to move between health states and reflect observed disease progression. The models were lifetime duration over 25-30 years or until death. The findings were inconsistent about the value of surveillance, ranging from being cost-effective to highly cost-ineffective.^{[6][8][9][10]} In addition, the studies in the review used data that is largely outdated now. New evidence is available on quality of life, proportion of patients progressing among dysplasia grades, improved mortality rates for oesophagectomy and estimates on the natural history of Barrett's Oesophagus.^[3] Clinical practice has also improved with greater use of less invasive endoscopic techniques that promise to reduce treatment costs.

Key Limitations of the evidence in Hirst N et al. (2009) include:

- No randomised controlled trial for surveillance of Barrett's Oesophagus
- Author assumptions made for key model estimates not based on robust data;^[5]
- Studies have only partially addressed key aspects of uncertainty in the analyses;
- Applicability to Australia is limited due to differences in practice patterns, health care prices and organisation of the health system.
- Heterogeneity in surveillance program delivery
- Endoscopic screening/surveillance methods were not always consistent^{[13][14]}
- Heterogeneity in definition of Barrett's Oesophagus, i.e., confirmed intestinal metaplasia or other.



One study in the UK by Roberts KJ et al.^[15] that was published after the review period by Hirst claimed annual surveillance was cost-effective at £4,493 per life year gained. This study had 'prevalent cases of cancer' as the comparator and it is unclear if this is a suitable comparison. In addition, the analyses did not apply discounting or sensitivity analyses which are standard practice in health economic studies.

2.1.16.1.3 Current directions – surveillance of high-risk individuals

Patients who are most likely to benefit from surveillance programs are those at high-risk of developing malignancy. At the same time a targeted surveillance program will minimise unnecessary use of hospital resources. Three cost-effectiveness studies were identified that specifically addressed high-risk individuals; two involved biomarker testing^{[16][17]} and one involved individuals with long-segment Barrett's oesophagus.^[18]

Rubenstein's approach was to determine how sensitive and specific a biomarker test would need to be, and how cheap, to be a cost-effective surveillance program.^[16] In Gordon et al, the cost-effectiveness of surveillance in Australia was favourable under the hypothetical scenario of biomarker testing and where patients testing negative for biomarkers did not receive surveillance in the following five years and received two-yearly surveillance thereafter.^[17] However, the model assumed that no cancers progress to advanced stage disease under such modified surveillance protocols, that is, all early cancers were successfully eradicated and there is only limited evidence available to support this.^[17] Most recently, Kastelein et al concluded that surveillance was cost-effective in the Dutch healthcare system among individuals with long-segment Barrett's oesophagus (median 4cm) at intervals of 5 years for patients with non-dysplasia and 3 years for low-grade dysplasia.^[18] These studies highlight the importance of the frequency of endoscopy surveillance which, if scheduled less frequently, can improve the cost-effectiveness of surveillance. However, currently surveillance intervals are consensus rather than evidence-based (see also How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?)

Presently, the appropriateness of biomarker testing, its efficacy within a surveillance program, its feasibility and its acceptance are yet to be determined. Further clinical and economic research involving patients with positive biomarkers and additional high-risk factors (e.g., male, the presence of oesophagitis, length of Barrett's Oesophagus, and length of time with Barrett's Oesophagus^[19]) is required to assess outcomes from a more targeted high-risk surveillance population.

2.1.16.1.4 Conclusion

Economic evaluations are designed to assist with efficiently allocating scarce health care resources, that is, to minimise costs for given health outputs. Therefore, the cost-effectiveness of appropriate management strategies for patients with Barrett's oesophagus should be considered. Based on the evidence of the malignant potential of Barrett's Oesophagus in the general population versus those reported in surveillance program audits, surveillance of all patients with non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus may not be cost-effective. Further work to identify high-risk individuals, those with long-segment Barrett's or positive biomarkers, appear promising to improve the economic efficiency of endoscopy-based surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus.



2.1.16.1.5 Implications for practice

- Cost-effectiveness of endoscopic surveillance of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus is limited in the absence of a randomised clinical trial to confirm the efficacy of surveillance
- Mathematical modelling studies estimate that endoscopic surveillance of patients with non-dysplastic Barrett' s Oesophagus is likely not be cost-effective and remains controversial
- Identifying patients at high-risk of progression to adenocarcinoma substantially improves cost-effectiveness
- Using Clinical Practice Guidelines and consensus statements to guide practice around surveillance protocols will increase the cross-comparison of research audits and could be used to feed into cost-effectiveness analyses.

2.1.16.1.6 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- New technologies used in the treatment pathways for patients identified for surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus need to be assessed for their cost-effectiveness
- Identification of high-risk individuals via positive biomarkers, long-segment Barrett's oesophagus or other known risk-factors shows promise in improving the cost-effectiveness of endoscopic surveillance and clinical research evidence to confirm this is required.

Back to top

2.1.16.2 References

- 1. ↑ Stinnett AA, Mullahy J. *Net health benefits: a new framework for the analysis of uncertainty in costeffectiveness analysis.* Med Decis Making 1998 Apr;18(2 Suppl):S68-80 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9566468.
- 2. ↑ Gordon LG, Eckermann S, Hirst NG, Watson DI, Mayne GC, Fahey P, et al. *Healthcare resource use and medical costs for the management of oesophageal cancer.* Br J Surg 2011 Nov;98(11):1589-98 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22059235.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, Sørensen HT, Funch-Jensen P. *Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus.* N Engl J Med 2011 Oct 13;365(15):1375-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21995385.
- 4. ↑ Briggs AH, Claxton K, Sculpher MJ. *Decision Modelling for Health Economic Evaluation.* Oxford: Gray A, Briggs AH, editors. Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 5. ↑ ^{5.0 5.1 5.2} Hirst NG, Gordon LG, Whiteman DC, Watson DI, Barendregt JJ. *Is endoscopic surveillance for non-dysplastic Barrett's esophagus cost-effective? Review of economic evaluations.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011 Feb;26(2):247-54 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21261712.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Das A, Wells C, Kim HJ, Fleischer DE, Crowell MD, Sharma VK. *An economic analysis of endoscopic ablative therapy for management of nondysplastic Barrett's esophagus.* Endoscopy 2009 May; 41(5):400-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19418393.



- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Garside R, Pitt M, Somerville M, Stein K, Price A, Gilbert N. *Surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus: exploring the uncertainty through systematic review, expert workshop and economic modelling.* Health Technol Assess 2006 Mar;10(8):1-142, iii-iv Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16545207.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1} Inadomi JM, Sampliner R, Lagergren J, Lieberman D, Fendrick AM, Vakil N. *Screening and surveillance for Barrett esophagus in high-risk groups: a cost-utility analysis.* Ann Intern Med 2003 Feb 4; 138(3):176-86 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12558356.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Inadomi JM, Somsouk M, Madanick RD, Thomas JP, Shaheen NJ. *A cost-utility analysis of ablative therapy for Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2009 Jun;136(7):2101-2114.e1-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19272389.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} Provenzale D, Schmitt C, Wong JB. *Barrett's esophagus: a new look at surveillance based on emerging estimates of cancer risk.* Am J Gastroenterol 1999 Aug;94(8):2043-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10445526.
- ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Sonnenberg A, Fennerty MB. *Medical decision analysis of chemoprevention against esophageal adenocarcinoma.* Gastroenterology 2003 Jun;124(7):1758-66 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/12806608.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} Sonnenberg A, Soni A, Sampliner RE. *Medical decision analysis of endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's oesophagus to prevent oesophageal adenocarcinoma.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002 Jan;16(1): 41-50 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11856077.
- 13. ↑ Amamra N, Touzet S, Colin C, Ponchon T. *Current practice compared with the international guidelines:* endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus. J Eval Clin Pract 2007 Oct;13(5):789-94 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17824873.
- 14. ↑ Abrams JA, Kapel RC, Lindberg GM, Saboorian MH, Genta RM, Neugut AI, et al. Adherence to biopsy guidelines for Barrett's esophagus surveillance in the community setting in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jul;7(7):736-42; quiz 710 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19268726.
- 15. ↑ Roberts KJ, Harper E, Alderson D, Hallissey M. *Long-term survival and cost analysis of an annual Barrett's surveillance programme.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Apr;22(4):399-403 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19858726.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Rubenstein JH, Vakil N, Inadomi JM. *The cost-effectiveness of biomarkers for predicting the development of oesophageal adenocarcinoma.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005 Jul 15;22(2):135-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16011672.
- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} ^{17.2} Gordon LG, Mayne GC, Hirst NG, Bright T, Whiteman DC, Watson DI, et al. *Cost-effectiveness of endoscopic surveillance of non-dysplastic Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2014 Feb 1;79(2):242-56 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24079411.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} Kastelein F, van Olphen S, Steyerberg EW, Sikkema M, Spaander MC, Looman CW, et al. *Surveillance in patients with long-segment Barrett's oesophagus: a cost-effectiveness analysis.* Gut 2014 Jul 18 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25037191.
- 19. ↑ Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT, et al. *Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jul 6; 103(13):1049-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21680910.


2.1.16.3 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.1.17 Endoscopic features of neoplasia

Contents

1 What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?

1.1 Introduction

1.2 How should surveillance be performed?

1.3 Gross features of dysplasia and early cancer which should be looked for

1.4 Interrogating suspicious areas

1.5 Conclusion

2 References
3 Appendices

2.1.17.1 What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?

2.1.17.1.1 Introduction

Dysplasia and early cancer in Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) can be inconspicuous. This is the premise behind the present recommended strategy of performing random four quadrant biopsies in every two centimetres of the BO segment. This approach has been frequently described as ''hit and miss'' and is fraught with problems such as adherence where only 41-56% of endoscopist follow the recommended guideline.^{[1][2]} Newer endoscopic imaging modalities have been proposed to improve the detection of dysplasia. Numerous studies have been performed on chromoendoscopy techniques (Methylene Blue, Indigo Carmine and Acetic Acid), electronic image enhancement technologies (Narrow Band Imaging, I Scan, Fujinon Intelligent Chromo Endoscopy) and high magnification platforms (Confocal Endomicroscopy, Endocytoscopy). Although promising, the data appears to



have been limited mostly to tertiary referral and research centres with experience and interest in endoscopic imaging. There is lack of information if these methods can ultimately impact patient management. At the present moment, high resolution white light endoscopy (HR-WLE) remains the gold standard in evaluating patients with BO although the modalities described above can be used in addition to HR-WLE to improve characterisation of lesions.^[3] Thus, it is important to understand the gross morphological features of dysplasia and early cancer and if available, apply some of the more advanced imaging methods.

Back to top

2.1.17.1.2 How should surveillance be performed?

For purposes of standardisation, the Prague's C & M criteria has been proposed. The criteria includes the assessment of the circumferential (C) and maximum (M) extent of the endoscopically visualised BO segment, as well as endoscopic landmarks, such as the upper end of the gastric folds^[4] (see also What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?). These findings have been validated in two large studies to date and has been found to be not only practical but reproducible.^{[5][6]} It also enables accurate identification of a lesion on repeat endoscopy for endoscopic resection especially if biopsies which have been performed previously on an inconspicuous area reveal dysplasia or early cancer.

Dysplasia in BO can be patchy.^[7] Thus examination of any patient with BO should be meticulous. Debris and mucous should be washed off. If there is extensive peristalsis, antispasmodic agents can be used. A recent study from Kansas described spending longer times inspecting the BO segment (1cm/minute) which led to a significant increase in the yield of detecting dysplastic lesions.^[8]

Back to top

2.1.17.1.3 Gross features of dysplasia and early cancer which should be looked for

There is some evidence that cancer preferentially occurs in the distal Barrett's segment. A study of 213 patients with esophageal adenocarcinoma reported that in over 80% of cases, the tumor was located at the distal margin of the columnar-lined segment.^[9] It is also important to pay special attention to the two to five o'clock position in patients with shorter segments of BO (<5cm) as there is evidence that these areas could harbor more dysplasia.^[10] It may be worthwhile to retroflex the endoscope in a hiatal hernia segment and carefully examine this area.

All ulcers in BO should be monitored closely for carcinoma. In a large case series that reported endoscopic characteristics of mucosal cancers, depressed or excavated lesions were found in 49 of 349 patients (14%).^[11] Biopsies should always be taken in depressed regions and if negative; repeated after a course of proton pump inhibitor therapy.



Visible lumps or nodules consisting of high grade dysplasia (HGD) suggest a more advanced lesion where more sinister pathology may be present. Studies have shown that endoscopic resection of visible lumps or nodules consisting of HGD in biopsies result in an upgrade to a final diagnosis of cancer in almost 40% of cases.^{[12][13]} In a surgical series of esophagectomies performed for presumed HGD in biopsies, coexisting cancer was found in 78% of patients with a visible lesion compared to 32% without a visible lesion (p = 0.019).^[14] The importance of careful examination for synchronous and more advanced pathology cannot be underestimated.

Back to top

2.1.17.1.4 Interrogating suspicious areas

Suspicious lesions visualised on 'white light overview' can be interrogated further with any of the enhanced imaging techniques described above. Digital or optical magnification endoscopes have been utilised using Methylene Blue (MB), Acetic Acid (AA) or Narrow Band Imaging (NBI). A meta-analysis by Ngamruengphong et al of 450 patients with BO in nine studies concluded that MB chromoendoscopy was comparable and not superior to conventional four-quadrant random biopsies.^[15] AA and NBI appear to be more promising. Areas harboring dysplasia or early cancer appear to lose the aceto-whitening reaction when AA is used.^{[16][17]} With NBI and magnification, an irregular microvasculature and/or microstructure can be visualised in areas harbouring dysplasia or cancer.^{[18][19][20][21]} A few studies have looked at even higher levels of magnification (>450X) using Confocal Endomicroscopy^{[22][23][24][25][26]} or Endocytoscopy^{[27][28]} where histology can be visualised in real time. Irregularity of the cellular structure remains the key feature in differentiating dysplastic from non dysplastic tissue.

It is, however, not yet clear at this stage whether these modalities can replace biopsies. Some of them are expensive, time consuming, technically difficult and requires additional knowledge in interpreting images. Given its high negative predictive value, there could be a role where normal areas which do not harbour any dysplasia (based on various criteria advocated by various investigators) could be 'left alone' and simply not sampled.^[29] [^{30][31]} Only abnormal or suspicious areas should be subjected to biopsies or resection. This practice could potentially lead to a paradigm shift of how patients are surveyed presently and warrants further assessment.

Back to top

2.1.17.1.5 Conclusion

Given the inconspicuous nature of dysplasia in BO, meticulous inspection and attention to subtle endoscopic anomalies using the best available equipment and endoscopes are warranted. At the present moment, after careful interrogation of the BO mucosa; random four quadrant biopsies according to the Seattle protocol should be undertaken (see also What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO? and What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?).

Back to top



2.1.17.2 References

- 1. ↑ Mandal A, Playford RJ, Wicks AC. *Current practice in surveillance strategy for patients with Barrett's oesophagus in the UK.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003 May 15;17(10):1319-24 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12755845.
- ↑ Abrams JA, Kapel RC, Lindberg GM, Saboorian MH, Genta RM, Neugut AI, et al. Adherence to biopsy guidelines for Barrett's esophagus surveillance in the community setting in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jul;7(7):736-42; quiz 710 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19268726.
- ↑ Bennett C, Vakil N, Bergman J, Harrison R, Odze R, Vieth M, et al. *Consensus statements for management of Barrett's dysplasia and early-stage esophageal adenocarcinoma, based on a Delphi process.* Gastroenterology 2012 Aug 1;143(2):336-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22537613.
- ↑ Sharma P, Dent J, Armstrong D, Bergman JJ, Gossner L, Hoshihara Y, et al. *The development and validation of an endoscopic grading system for Barrett's esophagus: the Prague C & M criteria.* Gastroenterology 2006 Nov;131(5):1392-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /17101315.
- ↑ Chang CY, Lee YC, Lee CT, Tu CH, Hwang JC, Chiang H, et al. *The application of Prague C and M criteria in the diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus in an ethnic Chinese population.* Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Jan;104 (1):13-20 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19098843.
- ↑ Lee YC, Cook MB, Bhatia S, Chow WH, El-Omar EM, Goto H, et al. *Interobserver reliability in the endoscopic diagnosis and grading of Barrett's esophagus: an Asian multinational study.* Endoscopy 2010 Sep;42(9):699-704 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20806154.
- 7. ↑ Cameron AJ, Carpenter HA. *Barrett's esophagus, high-grade dysplasia, and early adenocarcinoma: a pathological study.* Am J Gastroenterol 1997 Apr;92(4):586-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/9128304.
- ↑ Gupta N, Gaddam S, Wani SB, Bansal A, Rastogi A, Sharma P. Longer inspection time is associated with increased detection of high-grade dysplasia and esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Sep;76(3):531-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22732877.
- 9. ↑ Theisen J, Stein HJ, Feith M, Kauer WK, Dittler HJ, Pirchi D, et al. *Preferred location for the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma within a segment of intestinal metaplasia.* Surg Endosc 2006 Feb;20(2): 235-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16391958.
- ↑ Kariyawasam VC, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Lim G, Moss A, Williams SJ, et al. *Circumferential location predicts the risk of high-grade dysplasia and early adenocarcinoma in short-segment Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2012 May;75(5):938-44 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22381529.
- 11. ↑ Pech O, Behrens A, May A, Nachbar L, Gossner L, Rabenstein T, et al. Long-term results and risk factor analysis for recurrence after curative endoscopic therapy in 349 patients with high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and mucosal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus. Gut 2008 Sep;57(9):1200-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18460553.



- ↑ Pech O, Gossner L, Manner H, May A, Rabenstein T, Behrens A, et al. *Prospective evaluation of the macroscopic types and location of early Barrett's neoplasia in 380 lesions.* Endoscopy 2007 Jul;39(7):588-93 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17611912.
- 13. ↑ Peters FP, Brakenhoff KP, Curvers WL, Rosmolen WD, Fockens P, ten Kate FJ, et al. *Histologic evaluation of resection specimens obtained at 293 endoscopic resections in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2008 Apr;67(4):604-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18155214.
- 14. ↑ Tharavej C, Hagen JA, Peters JH, Portale G, Lipham J, DeMeester SR, et al. *Predictive factors of coexisting cancer in Barrett's high-grade dysplasia.* Surg Endosc 2006 Mar;20(3):439-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16437272.
- ↑ Ngamruengphong S, Sharma VK, Das A. *Diagnostic yield of methylene blue chromoendoscopy for detecting specialized intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2009 May;69(6):1021-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19215918.
- 16. ↑ Fortun PJ, Anagnostopoulos GK, Kaye P, James M, Foley S, Samuel S, et al. Acetic acid-enhanced magnification endoscopy in the diagnosis of specialized intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia and early cancer in Barrett's oesophagus. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006 Mar 15;23(6):735-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16556175.
- 17. ↑ Longcroft-Wheaton G, Duku M, Mead R, Poller D, Bhandari P. *Acetic acid spray is an effective tool for the endoscopic detection of neoplasia in patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Oct;8(10):843-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20601133.
- 18. ↑ Wolfsen HC, Crook JE, Krishna M, Achem SR, Devault KR, Bouras EP, et al. Prospective, controlled tandem endoscopy study of narrow band imaging for dysplasia detection in Barrett's Esophagus. Gastroenterology 2008 Jul;135(1):24-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18442484.
- ↑ Kara MA, Ennahachi M, Fockens P, ten Kate FJ, Bergman JJ. Detection and classification of the mucosal and vascular patterns (mucosal morphology) in Barrett's esophagus by using narrow band imaging. Gastrointest Endosc 2006 Aug;64(2):155-66 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /16860062.
- 20. ↑ Sharma P, Bansal A, Mathur S, Wani S, Cherian R, McGregor D, et al. *The utility of a novel narrow band imaging endoscopy system in patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2006 Aug;64(2):167-75 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16860063.
- 21. ↑ Singh R, Anagnostopoulos GK, Yao K, Karageorgiou H, Fortun PJ, Shonde A, et al. Narrow-band imaging with magnification in Barrett's esophagus: validation of a simplified grading system of mucosal morphology patterns against histology. Endoscopy 2008 Jun;40(6):457-63 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18459090.
- 22. ↑ Kiesslich R, Gossner L, Goetz M, Dahlmann A, Vieth M, Stolte M, et al. *In vivo histology of Barrett's esophagus and associated neoplasia by confocal laser endomicroscopy.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006 Aug;4(8):979-87 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16843068.
- 23. ↑ Dunbar KB, Okolo P 3rd, Montgomery E, Canto MI. Confocal laser endomicroscopy in Barrett's esophagus and endoscopically inapparent Barrett's neoplasia: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, controlled, crossover trial. Gastrointest Endosc 2009 Oct;70(4):645-54 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19559419.
- 24. ↑ Leung KK, Maru D, Abraham S, Hofstetter WL, Mehran R, Anandasabapathy S. Optical EMR: confocal endomicroscopy-targeted EMR of focal high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 2009 Jan;69(1):170-2 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18582880.



- 25. ↑ Pohl H, Rösch T, Vieth M, Koch M, Becker V, Anders M, et al. *Miniprobe confocal laser microscopy for the detection of invisible neoplasia in patients with Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2008 Dec;57(12):1648-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18755886.
- 26. ↑ Bajbouj M, Vieth M, Rösch T, Miehlke S, Becker V, Anders M, et al. Probe-based confocal laser endomicroscopy compared with standard four-quadrant biopsy for evaluation of neoplasia in Barrett's esophagus. Endoscopy 2010 Jun;42(6):435-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /20506064.
- 27. ↑ Pohl H, Koch M, Khalifa A, Papanikolaou IS, Scheiner K, Wiedenmann B, et al. *Evaluation of endocytoscopy in the surveillance of patients with Barrett's esophagus.* Endoscopy 2007 Jun;39(6):492-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17554642.
- 28. ↑ Singh R, Chen Yi Mei SL, Tam W, Raju D, Ruszkiewicz A. *Real-time histology with the endocytoscope.* World J Gastroenterol 2010 Oct 28;16(40):5016-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /20976836.
- 29. ↑ Sharma P, Hawes RH, Bansal A, Gupta N, Curvers W, Rastogi A, et al. *Standard endoscopy with random biopsies versus narrow band imaging targeted biopsies in Barrett's oesophagus: a prospective, international, randomised controlled trial.* Gut 2013 Jan;62(1):15-21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/22315471.
- 30. ↑ Jayasekera C, Taylor AC, Desmond PV, Macrae F, Williams R. *Added value of narrow band imaging and confocal laser endomicroscopy in detecting Barrett's esophagus neoplasia.* Endoscopy 2012 Dec;44(12): 1089-95 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23188660.
- 31. ↑ Singh R, Shahzad MA, Tam W, Goda K, Yu LH, Fujishiro M, et al. *Preliminary feasibility study using a novel narrow-band imaging system with dual focus magnification capability in Barrett's esophagus: Is the time ripe to abandon random biopsies?* Dig Endosc 2013 May;25 Suppl 2:151-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23617668.

Back to top

2.1.17.3 Appendices

	View pending
View	evidence
recommendation	01100
components	

View body of evidence

View all comments View literature search

Back to top

2.1.18 Histological definition and grading of dysplasia in BO

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Contents

- 1 What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?
 - 1.1 Introduction
 - 1.2 Definition of dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus
 - 1.3 Grading of dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus
 - 1.4 Interobserver variability in the histopathological diagnosis of dysplasia
- 2 References
- 3 Appendices

2.1.18.1 What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.1.18.1.1 Introduction

Features that characterise and are the basis for grading dysplasia arising in Barrett's Oesophagus have not been subject to high level research evaluation. They are largely derived from clinical experience. Therefore, this review is based on information that is generally accepted, and has been published in a similar form in review papers and textbooks.

Uncertainty regarding risk of low grade dysplasia progression

The management of patients diagnosed with Barrett's oesophagus with low grade dysplasia (LGD) is currently uncertain, as there is considerable debate about the risks of progression to high grade dysplasia (HGD) or cancer in this group. Population-based studies which have followed Barrett's oesophagus patients diagnosed with LGD in the community have reported rates of progression to cancer of ~0.5% p.a. (Hvid-Jensen et al 2011). In contrast, studies undertaken in academic centres in which diagnoses of LGD are made only after review by expert gastrointestinal pathologists report rates of progression as high as 13% p.a. (Curvers et al 2010). Importantly, in those studies, about 85% of patients diagnosed originally with LGD were down-staged to non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus upon expert review. In the group of down-staged patients, the rate of progression



> was ~0.5% p.a – about the same as the rate observed in the community-based studies. These apparently conflicting data have implications for how LGD is diagnosed, how patients are managed and frequency of surveillance.

2.1.18.1.2 Definition of dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus

Dysplasia is an unequivocal neoplastic transformation of the epithelial cells that is confined within the basement membrane of the metaplastic glandular tissue within which it arises. Dysplasia is a precursor lesion to invasive adenocarcinoma and, particularly in its high grade form, is a marker for the potential presence of adenocarcinoma elsewhere in oesophagus. Histological features that characterise dysplasia are best identified on standard H&E stained sections and are either a) cytological changes or b) gland architectural changes.^{[1][2]}

Cytological features involve nuclear and cytoplasmic changes. Nuclear changes are increase in size, irregular shape, increased nucleus:cytoplasmic ratio, nuclear crowding, hyperchromasia, and the presence of nucleoli. Cytoplasmic change involves mucin depletion. Dysplastic cells exhibit increased mitotic activity, including atypical forms and surface mitoses. There is typically failure of cellular maturation toward the surface of the mucosa, although this is not always the case.^[3] Goblet cell numbers are reduced and dysplastic cells may lose their normal vertical polarity.

Architectural features are irregular gland outline, variability in glandular size, gland crowding with 'back to back' pattern, and villiform surface contour. None of these cytological or architectural features are sufficient to diagnose dysplasia in isolation. Ancillary tests, such as p53, AMACR and Ki67 immunochemical stains, have been advocated to aid the diagnosis of dysplasia, however at present, no specific and reliable tests can replace conventional H&E examination and are therefore not recommended in routine practice.

Dysplasia arising in Barrett's Oesophagus may be of intestinal (adenomatous) or gastric (non adenomatous) phenotype.^[4] Cases displaying hybrid features also exist. Intestinal (adenomatous) type dysplasia resembles colorectal adenoma by exhibiting glands lined by tall columnar cells with hyperchromatic, pencillate, stratified nuclei and eosinophilic cytoplasm and sharp luminal borders. The gastric (non adenomatous) dysplasia type is mostly of foveolar pattern and is characterised by cuboidal to columnar cells with pale clear to light eosinophilic cytoplasm and round to oval nuclei, sometimes with discernable small nucleoli. The glands tend to be smaller and more closely associated than in adenomatous dysplasia and the luminal borders are less distinct. At present there is no requirement for the histopathologist to document the phenotypic subtype of dysplasia since the prognostic significance of this phenotypic subdivision is not known.

Figure 1. Low power view adenomatous dysplasia (left) and Figure 2. gastric foveolar dysplasia (right)

Figure 3. High power view - adenomatous dysplasia (left) and Figure 4. gastric foveolar dysplasia (right)

Back to top



2.1.18.1.3 Grading of dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus

Grading of Barrett's Oesophagus dysplasia is best performed on the H&E stain. Pathologists should report Barrett's Oesophagus biopsies as fitting into one of four categories.^{[1][2][4][5][6]} The rationale for this tiered approach is to stratify patients into categories of increasing risk for development of or concurrent presence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Many papers have shown an increasing risk ranging from small (negative for dysplasia) to significant (high grade dysplasia).^[7]

1. Negative for dysplasia - The histological features of dysplasia are absent.

2. Indefinite for dysplasia - This term is applicable when the pathologist believes that the biopsy is displaying some of the histological features of true dysplasia but is unable to exclude a non-neoplastic process as the cause of the abnormality. In general the consideration is whether the histological features are sufficient to diagnose low grade dysplasia. However, in some situations (discussed below) the pathologist is concerned that the features may represent high grade dysplasia. Pathologists are most likely to consider a biopsy exhibiting cytological atypia as being indefinite for dysplasia if it shows active inflammation, retention of normal crypt architecture, a normal ratio of glands to lamina propria, obvious signs of surface maturation, and has nuclear atypia that is only of mild degree.^[8]

Figure 5. Indefinite for dysplasia - Cytological atypia and multilayering are present, however, there is associated acute inflammation

Indefinite for high grade dysplasia/adenocarcinoma

This concept has not been specifically studied, however, pathologists recognise a subgroup of indefinite for dysplasia, where the cytological and/or architectural abnormality is marked, however, a confident diagnosis of high grade dysplasia cannot be made. In some of these situations the concern is that invasive adenocarcinoma may exist. Reasons for not rendering a specific diagnosis include concern that the changes may be regenerative, reactive (e.g. medication or radiotherapy induced) or inflammation related; a small amount of material, particularly if at the edge of the biopsy; and the presence of only minimal architectural abnormality in a 'very' well differentiated adenocarcinoma. Basal crypt dysplasia^[3] is a controversial pattern of high grade atypia that is restricted to the crypt base. It is associated with more conventional dysplasia in most cases. Whether this is true dysplasia remains controversial, so pathologists may apply the designation of indefinite for high grade dysplasia to this pattern.

Figure 6. Basal Crypt pattern dysplasia - apparent maturation of dysplasia onto the surface

3. Low-grade dysplasia - displays mild to moderate cytologic atypia and, at most, mild disturbance of gland architecture. The neoplastic epithelial cells are crowded, elongated and hyperchromatic. The cells generally retain their vertical polarity.

Figure 7. Low grade dysplasia



4. High-grade dysplasia - typically displays both architectural abnormality and severe cytologic atypia. Aberrant architectural features include glandular crowding, branching or budding glands, villiform, cribriform, micropapillary or cystically dilated crypt patterns. Cytological features include complete loss of cell polarity, rounded enlarged nuclei with irregular thickened nuclear membranes and conspicuous nucleoli. Typical and atypical mitotic figures are readily identified at all levels within the glands, as well as on the luminal surface.

Figure 8. High grade dysplasia - architectural disturbance

Figure 9. High grade dysplasia - cytological disturbance

Back to top

2.1.18.1.4 Interobserver variability in the histopathological diagnosis of dysplasia

Grading of dysplasia is subject to significant interobserver variability.^{[8][9][10]} This is particularly true for the diagnosis of low grade dysplasia. Previously reported kappa values for interobserver variability among general histopathologists range from 0.14 to 0.32 (poor to fair). Specialist gastrointestinal histopathologists, particularly those with a special interest in Barrett's Oesophagus, have better agreement with kappa values of 0.48-0.69 reported (moderate to good agreement).^[11] In most cases where a diagnosis of low grade dysplasia is made by a general histopathologist and the diagnosis is subsequently changed on review by an expert panel, the effect has been to downgrade the diagnosis to 'negative for dysplasia'. In a recent study where a review of all Barrett' s Oesophagus diagnosed as low grade dysplasia was undertaken by expert gastrointestinal pathologists, the cases persisting with this diagnosis had higher rates of progression to high grade dysplasia or oesophageal adenocarcinoma than those revised to negative or indefinite for dysplasia (33% vs 2% at 5 years).^[11]

No good data exists on the interobserver concordance among general histopathologists for the diagnosis of high grade dysplasia, however, in a study involving specialist gastrointestinal pathologists there was substantial diagnostic agreement with kappa = 0.65.^[12]

Interobserver concordance among pathologists has been demonstrated to be significantly higher for endomucosal resection specimens than for biopsy material in all grades of dysplasia.^[13]

These data support the notion that all cases of Barrett's Oesophagus diagnosed as dysplasia (indefinite, low or high grade) should be reviewed by at least one pathologist with a special interest in gastrointestinal tract pathology.

Traditional grading features are best applied to adenomatous type dysplasia. Appropriate criteria for grading of non adenomatous type dysplasia are still evolving.^[14]

Back to top

2.1.18.2 References

1. ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Odze RD. *Diagnosis and grading of dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus.* J Clin Pathol 2006 Oct;59 (10):1029-38 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17021130.



- ^{2.0}
 ^{2.1} Voltaggio L, Montgomery EA, Lam-Himlin D. *A clinical and histopathologic focus on Barrett esophagus and Barrett-related dysplasia.* Arch Pathol Lab Med 2011 Oct;135(10):1249-60 Available from:
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21970480.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} Lomo LC, Blount PL, Sanchez CA, Li X, Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, et al. *Crypt dysplasia with surface maturation: a clinical, pathologic, and molecular study of a Barrett's esophagus cohort.* Am J Surg Pathol 2006 Apr;30(4):423-35 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16625087.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1} Brown IS, Whiteman DC, Lauwers GY. *Foveolar type dysplasia in Barrett esophagus.* Mod Pathol 2010 Jun;23(6):834-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20228780.
- ↑ Rugge M, Correa P, Dixon MF, Hattori T, Leandro G, Lewin K, et al. *Gastric dysplasia: the Padova international classification.* Am J Surg Pathol 2000 Feb;24(2):167-76 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/10680883.
- 6. ↑ Schlemper RJ, Riddell RH, Kato Y, Borchard F, Cooper HS, Dawsey SM, et al. *The Vienna classification of gastrointestinal epithelial neoplasia.* Gut 2000 Aug;47(2):251-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/10896917.
- 7. ↑ Anaparthy R, Sharma P. *Progression of Barrett oesophagus: role of endoscopic and histological predictors.* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014 May 27 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/24860927.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1} Montgomery E, Goldblum JR, Greenson JK, Haber MM, Lamps LW, Lauwers GY, et al. *Dysplasia as a predictive marker for invasive carcinoma in Barrett esophagus: a follow-up study based on 138 cases from a diagnostic variability study.* Hum Pathol 2001 Apr;32(4):379-88 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11331954.
- 9. ↑ Reid BJ, Haggitt RC, Rubin CE, Roth G, Surawicz CM, Van Belle G, et al. *Observer variation in the diagnosis of dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Hum Pathol 1988 Feb;19(2):166-78 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3343032.
- ↑ Kerkhof M, van Dekken H, Steyerberg EW, Meijer GA, Mulder AH, de Bruïne A, et al. *Grading of dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus: substantial interobserver variation between general and gastrointestinal pathologists.* Histopathology 2007 Jun;50(7):920-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17543082.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Duits LC, Phoa KN, Curvers WL, Ten Kate FJ, Meijer GA, Seldenrijk CA, et al. Barrett's oesophagus patients with low-grade dysplasia can be accurately risk-stratified after histological review by an expert pathology panel. Gut 2014 Jul 17 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /25034523.
- 12. ↑ Montgomery E, Bronner MP, Goldblum JR, Greenson JK, Haber MM, Hart J, et al. *Reproducibility of the diagnosis of dysplasia in Barrett esophagus: a reaffirmation.* Hum Pathol 2001 Apr;32(4):368-78 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11331953.
- 13. ↑ Mino-Kenudson M, Hull MJ, Brown I, Muzikansky A, Srivastava A, Glickman J, et al. *EMR for Barrett's esophagus-related superficial neoplasms offers better diagnostic reproducibility than mucosal biopsy.* Gastrointest Endosc 2007 Oct;66(4):660-6; quiz 767, 769 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/17905005.
- 14. ↑ Mahajan D, Bennett AE, Liu X, Bena J, Bronner MP. *Grading of gastric foveolar-type dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Mod Pathol 2010 Jan;23(1):1-11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19838164.

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.1.18.3 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all	View literature	
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search	
components					

Back to top

2.1.19 Histological features of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma

Contents

1 What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Pathologist's perspective
1.3 Pathological reporting of endoscopic resection specimens
2 References
3 Appendices

2.1.19.1 What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?

2.1.19.1.1 Introduction

Barrett's Oesophagus

For more information see What is the histological definition of BO?

Histologic features and grades of dysplasia

For more information see What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?

Oesophageal adenocarcinoma



Although there are a great variety of structural manifestations of the development of adenocarcinoma, the key feature that allows a biopsy specimen to be classified as Oesophageal adenocarcinoma is the evidence of invasion of epithelial cells into the connective tissue matrix of the lamina propria. In neoplastic glands, the basal membrane is interrupted, which results in the invasion of epithelial cells into the lamina propria connective tissue matrix. Degrees of differentiation of neoplastic cells vary markedly and thus, histologic grading can describe tumours as being (i) well differentiated, (ii) moderately differentiated, (iii) poorly differentiated, or (iv) undifferentiated.

Back to top

2.1.19.1.2 Pathologist's perspective

Early adenocarcinoma in Barrett's Oesophagus refers to invasion into mucosa or superficial submucosa, but not deeper in the oesophageal wall. These tumours are stage T1 in the current TNM staging system. Adenocarcinoma exists when there is invasion of neoplastic cells beyond the basement membrane of the epithelium. The histological features identifying that invasion has occurred include:^{[1][2]}

1. Single neoplastic cells or small clusters of neoplastic cells in the lamina propria.

2. Complex architectural patterns characterised by solid growth patterns, tight cribriform growth pattern, glands with acute angulation in at least one part of their outline, and a pattern of anastomosing fusion of small glands. Most of these architectural patterns are common to invasive adenocarcinoma in other organs e.g. prostate and endometrium, and are familiar to histopathologists.

3. Neoplastic cells invading overlying squamous epithelium.

4. Desmoplastic stromal reaction. This is useful when present, however, it is recognised that early invasive adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus can invade without eliciting a histologically identifiable stromal reaction.

Solid and tight cribriform growth pattern diagnostic of intramucosal adenocarcinoma

Fused gland pattern of intramucosal adenocarcinoma

Angulated gland pattern of intramucosal adenocarcinoma

Features that predict the presence of invasive adenocarcinoma in biopsies diagnosed as high grade dysplasia ('suspicious high grade dysplasia').

It has been well recognised that significant interobserver variability exists between pathologists in the separation of high grade dysplasia from early invasive adenocarcinoma in biopsy specimens.^[3] Recent studies have identified a variety of histological patterns that predict a high likelihood of associated invasive adenocarcinoma (in subsequent specimens) in biopsies with high grade dysplasia. These are summarised below:



1. Zhu et al^[4]

- solid or cribriform growth patterns
- ulceration of dysplastic epithelium
- abundant neutrophils within dysplastic epithelium
- dilated neoplastic glands containing necrotic debris
- dysplastic glandular epithelium being incorporated into squamous epithelium

The risk of identifying adenocarcinoma in subsequent resection specimens in this study was: 0 features – 5%; 1 feature – 40%; \geq 2 features – 80%.

- 2. Patil et al^[5]
 - Presence of an endoscopic lesion
 - 'never ending' glandular pattern
 - Sheet like growth
 - Angulated glands
 - ≥ 3 glands with intraluminal debris
 - ≥ 1 focus of single cell infiltration

The last two features were, in particular, highly predictive for the presence of adenocarcinoma.

At present there is no mandated requirement for pathologists to specifically qualify or quantify the features presented in these studies. However, it would be regarded as good practice for pathologists to communicate concern that invasive adenocarcinoma may exist when one or more of these features exist.

High grade dysplasia with an area suspicious for intramucosal carcinoma - necrotic debris in glands and a developing pattern of gland fusion

The issue of duplication of the muscularis mucosae in Barrett's Oesophagus and its implication for sub staging early adenocarcinoma.

The muscularis mucosae is consistently thickened in Barrett's Oesophagus. In at least two thirds of cases there is reduplication with the formation of an intervening fibrovascular stroma between the deeper native muscularis mucosae and the superficial new muscle layer. The intervening fibrovascular stroma is sometimes referred to as

the 'neo-submucosa' while the entire reduplication process is called the 'musculo-fibrous anomoly'.^{[6][7]} The native submucosa resides beneath the deep native muscularis layer. In mucosal biopsies, adenocarcinoma may appear to invade through a muscle layer, however, because of the musculo-fibrous anomoly, it is not possible for pathologists to determine if invasion is into neo-submucosa or true submucosa. This distinction is prognostically important because invasion of neo-submucosa has a risk for metastasis approximately the same as intramucosal adenocarcinoma (<10%), while the risk for true submucosal invasion is higher (approximately 30%).^[8] Correct assessment can be made on endomucosal resection specimens or formal resections.



The AJCC (2010) staging of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma subdivides both mucosal invasion (T1a) and submucosal invasion (T1b) into three levels.

T1a is sub-divided as M1-M3 as follows:

- m1 In situ (pTis = high grade dysplasia)
- m2 into the lamina propria
- m3 into the muscularis mucosae

T1b is sub-divided as SM1-3 as follows:

- sm1 superficial 1/3 submucosa
- sm2 intermediate one third of submucosa
- sm3 outer one third of submucosa

AJCC staging system (mucosa)

Since the AJCC system does not account for the musculo-fibrous anomaly, a second four tiered system has been recommended by Vieth & Stolte to better define mucosal invasion of adenocarcinomas.^[9] In the Stolte sub staging system, T1a is sub-divided as M1-M4 as follows:

- m1 into the lamina propria
- m2 into the superficial/inner muscularis mucosae
- m3 into the space between the layers of the muscularis mucosae
- m4 into the outer/true muscularis mucosae

Pathologists are encouraged to report the sub stage of early adenocarcinoma using both systems and it forms part of the structured reporting guidelines for endomucosal resection specimens developed by the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia.^[10]

Stolte staging system (mucosa)

Back to top

2.1.19.1.3 Pathological reporting of endoscopic resection specimens

The histological report of endoscopic mucosal resections should include data that are important for clinical management, particularly the identification of patients who should be considered for oesophagectomy. These are discussed in greater detail in the guidelines for reporting oesophageal and gastro-oesophageal carcinomas provided by the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia.^[11]



Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's Oesophagus and Early

Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma

The histological features for reporting include the following:

- Tumour type
- Grade
- Tumour size
- Level of invasion
- Lymphovascular invasion
- Perineural invasion
- Tumour budding
- Distance of clearance to deep margin

Intramucosal adenocarcinomas without adverse histological features can be managed conservatively by endoscopic resection.^{[12][13]} Additionally, low-risk tumours invading the upper submucosa (SM1, <500Um invasion of submucosa; no poorly differentiated areas; no lymphovascular invasion; clearance to deep margin >1mm) may be amenable to conservative management by endoscopic resection alone after careful histological assessment.^{[14][15]}

Back to top

2.1.19.2 References

- ↑ Appelman HD. Adenocarcinoma in Barrett mucosa treated by endoscopic mucosal resection. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2009 Nov;133(11):1793-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19886713.
- ↑ Goldblum JR. Controversies in the diagnosis of Barrett esophagus and Barrett-related dysplasia: one pathologist's perspective. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2010 Oct;134(10):1479-84 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20923304.
- 3. ↑ Downs-Kelly E, Mendelin JE, Bennett AE, Castilla E, Henricks WH, Schoenfield L, et al. *Poor interobserver* agreement in the distinction of high-grade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma in pretreatment Barrett's esophagus biopsies. Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Sep;103(9):2333-40; quiz 2341 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18671819.
- ↑ Zhu W, Appelman HD, Greenson JK, Ramsburgh SR, Orringer MB, Chang AC, et al. *A histologically defined subset of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett mucosa is predictive of associated carcinoma*. Am J Clin Pathol 2009 Jul;132(1):94-100 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19864239.
- 5. ↑ Patil DT, Goldblum JR, Rybicki L, Plesec TP, Mendelin JE, Bennett AE, et al. Prediction of adenocarcinoma in esophagectomy specimens based upon analysis of preresection biopsies of Barrett esophagus with at least high-grade dysplasia: a comparison of 2 systems. Am J Surg Pathol 2012 Jan;36(1):134-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22067333.
- 6. ↑ Takubo K, Sasajima K, Yamashita K, Tanaka Y, Fujita K. *Double muscularis mucosae in Barrett's esophagus.* Hum Pathol 1991 Nov;22(11):1158-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /1743701.
- 7. ↑ Rubio CA, Riddell R. *Musculo-fibrous anomaly in Barrett's mucosa with dysplasia.* Am J Surg Pathol 1988 Nov;12(11):885-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3189695.



- Abraham SC, Krasinskas AM, Correa AM, Hofstetter WL, Ajani JA, Swisher SG, et al. *Duplication of the muscularis mucosae in Barrett esophagus: an underrecognized feature and its implication for staging of adenocarcinoma.* Am J Surg Pathol 2007 Nov;31(11):1719-25 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/18059229.
- 9. ↑ Vieth M, Ell C, Gossner L, May A, Stolte M. *Histological analysis of endoscopic resection specimens from* 326 patients with Barrett's esophagus and early neoplasia. Endoscopy 2004 Sep;36(9):776-81 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15326572.
- ↑ Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia. Endoscopic Resection (ER) of the Oesophagus and Gastro-Oesophageal Junction. Structured Reporting Protocol(1st Edition 2013). Sydney (NSW): Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia; 2013 [cited 2013 May 12] Available from: http://www.rcpa.edu.au /getattachment/e19e9dbd-a6a7-4f59-b100-67e7af355633/Protocol-endoscopic-resection-oesophagus. aspx.
- 11. ↑ Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia. *Tumours of the oesophagus and gastro-oesophageal junction. Structured reporting protocol (1st Edition, 2013).* Sydney (NSW): Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia; 2013 Available from: http://www.rcpa.edu.au/getattachment/caa4ae01-bcdb-4911-a43f-65364faf41bd/Protocol-oesophageal-and-GOJ-cancers.aspx.
- 12. ↑ Pech O, May A, Manner H, Behrens A, Pohl J, Weferling M, et al. *Long-Term Efficacy and Safety of Endoscopic Resection for Patients with Mucosal Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2014 Mar 1;146(3):652-660 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24269290.
- ↑ Dunbar KB, Spechler SJ. The risk of lymph-node metastases in patients with high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Jun;107(6): 850-62; quiz 863 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22488081.
- 14. ↑ Manner H, Pech O, Heldmann Y, May A, Pohl J, Behrens A, et al. *Efficacy, safety, and long-term results of endoscopic treatment for early stage adenocarcinoma of the esophagus with low-risk sm1 invasion.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Jun;11(6):630-5; quiz e45 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/23357492.
- 15. ↑ Westerterp M, Koppert LB, Buskens CJ, Tilanus HW, ten Kate FJ, Bergman JJ, et al. *Outcome of surgical treatment for early adenocarcinoma of the esophagus or gastro-esophageal junction.* Virchows Arch 2005 May;446(5):497-504 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15838647.

Back to top

2.1.19.3 Appendices

View	/iew pending	View body of	View all	View literature
	evidence	evidence	comments	search

Back to top



2.1.20 Staging modalities

Contents 1 What are the best modalities for accurately staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma? 1.1 Introduction 1.2 Endoscopic biopsy 1.3 Endoscopic resection (ER) 1.4 Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) 1.5 Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography (PET/CT) 2 Evidence summary and recommendations 3 References 4 Appendices 2.1.20.1 What are the best modalities for accurately staging early

oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

2.1.20.1.1 Introduction

The TNM staging system for oesophageal adenocarcinoma (American Joint Committee on Cancer, the International Union Against Cancer) is universally accepted and correlates with patient survival.^[1] Early oesophageal adenocarcinomas (EOA) are those defined as intra-mucosal adenocarcinoma (T1m) or superficial submucosal adenocarcinoma (T1sm1).^[2] A more comprehensive sub-classification of early oesophageal cancers has been proposed with mucosal disease and submucosal disease divided into three categories respectively (m1-3, and sm1-3) based on depth of invasion. The risk of nodal involvement correlates with the depth of invasion with tumour invasion deeper than the muscularis mucosa associated with a significant increase in prevalence of lymph node metastases.^{[3][4]} Cancers that are confined to the mucosa have a low risk of nodal involvement (0% in most series) and can be managed successfully with endoscopic resection (ER). When the cancer has invaded the superficial third of the submucosa (T1sm1), if the tumour is well differentiated with no lymphovascular invasion and of low histological grade, some studies suggest the risk of positive lymph nodes remains low (<1%).^{[5][6]} Other studies have shown superficial (sm1) submucosal invasion in oesophageal carcinoma is associated with a low but not negligible rate of lymph node metastasis of 12.9%.^[7] However, if there is deeper submucosal invasion (T1sm2, T1sm3) or these other criteria are not met, then the risk of lymph node involvement increases to 44%.^[6] There are a range of management options for EOA, including endoscopic resection, surgical oesophagectomy, radiation therapy and chemotherapy and their appropriateness is dependent on accurate staging.

Options for staging of EOA include:

1. Endoscopic biopsy

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2. Endoscopic resection (ER) (also known as endoscopic mucosal resection or EMR)

3. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) with or without fine needle aspirate (FNA)

4. Positron emission tomography-computerised tomography (PET-CT)

Back to top

2.1.20.1.2 Endoscopic biopsy

Diagnostic accuracy of high grade dysplasia and EOA has improved due to advances in endoscopic technology including high-definition white light endoscopy, digital chromoendoscopy and systematic biopsy protocols. However, the potential for diagnostic inaccuracy persists due to biopsy sampling error and variability in histopathologic interpretation. Studies have reported the presence of occult adenocarcinoma at oesophagectomy in patients with Barrett's Oesophagus with HGD after endoscopic surveillance with systematic biopsies.^[8] The use of jumbo biopsy forceps still misses unsuspected adenocarcinoma in Barrett's Oesophagus with HGD.^[9] In comparison to systematic biopsy protocols, endoscopic resection (ER) together with expert pathological review, alters the histological grade or T-stage in the majority of patients with Barrett's-associated neoplasia.^{[10][11]}

Back to top

2.1.20.1.3 Endoscopic resection (ER)

Endoscopic resection (ER, also known as endoscopic mucosal resection EMR) involves local snare excision of the lesion down to the level of the submucosa and has been increasingly used as both a staging tool and a therapeutic treatment option for management of dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus and EOA.^{[12][13]} ER is recommended for dysplasia associated with any visible lesions within Barrett's segment as it allows more accurate assessment of the severity of dysplasia and local T-staging, particularly for the assessment of submucosal invasion, compared with targeted biopsies alone. It may also be curative in intramucosal (T1a) adenocarcinoma. In a multicentre cohort study, ER resulted in a change of diagnosis for approximately 30% of Barrett's Oesophagus patients with early neoplasia (with and without visible lesions).^[14] In other series, ER results in a change of pre-treatment histopathologic diagnosis in 25-55%.^{[10][15][16]} In a prospective series of 75 patients at two Australian tertiary centres, ER histology resulted in altered grading or staging in 48% of patients (down 28%, up 20%) and complete Barrett's excision was successful in 94% with no metachronous lesions detected after a mean follow-up of 31 months.^[11] In nodular lesions, ER with histological examination provides greater utility than staging by EUS.^{[17][18]}

ER does carry risks of perforation, bleeding and anaesthetic-associated risk although rates of these adverse events were low in most series.^{[11][18][19]} Stricturing is an additional risk, particularly where long segment circumferential ER is performed. Contraindications to ER may include ulcerated or depressed lesions, coagulopathy, stricturing or poor endoscopic access to the lesion. If ER is performed with curative intent in EOA, it is important to enrol patients into a strict surveillance program with high-definition white light endoscopy and digital chromoendoscopy, due to the risk of developing metachronous lesions.

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.1.20.1.4 Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)

EUS has been used as a staging tool in EOA to determine depth of infiltration and the presence of lymph node metastases prior to referral for endoscopic therapy or oesophagectomy. Studies have shown that EUS is superior to computed tomography (CT) for delineating tumour depth staging and the presence of pathological lymph nodes.^[20] The T-staging accuracy of EUS for EOA and high grade dysplasia in the setting of Barrett's Oesophagus has been questioned. A systematic review of 12 studies with data on 292 patients with oesophageal high grade dysplasia or EOA comparing EUS with surgery or ER pathology staging found a T-stage concordance of 65% across all studies and 56% concordance in 8 studies with individual patient level data.^[21] In another meta-analysis of patients with either superficial oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) or adenocarcinoma, a subgroup analysis found the overall EUS accuracy for differentiating mucosal (T1a) from submucosal (T1b) oesophageal adenocarcinoma was 143 of 170 lesions (84%).^[22] Other studies confirm a significant false positive rate for diagnosis of submucosal invasion (up to 84%) which may lead to unnecessary oesophagectomy in patients that could be successfully treated with ER.^{[23][24]} High frequency miniprobe EUS. with improved image resolution, still has limited accuracy in the detection of submucosal invasion of early oesophageal cancers.^[24] Chemaly et al demonstrated in their study of 91 patients with superficial Barrett's adenocarcinoma or SCC, that the overall accuracy of miniprobe EUS was 73.5%. In the same study, a statistically significant difference in the accuracy rate of EUS was noted, dependant on lesion location within the oesophagus, with 87.1% of proximal and mid oesophagus lesions staged accurately compared with 47.6% of distal oesophagus lesions. The endoscopic morphology of visible lesions within Barrett's Oesophagus may also be useful for predicting the histologic T-stage, with one series demonstrating that Paris type 0-IIb (flat) lesions were always confined to the mucosal layer, whereas Paris type 0-IIc (depressed) lesions almost invariably had submucosal invasion.^[25] EUS evaluation before ER therefore appears to have limited value in the absence of suspicious endoscopic features.

It is important to differentiate the relatively poor performance of EUS in staging EOA, as distinct from staging for more advanced lesions (\geq T2) and lymph node metastasis. In a study of 100 consecutive patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and EOA, EUS proved to be highly accurate in differentiating T1 from >T1 lesions (sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV all 100%) but not sufficiently reliable at differentiating T1m and T1sm (sensitivity 89% and 27% respectively).^[20] In a meta-analysis of patients with oesophageal cancer (SCC and adenocarcinoma) undergoing staging EUS, CT or 18F-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), EUS had the highest sensitivity at 80% but also the lowest specificity 70% for detection of regional lymph node metastases.^[26] EUS with fine-needle aspirate (FNA) increases specificity by allowing sampling of suspicious mediastinal or coeliac axis lymph nodes, which may significantly impact treatment decisions.^[27] EUS-FNA has been shown to be superior to EUS alone and CT for nodal staging.^{[20][28]}

Back to top

2.1.20.1.5 Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography (PET/CT)

FDG-PET and CT have a limited role in staging EOA due to small tumour size in many cases and infrequent regional lymph node and distant metastases. In a retrospective series of 58 patients with superficial oesophageal adenocarcinoma, FDG-PET could not differentiate high grade dysplasia (Tis) from invasive T1



cancer, with 45% of Tis tumours having FDG uptake compared with 55% of T1 tumours.^[29] For the evaluation of distant metastases, FDG-PET probably has a higher sensitivity than CT although its combined use allows more precise anatomical location of metastases.^[26] In a prospective series of 139 patients with oesophageal cancer (85 adenocarcinoma, 53 SCC), PET/CT changed the stage group in 40% and resulted in a change in management in one third of patients, and had powerful prognostic stratification.^[30] CT has also been found to be inferior to EUS for T-staging and detection of locoregional lymph node metastases^[20] and should be reserved for staging of distant metastases in combination with FDG-PET or alone when PET is unavailable. However, in patients where surgery is being considered (for example due to submucosal invasion in the ER specimen), a PET-CT scan would usually be requested by the surgeon prior to proceeding with surgery.

Back to top

2.1.20.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic resection (ER) results in a change in pre-treatment diagnosis after systematic biopsies in patients with Barrett's-related dysplasia or adenocarcinoma.	IV	[10] _, [14] _, [15] , ^[16]
ER allows improved pathological staging of high grade dysplasia and T1m and T1sm adenocarcinoma as compared with biopsy and endoscopic ultrasound (EUS).	IV	[16] _, [18]
Rates of adverse events following ER performed at expert centres are low.	IV	[11] _, [18] _, [19]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Endoscopic resection is the most accurate staging modality for early oesophageal adenocarcinoma for suitable lesions and where appropriate expertise is available.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic ultrasound has inadequate accuracy in determining the stage of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma, especially distinguishing T1m from T1sm tumours. In contrast, EUS is effective for differentiating between T1 and >T1 stages.	IV	[21] _, [24]
Endoscopic ultrasound and EUS-guide fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) are superior to computed tomography (CT) for locoregional lymph node staging	IV	[20] _, [28]



Evidence-based recommendationGradeEndoscopic ultrasound can be used prior to endoscopic resection for the identification of
deeply invasive adenocarcinoma (≥T2) and locoregional lymph node metastasis, particularly
for lesions with ulcerated or depressed morphology.D

Evidence summary	Level	References
FDG-PET cannot reliably differentiate oesophageal high grade dysplasia from invasive T1 adenocarcinoma.	IV	[29]
For the evaluation of distant metastases, FDG-PET probably has a higher sensitivity than CT although its combined use allows more precise determination of location of metastases.	IV	[26] _, [30]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
FDG-PET or PET/CT is not routinely indicated in staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma. It is best used for the staging of distant metastases or in cases of suspected more advanced local disease.	D

Back to top

2.1.20.3 References

- 1. ↑ Edge SB, Compton CC. *The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM.* Ann Surg Oncol 2010 Jun;17(6):1471-4 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20180029.
- ↑ Bennett C, Vakil N, Bergman J, Harrison R, Odze R, Vieth M, et al. *Consensus statements for management of Barrett's dysplasia and early-stage esophageal adenocarcinoma, based on a Delphi process.* Gastroenterology 2012 Aug 1;143(2):336-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22537613.
- ↑ Leers JM, DeMeester SR, Oezcelik A, Klipfel N, Ayazi S, Abate E, et al. *The prevalence of lymph node metastases in patients with T1 esophageal adenocarcinoma a retrospective review of esophagectomy specimens.* Ann Surg 2011 Feb;253(2):271-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21119508.



- ↑ Rice TW, Zuccaro G Jr, Adelstein DJ, Rybicki LA, Blackstone EH, Goldblum JR. *Esophageal carcinoma: depth of tumor invasion is predictive of regional lymph node status.* Ann Thorac Surg 1998 Mar;65(3):787-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9527214.
- 5. ↑ Buskens CJ, Westerterp M, Lagarde SM, Bergman JJ, ten Kate FJ, van Lanschot JJ. Prediction of appropriateness of local endoscopic treatment for high-grade dysplasia and early adenocarcinoma by EUS and histopathologic features. Gastrointest Endosc 2004 Nov;60(5):703-10 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15557945.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Westerterp M, Koppert LB, Buskens CJ, Tilanus HW, ten Kate FJ, Bergman JJ, et al. *Outcome of surgical treatment for early adenocarcinoma of the esophagus or gastro-esophageal junction.* Virchows Arch 2005 May;446(5):497-504 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15838647.
- 7. ↑ Badreddine RJ, Prasad GA, Lewis JT, Lutzke LS, Borkenhagen LS, Dunagan KT, et al. *Depth of submucosal invasion does not predict lymph node metastasis and survival of patients with esophageal carcinoma.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Mar;8(3):248-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/19948247.
- Nigro JJ, Hagen JA, DeMeester TR, DeMeester SR, Theisen J, Peters JH, et al. *Occult esophageal adenocarcinoma: extent of disease and implications for effective therapy.* Ann Surg 1999 Sep;230(3):433-8; discussion 438-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10493489.
- 9. ↑ Falk GW, Rice TW, Goldblum JR, Richter JE. *Jumbo biopsy forceps protocol still misses unsuspected cancer in Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia.* Gastrointest Endosc 1999 Feb;49(2):170-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9925694.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} ^{10.2} Ayers K, Shi C, Washington K, Yachimski P. *Expert pathology review and endoscopic mucosal resection alters the diagnosis of patients referred to undergo therapy for Barrett's esophagus.* Surg Endosc 2013 Aug;27(8):2836-40 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23389078.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} ^{11.2} ^{11.3} Moss A, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Gupta S, Williams SJ, Tran K, et al. *Endoscopic resection for Barrett's high-grade dysplasia and early esophageal adenocarcinoma: an essential staging procedure with long-term therapeutic benefit.* Am J Gastroenterol 2010 Jun;105(6):1276-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20179694.
- 12. ↑ Ell C, May A, Pech O, Gossner L, Guenter E, Behrens A, et al. *Curative endoscopic resection of early* esophageal adenocarcinomas (Barrett's cancer). Gastrointest Endosc 2007 Jan;65(1):3-10 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17185072.
- 13. ↑ Manner H, May A, Pech O, Gossner L, Rabenstein T, Günter E, et al. *Early Barrett's carcinoma with "low-risk" submucosal invasion: long-term results of endoscopic resection with a curative intent.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Oct;103(10):2589-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18785950.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} Wani S, Abrams J, Edmundowicz SA, Gaddam S, Hovis CE, Green D, et al. *Endoscopic Mucosal Resection Results in Change of Histologic Diagnosis in Barrett's Esophagus Patients with Visible and Flat Neoplasia: A Multicenter Cohort Study.* Dig Dis Sci 2013 Apr 30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/23633158.
- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} Conio M, Repici A, Cestari R, Blanchi S, Lapertosa G, Missale G, et al. *Endoscopic mucosal resection for high-grade dysplasia and intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: an Italian experience.* World J Gastroenterol 2005 Nov 14;11(42):6650-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/16425359.



- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} ^{16.2} Mino-Kenudson M, Brugge WR, Puricelli WP, Nakatsuka LN, Nishioka NS, Zukerberg LR, et al. *Management of superficial Barrett's epithelium-related neoplasms by endoscopic mucosal resection: clinicopathologic analysis of 27 cases.* Am J Surg Pathol 2005 May;29(5):680-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15832094.
- 17. ↑ Bulsiewicz WJ, Dellon ES, Rogers AJ, Pasricha S, Madanick RD, Grimm IS, et al. *The impact of endoscopic ultrasound findings on clinical decision making in Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia or early esophageal adenocarcinoma.* Dis Esophagus 2012 Sep 27 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/23016606.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} ^{18.2} ^{18.3} Larghi A, Lightdale CJ, Memeo L, Bhagat G, Okpara N, Rotterdam H. *EUS followed by EMR for staging of high-grade dysplasia and early cancer in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2005 Jul;62(1):16-23 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15990814.
- 19. ↑ ^{19.0} ^{19.1} Nurkin SJ, Nava HR, Yendamuri S, Levea CM, Nwogu CE, Groman A, et al. *Outcomes of endoscopic resection for high-grade dysplasia and esophageal cancer.* Surg Endosc 2013 Nov 14 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24232046.
- 20. ↑ ^{20.0} ^{20.1} ^{20.2} ^{20.3} ^{20.4} Pech O, May A, Günter E, Gossner L, Ell C. *The impact of endoscopic ultrasound and computed tomography on the TNM staging of early cancer in Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Oct;101(10):2223-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17032186.
- 21. ↑ ^{21.0} ^{21.1} Young PE, Gentry AB, Acosta RD, Greenwald BD, Riddle M. *Endoscopic ultrasound does not accurately stage early adenocarcinoma or high-grade dysplasia of the esophagus.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Dec;8(12):1037-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20831900.
- 22. ↑ Thosani N, Singh H, Kapadia A, Ochi N, Lee JH, Ajani J, et al. *Diagnostic accuracy of EUS in differentiating mucosal versus submucosal invasion of superficial esophageal cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Feb;75(2):242-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22115605.
- 23. ↑ Fernández-Sordo JO, Konda VJ, Chennat J, Madrigal-Hoyos E, Posner MC, Ferguson MK, et al. *Is Endoscopic Ultrasound (EUS) necessary in the pre-therapeutic assessment of Barrett's esophagus with early neoplasia?* J Gastrointest Oncol 2012 Dec;3(4):314-21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/23205307.
- 24. ↑ ^{24.0} ^{24.1} ^{24.2} Chemaly M, Scalone O, Durivage G, Napoleon B, Pujol B, Lefort C, et al. *Miniprobe EUS in the pretherapeutic assessment of early esophageal neoplasia.* Endoscopy 2008 Jan;40(1):2-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18058614.
- 25. ↑ Thomas T, Gilbert D, Kaye PV, Penman I, Aithal GP, Ragunath K. *High-resolution endoscopy and endoscopic ultrasound for evaluation of early neoplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Surg Endosc 2010 May;24 (5):1110-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19915911.
- 26. ↑ ^{26.0} ^{26.1} ^{26.2} van Vliet EP, Heijenbrok-Kal MH, Hunink MG, Kuipers EJ, Siersema PD. *Staging investigations for oesophageal cancer: a meta-analysis.* Br J Cancer 2008 Feb 12;98(3):547-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18212745.
- 27. ↑ Shami VM, Villaverde A, Stearns L, Chi KD, Kinney TP, Rogers GB, et al. *Clinical impact of conventional* endosonography and endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in the assessment of patients with Barrett's esophagus and high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma who have been referred for endoscopic ablation therapy. Endoscopy 2006 Feb;38(2):157-61 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/16479423.



- 28. ↑ ^{28.0} ^{28.1} Vazquez-Sequeiros E, Wiersema MJ, Clain JE, Norton ID, Levy MJ, Romero Y, et al. *Impact of lymph node staging on therapy of esophageal carcinoma.* Gastroenterology 2003 Dec;125(6):1626-35 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14724814.
- 29. ↑ ^{29.0} ^{29.1} Little SG, Rice TW, Bybel B, Mason DP, Murthy SC, Falk GW, et al. *Is FDG-PET indicated for superficial esophageal cancer?* Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2007 May;31(5):791-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17337344.
- 30. ↑ ^{30.0} ^{30.1} Barber TW, Duong CP, Leong T, Bressel M, Drummond EG, Hicks RJ. *18F-FDG PET/CT has a high impact on patient management and provides powerful prognostic stratification in the primary staging of esophageal cancer: a prospective study with mature survival data.* J Nucl Med 2012 Jun;53(6):864-71 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22582047.

Back to top

2.1.20.4 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.2 Diagnostic biomarkers for BO



2.2.1 Are there biomarkers for the diagnosis (presence) of BO?



2.2.1.1 Introduction

Numerous biomarkers have been proposed for the diagnosis of BO, including tissue biomarkers to supplement standard histopathology, serum biomarkers as a non-invasive alternative to endoscopy and biopsy, or use of technology such as magnifying endoscopy to aid in the identification of BO for accurate targeting of biopsies. However, none have been implemented as standard clinical practice.

Accepting the limited observational evidence that early detection and surveillance leads to improved survival,^[1]

^[2] to be of clinical value a new biomarker would need to demonstrate improved accuracy compared to current practice, or similar accuracy with other benefits, such as being less invasive. A biomarker would be clinically valuable if it had improved sensitivity (higher true positive rate) compared to standard histopathology examination with acceptable specificity (acceptable false positive rate) and cost. If the new biomarker is more sensitive but less specific than histopathology, its acceptability would need to be assessed by considering the trade-off between the clinical benefits of detecting additional true positive cases that may benefit from surveillance versus the harms of additional false positive results that may lead to unnecessary surveillance procedures.

In the updated 2008 practice guidelines for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's Oesophagus, Wang et al^[3] proposes the ideal biomarker panel for the diagnosis of BO to be "non-invasive (ie – nonendoscopic) and sensitive – 85% or better". We have implemented this benchmark in order to evaluate the size of effect. For example, to assign a grade '3' ('the confidence interval does not include any clinically important effects'), the 95% confidence interval for test sensitivity falls below and does not include the 85% benchmark.

Back to top

2.2.1.2 Biomarkers for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus

Twenty studies reporting on the clinical performance of biomarkers proposed for the diagnosis of BO were eligible for inclusion in the systematic review. These included:

i) seven diagnostic case control studies^{[4][5][6][7][8][9][10]} and one systematic review^[11] reporting on the accuracy of cytokeratin staining pattern to distinguish between BO and gastric intestinal metaplasia. The Nurgalieva review^[11] included sixteen studies published from 1983-2005, which included six of the seven studies analysed here as well as nine studies that were ineligible for the present review because they were published prior to the publication of the Ormsby study.^[4]

ii) two studies (one perspective diagnostic case control study and one prospective cohort study) reporting on the accuracy of Trefoil Factor 3 (TFF3) collected using a cytosponge to detect BO;^{[12][13]}

iii) six retrospective diagnostic case control studies reporting on the accuracy of different immunohistochemical biomarkers to detect goblet cells and distinguish BO from gastric intestinal metaplasia (Mucin expression^{[14][15]}; Hepatocyte expression^{[16][17]}; Human defensin 5^[18]; and CDX2 and Villin^[19]);

iv) two studies (one prospective diagnostic case control study and one diagnostic cohort study) reporting on the accuracy of using magnifying endoscopy to detect BO^{[20][21]};



v) one prospective case control study investigating a potential tissue protein biomarker ${\sf AG2}^{[22]}$ and

vi) one prospective case control study investigating a potential serum biomarker G-17.^[23]

Back to top

Appendix - Body of evidence assessment

2.2.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Seven studies provided low quality evidence for evaluation of cytokeratin staining for distinguishing BO from gastric intestinal metaplasia. Estimates of diagnostic accuracy were inconsistent across studies.	III-2, III-3	[4] _, [5] _, [6] _, [7] , [9] _, [8] _, [10]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend cytokeratin staining to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
Four studies provided low quality evidence for evaluation of immunohistochemistry biomarkers for distinguishing Barrett's Oesophagus from cardiac intestinal metaplasia. It was not possible to estimate the clinical accuracy of the biomarkers in the proposed test population due to the methodological limitations in the selection of cases, controls and reporting of the reference standard.	III-3, IV	[16] _, [18] _, [17] , ^[19]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend the implementation of immunohistochemistry biomarkers to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
Two studies provided low quality evidence for evaluation of mucin (MUC) immunostaining of non-goblet epithelium for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	III-3	[15] _, [14]

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Evidence summary	Level	References
Test accuracy estimates were inconsistent between these studies but established proof of concept of the test as a potential strategy to overcome problems of sampling error when used in addition to the current method for diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.		

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend mucin (MUC) expression immunostaining in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
Two studies provided a satisfactory evidence base for evaluation of a non- endoscopic capsule sponge device coupled with immunohistochemistry for Trefoil factor 3 (TFF3) for BO screening with estimates of test accuracy approaching that of the current clinical standard. As a non-endoscopic test, the potential clinical impact is substantial. Implementation is dependent on further high quality evidence from representative populations.	-2, -3	[12] _, [13]

vidence-based recommendation	Grade
sufficient high quality evidence exists to recommend the non-endoscopic capsule sponge evice coupled with immunohistochemistry for trefoil factor 3 (TFF3) to replace the current inical standard for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	С

Evidence summary	Level	References
One study provided low quality evidence for evaluation of serum G17 as a biomarker for the diagnosis of Barrett Oesophagus. Reported poor specificity indicates an unacceptably large number of non-BO cases are incorrectly identified as Barrett's Oesophagus by this test.	III-3	[23]



Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend the implementation of serum G17 for the diagnosis of Barret's Oesophagus.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
One study provided low quality evidence for evaluation of AG2 expression in fresh	III-3	[22]
tissue as a protein biomarker for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus. Reported		
sensitivity was poor and well below that of the current clinical standard.		

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend evaluation of AG2 expression as a protein biomarker in fresh tissue to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D

Evidence summary	Level	References
Two studies provided a satisfactory level of evidence for evaluation of the use of magnifying endoscopy to aid in the identification of Barrett's Oesophagus. Evidence was inconsistent between these studies but established proof of concept of the test to overcome problems of sampling error when used in addition to the current method for diagnosis of BO. Neither study gave a valid comparison with current clinical standards for the diagnosis of BO in an appropriate target population.	II, III- 3	[20] _, [21]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Insufficient evidence exists to recommend magnifying endoscopy to aid in the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus.	D



Practice point

Thorough endoscopic sampling (Seattle protocol) coupled with H&E staining of sections and interpretation by trained, expert pathologists is advised for the diagnosis of Barrett's Oesophagus. More clinical research is required before biomarkers for Barrett's Oesophagus can be implemented as standard clinical practice.

Back to top

2.2.3 Issues requiring further clinical research study

- Proof of concept of mucin (MUC) immunostaining of non-goblet epithelium for the diagnosis of BO has been established by Glickman et al^[14] and McIntire et al.^[15] Application of a more rigorous study design (such as a prospective cohort study) to this question is required to attain further high quality evidence to establish test accuracy. A valid comparison to the subset of patients missed by sampling error (false negative) using the current clinical standard is required.
- Further high quality evidence (prospective cohort study or randomised clinical trial) to confirm the accuracy of a non-endoscopic capsule sponge device coupled with immunohistochemistry for Trefoil factor 3 (TFF3) for the diagnosis of BO is required for the test to be considered for implementation as clinical practice. Economic implications of implementation of the test have not yet been investigated.
- Proof of concept of the use of magnifying endoscopy overcome problems of sampling error and aid in the identification of BO has been established by Endo et al^[20] and Norimura et al.^[21] Application of a more rigorous study design to this question is required to attain further high quality evidence to establish test accuracy. A valid comparison to the current clinical standard for the diagnosis of BO in an appropriate target population is required.

Back to top

2.2.4 References

- ↑ Cooper GS, Kou TD, Chak A. Receipt of previous diagnoses and endoscopy and outcome from esophageal adenocarcinoma: a population-based study with temporal trends. Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Jun; 104(6):1356-62 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19491849.
- Corley DA, Mehtani K, Quesenberry C, Zhao W, de Boer J, Weiss NS. *Impact of Endoscopic Surveillance on Mortality from Barrett's Esophagus-Associated Esophageal Adenocarcinomas.* Gastroenterology 2013 May 11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23673354.
- 3. ↑ Wang KK, Sampliner RE, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. *Updated guidelines 2008 for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's esophagus.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Mar;103(3):788-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18341497.



- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} Ormsby AH, Vaezi MF, Richter JE, Goldblum JR, Rice TW, Falk GW, et al. *Cytokeratin immunoreactivity patterns in the diagnosis of short-segment Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2000 Sep;119(3):683-90 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10982762.
- 5. ↑ ^{5.0 5.1} El-Zimaity HM, Graham DY. *Cytokeratin subsets for distinguishing Barrett's esophagus from intestinal metaplasia in the cardia using endoscopic biopsy specimens.* Am J Gastroenterol 2001 May;96 (5):1378-82 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11374671.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Mohammed IA, Streutker CJ, Riddell RH. *Utilization of cytokeratins 7 and 20 does not differentiate between Barrett's esophagus and gastric cardiac intestinal metaplasia.* Mod Pathol 2002 Jun;15(6):611-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12065774.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Kurtkaya-Yapicier O, Gencosmanoglu R, Avsar E, Bakirci N, Tozun N, Sav A. *The utility of cytokeratins 7 and 20 (CK7/20) immunohistochemistry in the distinction of short-segment Barrett esophagus from gastric intestinal metaplasia: Is it reliable?* BMC Clin Pathol 2003 Dec 2;3(1):5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14651756.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1} Schilling D, Spiethoff A, Rosenbaum A, Hartmann D, Eickhoff A, Jakobs R, et al. *Does Cytokeratin7 /20 immunoreactivity help to distinguish Barrett's esophagus from gastric intestinal metaplasia? Results of a prospective study of 75 patients.* Pathol Res Pract 2005;200(11-12):801-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15792123.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Yim HJ, Lee SW, Choung RS, Kim YS, Kim JY, Lee HS, et al. *Is cytokeratin immunoreactivity useful in the diagnosis of short-segment Barrett's oesophagus in Korea?* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005 Jun;17 (6):611-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15879722.
- ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} White NM, Gabril M, Ejeckam G, Mathews M, Fardy J, Kamel F, et al. *Barrett's esophagus and cardiac intestinal metaplasia: two conditions within the same spectrum.* Can J Gastroenterol 2008 Apr;22 (4):369-75 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18414711.
- ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Nurgalieva Z, Lowrey A, El-Serag HB. *The use of cytokeratin stain to distinguish Barrett's esophagus from contiguous tissues: a systematic review.* Dig Dis Sci 2007 May;52(5):1345-54 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17373588.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} Lao-Sirieix P, Boussioutas A, Kadri SR, O'Donovan M, Debiram I, Das M, et al. *Non-endoscopic screening biomarkers for Barrett's oesophagus: from microarray analysis to the clinic.* Gut 2009 Nov;58 (11):1451-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19651633.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} Kadri SR, Lao-Sirieix P, O'Donovan M, Debiram I, Das M, Blazeby JM, et al. *Acceptability and accuracy of a non-endoscopic screening test for Barrett's oesophagus in primary care: cohort study.* BMJ 2010 Sep 10;341:c4372 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20833740.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} ^{14.2} Glickman JN, Shahsafaei A, Odze RD. *Mucin core peptide expression can help differentiate Barrett's esophagus from intestinal metaplasia of the stomach.* Am J Surg Pathol 2003 Oct;27(10):1357-65 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14508397.
- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} ^{15.2} McIntire MG, Soucy G, Vaughan TL, Shahsafaei A, Odze RD. *MUC2 is a highly specific marker of goblet cell metaplasia in the distal esophagus and gastroesophageal junction.* Am J Surg Pathol 2011 Jul;35(7):1007-13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21602660.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Chu PG, Jiang Z, Weiss LM. *Hepatocyte antigen as a marker of intestinal metaplasia.* Am J Surg Pathol 2003 Jul;27(7):952-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12826887.



- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} Zhang J, Parwani AV, Ali SZ. *Hepatocyte paraffin 1 immunoexpression in esophageal brush samples.* Cancer 2005 Oct 25;105(5):304-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /15918175.
- 18. ↑ ^{18.0} ^{18.1} Shen B, Porter EM, Reynoso E, Shen C, Ghosh D, Connor JT, et al. *Human defensin 5 expression in intestinal metaplasia of the upper gastrointestinal tract.* J Clin Pathol 2005 Jul;58(7):687-94 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15976333.
- 19. ↑ ^{19.0} ^{19.1} Shi XY, Bhagwandeen B, Leong AS. *CDX2 and villin are useful markers of intestinal metaplasia in the diagnosis of Barrett esophagus.* Am J Clin Pathol 2008 Apr;129(4):571-7 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18343784.
- 20. ↑ ^{20.0} ^{20.1} ^{20.2} Endo T, Awakawa T, Takahashi H, Arimura Y, Itoh F, Yamashita K, et al. *Classification of Barrett's epithelium by magnifying endoscopy.* Gastrointest Endosc 2002 May;55(6):641-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11979244.
- 1. 1^{21.0} 2^{1.1} 2^{1.2} Norimura D, Isomoto H, Nakayama T, Hayashi T, Suematsu T, Nakashima Y, et al. Magnifying endoscopic observation with narrow band imaging for specialized intestinal metaplasia in barrett's esophagus with special reference to light blue crests. Dig Endosc 2010 Apr;22(2):101-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20447202.
- 22. ↑ ^{22.0} ^{22.1} Groome M, Lindsay J, Ross PE, Cotton JP, Hupp TR, Dillon JF. Use of oesophageal stress response proteins as potential biomarkers in the screening for Barrett's oesophagus. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008 Oct;20(10):961-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18787461.
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Sipponen P, Vauhkonen M, Helske T, Kaariainen I, Harkonen M. *Low circulating levels of gastrin-17 in patients with Barrett's esophagus.* World J Gastroenterol 2005 Oct 14;11(38):5988-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16273611.

Back to top

2.2.5 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation		evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.3 Management low grade dysplasia

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Contents

- 1 What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?
 - 1.1 Introduction
 - 1.2 Management strategies for low grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus1.3 Summary
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 4 References
- 5 Appendices

2.3.1 What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.3.1.1 Introduction

Low grade dysplasia (LGD) has long been regarded as a condition associated with only a modest increase in the risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma development, compared to non-dysplastic Barrett's. Published guidelines recommend increased frequency of surveillance.^{[1][2]} Until recently there has been no strong evidence to indicate that ablation therapy reduces neoplasia development in LGD. However, recent European studies have suggested that when individuals have confirmed low grade dysplasia that is agreed on by expert pathologists, the risk of progression to neoplasia is higher than previously thought.^{[3][4][5]} This information, combined with more robust evidence regarding the efficacy of radiofrequency ablation (RFA) have led to increased use of ablation therapy for LGD. A recent randomised controlled trial supports this approach.^[5]

The decision to advise intensified surveillance or endoscopic ablation for LGD needs to take into account the features of the Barrett's segment and histology as well as patient age, fitness and preference.

No strong evidence exists for surgical antireflux procedures or chemoprevention as interventions for LGD.

Uncertainty regarding risk of low grade dysplasia progression

The management of patients diagnosed with Barrett's oesophagus with low grade dysplasia (LGD) is currently uncertain, as there is considerable debate about the risks of progression to high grade dysplasia (HGD) or cancer in this group. Population-based studies which have followed Barrett's oesophagus patients diagnosed with LGD in the community have reported rates of progression to cancer of ~0.5% p.a. (Hvid-Jensen et al 2011). In contrast, studies undertaken in academic centres in which diagnoses of LGD are made only after review by expert gastrointestinal pathologists report rates of progression as high as 13% p.a. (Curvers et al 2010). Importantly, in those studies, about 85% of patients diagnosed originally with LGD were down-staged to non-dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus upon expert review. In the group of down-staged patients, the rate of progression



Back to top

was ~0.5% p.a – about the same as the rate observed in the community-based studies. These apparently conflicting data have implications for how LGD is diagnosed, how patients are managed and frequency of surveillance.

2.3.1.2 Management strategies for low grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus

Diagnosis of LGD

The histological diagnosis of LGD is subject to poor inter-observer agreement between pathologists^{[2][3]} (see also What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?). When the diagnosis of LGD is confirmed by two or more pathologists, the incidence of progression is substantially higher than when pathologists disagree on the diagnosis.^[3] Therefore, confirmation of the diagnosis of LGD by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist, is essential in estimating the risk of progression and deciding on management.

Back to top

Surveillance for LGD and risk of progression to HGD and cancer

Continued surveillance but at shorter intervals of 6-12 months has been the standard of care for LGD in Barrett's (see also How Frequently Should Patients with Barrett's Oesophagus Undergo Endoscopy?). However, recent studies have suggested a rate of progression higher than previously estimated, leading some experts to advocate ablation for LGD.

a. Progression of LGD to cancer

The reported incidence of cancer arising in patients with LGD has varied greatly from no greater than in nondysplastic Barrett's to much higher rates. A systematic review was conducted in 2009^[6] assessing the rate of progression to cancer of LGD, high grade dysplasia (HGD) and non-dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus. The weighted average incidence rate for progression to cancer from LGD was 17/1000 patient years. This compared with 6/1000 patient years for non-dysplastic Barrett's and 66/1000 patient years for HGD.

b. Progression to HGD or cancer

Three recent European studies have evaluated the incidence of progression from LGD to either HGD or cancer and found surprisingly high progression rates. A German study derived from community based practices demonstrated 19% progression over two years.^[4] A Dutch study of 147 individuals diagnosed with LGD from non-university hospitals found that when the slides were reviewed by two expert pathologists, only 15% (22) were still considered LGD, with 85% downstaged to non-dysplastic or indefinite. Among those considered to have true LGD, 85% were found to have cancer (two patients) or HGD (six patients) over 109 months follow-up (progression rate 13.4% per year).^[3] The same researchers along with other European groups performed a RCT of RFA versus surveillance and found progression to HGD or cancer in 26.5% of the surveillance group at three years.^[5]



c. Endoscopic surveillance of LGD and detection of HGD and cancer

The purpose of surveillance in LGD is to detect HGD and cancer in order to intervene with endoscopic ablation or surgery. High definition endoscopes with narrow band imaging can be used in expert centres to detect visible mucosal abnormalities in most individuals with HGD or cancer.^[7] In a study of 50 consecutive patients referred to an expert tertiary referral centre for assessment of dysplastic BO, all patients with HGD found on 4 quadrant biopsies every 1cm from flat mucosa. Many of these individuals had only LGD as their worst prior pathology. This raises the possibility that some individuals in other studies considered to have progression from LGD to HGD or cancer may have had potentially visible lesions that were missed on initial assessment. In individuals found to have confirmed LGD, very careful endoscopic assessment is mandatory and referral to an expert centre should be considered. (see also What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?).

Back to top

Ablation therapies

The principle of ablation therapies is that neosquamous mucosa will replace the ablated area provided effective antireflux treatment is provided. There is a large literature on several forms of ablation for dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus: argon plasma coagulation (APC), photodynamic therapy (PDT), radiofrequency ablation (RFA), multipolar electrocautery (MPEC), Nd-YAG laser and cryotherapy. Most of these studies are uncontrolled case series. A systematic review of rates of progression to adenocarcinoma after ablation therapy with any of the modalities above, found a significantly reduced cancer incidence rate of 1.6/1000 patient years after ablation for LGD compared to 17/1000 patient years derived from surveillance studies.^[6]

Randomised controlled studies of RFA and PDT compared to surveillance have included significant numbers of individuals with LGD, but the number of cancers developing in LGD patients has been small, making it difficult to draw conclusions regarding efficacy for LGD. The randomised studies are described in more detail below.

a. Photodynamic therapy

Although six RCT's of PDT for Barrett's have been performed, only one of these provides useful data regarding individuals with LGD. Ackroyd et al.^[8] performed a RCT of PDT versus surveillance in 36 individuals with LGD. Sixteen out of eighteen in the treatment group showed a reduction in the area of Barrett's of median 30% compared to 2/16 in the placebo group. There was regression of LGD to non-dysplastic Barrett's in all 18 subjects treated with PDT compared to 4/16 in the placebo group (p<0.001). There were no cases of progression in either group. This study used the oral photosensitiser aminolevulinic acid, which is less likely to cause strictures than intravenous sensitising agents. No dysphagia or strictures were reported. Despite this positive study, PDT is currently not widely used, probably because the delivery system is somewhat more complex that other forms of ablation and the perceived risk of strictures. PDT has not been directly compared with RFA.

b. Radiofrequency ablation

i. Shaheen et al^[9] performed a multicentre, randomised, sham-controlled trial (AIM dysplasia trial) of RFA using the Barrx Halo system, initially with the Halo 360 balloon device and subsequently with the Halo 90 focal ablation device until all visible Barrett's was ablated. 127 subjects were enrolled, including 64 with



LGD who were randomised in 2:1 ratio to RFA or sham procedure. The primary outcome measures were complete eradication of dysplasia (CRD) and intestinal metaplasia (CRIM) and were reported at 12 months to be 90% and 80% respectively in the RFA-treated LGD patients compared to 2% and 23% respectively in the control group. Progression from LGD to HGD occurred in 5% of the treatment group and 14% of the sham group at 12 months, but no cancers occurred. Strictures occurred in 6% of RFA-treated individuals.

ii. RFA was also compared to surveillance in a European multicentre RCT involving only subjects with LGD.^[5] One hundred and thirty six subjects were randomised 1:1 to RFA or surveillance. The follow-up period was three years, at which point progression to cancer was reported in 8.8% of controls versus 1.5% in RFA treated subjects (p=0.03). 26.5% of control patients had progressed to HGD or cancer compared to 1.5% in the RFA group. Although this data appears compelling, the progression rate in the control group is high and occurred within 12 months of randomisation in many cases, suggesting prevalent lesions may have been missed at initial assessment. The pathological criteria for LGD were very stringent, potentially leading to exclusion of some individuals who may have been considered to have LGD by some pathologists. Corroborating evidence is needed to confirm the generalisability of these findings and also to determine whether particular subgroups with LGD are at higher risk than others.

iii. Durability of RFA. Shaheen et al^[10] reported on two and three year follow-up data from subjects who took part in the AIM dysplasia trial described above.^[9] Among LGD patients, 51/52 (98%) had eradication of dysplasia and intestinal metaplasia at two years. However, three subjects with initial LGD progressed to HGD despite RFA, but were successfully treated with RFA and /or EMR. Another patient progressed from LGD to adenocarcinoma that was successfully treated with EMR. These data demonstrate that ongoing careful surveillance is needed even after apparently successful ablation for LGD. Shaheen reported that 5.1% of RFA treated subjects had subsquamous intestinal metaplasia, compared 40% of controls, though the significance of this finding remains uncertain.^[9] Much longer term data are still needed to determine the longterm efficacy of RFA.

c. Economic analyses of radiofrequency ablation for LGD

A cost effectiveness analysis^[11] compared different strategies for managing LGD: A. surveillance six monthly for the first year after diagnosis then annually; RFA if HGD developed and oesophagectomy for cancer; B. RFA when LGD diagnosed then surveillance annually once eradicated. Although option A was less costly, there was considered to be an improved outcome in terms of quality-adjusted life years (QALY) using option B, with an incremental cost effectiveness ratio (ICER) of US\$18,231 per QALY, which is considered cost-effective. Option B remained cost-effective across a range of values for the relevant variables, such as risk of progression, efficacy, cost and durability of RFA, and quality of life after surgery. The major shortcoming of this model is that all cancer was treated with oesophagectomy and the potential to successfully treat many early cancers with endoscopic mucosal resection was not considered.

Back to top

Surgical therapies

Conventional antireflux surgery and also biliary diversion procedures have been studied in case series and have shown apparent regression of LGD in small numbers of patients. However, these series are uncontrolled and do not provide strong evidence of efficacy.^{[12][13]}.

Medical therapies

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.


There are no randomised trials that have specifically addressed the question of whether acid suppression with proton pump inhibitors reduces progression rate of dysplasia. Pharmacological therapy (chemoprevention) with celecoxib 200mg for 48 weeks for dysplastic Barrett's has been studied in a randomised, placebo-controlled study. This study included 64 individuals with LGD, but did not show any benefit in rates of regression or progression of dysplasia.^[14] Chemoprevention with aspirin is being studied, but there is no evidence at this stage to indicate an overall benefit in LGD.

Back to top

2.3.1.3 Summary

There are several areas of uncertainty relating to the LGD. Recent evidence suggests that when LGD is confirmed by agreement of at least two pathologists, there is a much higher incidence of progression to HGD or cancer than previously demonstrated. However, this information needs to confirmed by other researchers and the reason for the differences from other estimates still needs to be clarified. RCT's support the use of ablation with both PDT and RFA for LGD. For RFA, reduced progression to HGD and cancer has been demonstrated following RFA. On the other hand, ablation therapy is expensive, often uncomfortable and inconvenient for the patient and the long term efficacy of ablation is not known. Given that most individuals with LGD will probably not progress, the option of intensified surveillance continues to be a valid approach, though surveillance must be performed in a rigorous manner and referral to an expert centre should be considered. The decision to advise intensified surveillance or endoscopic ablation for LGD needs to take into account the features of the Barrett's segment and histology as well as patient age, fitness and preference. Where LGD is confirmed by two pathologists and is present on repeat endoscopies, ablation should be considered, especially in a relatively young and fit patient. RFA is the form of ablation with the strongest evidence.

Back to top

2.3.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
The histological diagnosis of LGD is subject to poor inter-observer agreement between pathologists. Confirmation of LGD by agreement between at least two pathologists predicts a higher risk of progression to HGD or cancer.	III-2	[3]
The average incidence rate for progression to cancer from LGD is 17/1000 patient years, which is approximately three times the risk for non-dysplastic Barrett's, though there is a broad range of progression rates reported from individual studies.	III-2, IV	[3], [6]
In individuals with confirmed LGD, more advanced lesions may be visualised by rigorous high definition endoscopy performed in an expert centre.	-1	[7]
Endoscopic ablation of with a range of methods is associated with lower rates of progression to cancer.	IV	[6]



Evidence summary	Level	References
RFA is the form of ablation with the strongest evidence for benefit in confirmed LGD, with an RCT demonstrating reduced progression to cancer or HGD.	П	[5]
There is no evidence to indicate that ablation for confirmed LGD results in reduced mortality compared to surveillance.		

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
The diagnosis of low grade dysplasia should be confirmed by a second pathologist, ideally an expert gastrointestinal pathologist.	С

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
In patients with confirmed low grade dysplasia, it is advised to perform rigorous high definition endoscopy or refer to an expert centre for assessment.	С

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
n patients with confirmed low grade dysplasia, intensified endoscopic surveillance is required. Endoscopic ablation may be considered especially where low grade dysplasia is definite, multifocal and present on more than one occasion. This decision needs to be ndividualised, based on discussion of risk and benefits with the patient.	В

Back to top

2.3.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- Are the high rates of progression of low grade dysplasia (LGD) shown in recent European studies replicated in studies from other regions?
- Exploration of potential reasons for high rates of progression are prevalent lesions missed on initial endoscopy in studies from community centres?
- What are the long-term outcomes after ablation for Barrett's with LGD? Is there significant risk of recurrent dysplasia and neoplasia from recurrent intestinal metplasia and buried Barrett's? How do the long-term outcomes compare with surveillance for LGD?
- Is it possible to identify a subgroup of LGD patients at higher or lower risk of progression?



Back to top

2.3.4 References

- ↑ Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21376940.
- 2. ↑ ^{2.0 2.1} Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association technical review on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):e18-52; quiz e13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/21376939.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} ^{3.2} ^{3.3} ^{3.4} ^{3.5} Curvers WL, ten Kate FJ, Krishnadath KK, Visser M, Elzer B, Baak LC, et al. *Low-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: overdiagnosed and underestimated.* Am J Gastroenterol 2010 Jul;105(7): 1523-30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20461069.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} von Rahden BH, Stein HJ, Weber A, Vieth M, Stolte M, Rösch T, et al. *Critical reappraisal of current surveillance strategies for Barrett's esophagus: analysis of a large German Barrett's database.* Dis Esophagus 2008;21(8):685-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18847456.
- 5. 1 5.0 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Phoa KN, van Vilsteren FG, Weusten BL, Bisschops R, Schoon EJ, Ragunath K, et al. Radiofrequency ablation vs endoscopic surveillance for patients with Barrett esophagus and low-grade dysplasia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014 Mar 26;311(12):1209-17 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24668102.
- ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} ^{6.3} Wani S, Puli SR, Shaheen NJ, Westhoff B, Slehria S, Bansal A, et al. *Esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus after endoscopic ablative therapy: a meta-analysis and systematic review.* Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Feb;104(2):502-13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/19174812.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0} ^{7.1} Jayasekera C, Taylor AC, Desmond PV, Macrae F, Williams R. *Added value of narrow band imaging and confocal laser endomicroscopy in detecting Barrett's esophagus neoplasia.* Endoscopy 2012 Dec;44(12):1089-95 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23188660.
- ↑ Ackroyd R, Brown NJ, Davis MF, Stephenson TJ, Marcus SL, Stoddard CJ, et al. *Photodynamic therapy for dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus: a prospective, double blind, randomised, placebo controlled trial.* Gut 2000 Nov;47(5):612-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11034574.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1 9.2} Shaheen NJ, Sharma P, Overholt BF, Wolfsen HC, Sampliner RE, Wang KK, et al. *Radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* N Engl J Med 2009 May 28;360(22):2277-88 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19474425.
- 10. ↑ Shaheen NJ, Overholt BF, Sampliner RE, Wolfsen HC, Wang KK, Fleischer DE, et al. *Durability of radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* Gastroenterology 2011 Aug;141(2):460-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21679712.
- 11. ↑ Hur C, Choi SE, Rubenstein JH, Kong CY, Nishioka NS, Provenzale DT, et al. *The cost effectiveness of radiofrequency ablation for Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2012 Sep;143(3):567-75 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22626608.



- ↑ Gurski RR, Peters JH, Hagen JA, DeMeester SR, Bremner CG, Chandrasoma PT, et al. Barrett's esophagus can and does regress after antireflux surgery: a study of prevalence and predictive features. J Am Coll Surg 2003 May;196(5):706-12; discussion 712-3 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/12742201.
- 13. ↑ Csendes A, Smok G, Burdiles P, Braghetto I, Castro C, Korn O. *Effect of duodenal diversion on low-grade dysplasia in patients with Barrett's esophagus: analysis of 37 patients.* J Gastrointest Surg 2002 Jul;6(4): 645-52 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12127135.
- 14. ↑ Heath EI, Canto MI, Piantadosi S, Montgomery E, Weinstein WM, Herman JG, et al. *Secondary chemoprevention of Barrett's esophagus with celecoxib: results of a randomized trial.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2007 Apr 4;99(7):545-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17405999.

Back to top

2.3.5 Appendices

Back to top

2.3.1 Treatment goals of high grade dysplasia BO patients

	Contents
1 What are the goals of treatment of high grade	dysplasia in patients with BO?
1.1 Introduction	
1.2 Confirmation of HGD diagnosis	
1.2.1 Histologic Confirmation (overstagin	ig)
1.2.2 Endoscopic Confirmation (understa	ging)
1.3 Goals of treatment	
2 Evidence summary and recommendations	
3 References	
4 Appendices	



2.3.1.1 What are the goals of treatment of high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.3.1.1.1 Introduction

There is no high level research evidence which directly answers this question. Therefore, the following is based on the evidence regarding various management strategies used in high grade dysplasia (HGD) and the risk of continued surveillance with no intervention.

There is a histologic progression from non-dysplastic Barrett's metaplasia to low grade dysplasia, high grade dysplasia, intramucosal cancer and invasive malignancy. Due to the rich lymphatic supply to the oesophagus, even early invasive malignancy has a significant chance of metastasis.^[1] For this reason, as well as the possibility of sampling error, high grade dysplasia has traditionally been the trigger for therapeutic intervention in Barrett's Oesophagus. Furthermore, the risk of progression to adenocarcinoma appears to accelerate with increasing dysplastic change (see also What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO? and What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?).

High grade dysplasia is prone to both over and under-staging. Therefore, given the importance of this diagnosis, the first goal of managing the patient with HGD is to confirm the diagnosis.

Back to top

2.3.1.1.2 Confirmation of HGD diagnosis

2.3.1.1.2.1 Histologic Confirmation (overstaging)

The intra-observer agreement for dysplasia staging of BO is poor. This is particularly so in the presence of reflux oesophagitis, where inflammatory atypia may be misinterpreted as HGD (ie: overstaging). Even amongst gastrointestinal pathologists inter-observer error for grading dysplasia is only moderate, with a kappa 0.43.^[2] It is therefore recommended that all BO specimens reported as HGD should be accompanied by a corroborating opinion by a second histopathologist.

2.3.1.1.2.2 Endoscopic Confirmation (understaging)

Surgical literature suggests that a significant proportion of patients operated on for "HGD" in fact had adenocarcinoma in the excised specimen. In the older surgical literature this was up to 20-40%^[3] but in a more recent study only 5% of those operated on for "HGD" had submucosal invasive disease at resection.^[4] It is, therefore, important to be as careful as possible in assessing the other mucosa for irregularities or nodules which may suggest more advanced disease. This should be done at the time of the index procedure. However, if the endoscopic appearance is not concerning, and the histological diagnosis of HGD is received subsequently, then it is suggested to repeat the endoscopy for further careful endoscopic assessment and biopsy. This detailed review of the patient's Barrett's segment may include the use of imaging enhancement techniques and



should include biopsy strategy according to the Seattle protocol. It may be reasonable to consider referring patients to a centre with expertise in the management of Barrett's Oesophagus for this detailed endoscopic review.^[5] Furthermore, any suspicious areas (irregularities, nodules or ulcerations) should be removed by endoscopic mucosal resection in order to permit full histologic assessment prior to determining management and particularly prior to undergoing ablative therapy (which does not afford further histologic review).

Back to top

2.3.1.1.3 Goals of treatment

Once the severity of neoplastic progression has been confirmed as being HGD (as far as practicable), the goal of treatment is to prevent the progression to malignancy through the removal of dysplastic tissue. More specifically the goals of treatment are:

- The removal of all dysplastic tissue^[6]
- The removal of all Barrett's metaplasia if possible^[6]
- Preservation of normal swallowing/nutrition
- Minimisation of morbidity due to the eradication technique
- Confirmation of the diagnosis of HGD (ie: exclusion of malignancy) through examination of resected tissue (endoscopically or surgically), where possible
- Continued follow up in patients who have had endoscopic therapy^[6]

There is no management strategy which perfectly fulfils all these criteria. There continues to be debate as to the most appropriate management of good surgical candidates.

Endoscopic mucosal resection may be used in four settings:

- as definitive treatment to remove all Barrett's in patients with short segment disease,
- to allow adequate histologic staging of nodular lesions (ie: acting as a "big biopsy"),
- to remove nodular lesions prior to confluent ablative therapy (eg: radiofrequency ablation which has a limited depth of approximately 500µm), or
- to remove suspicious lesions in poor health status patients as definitive therapy.

Confluent ablative therapies include photodynamic therapy (PDT), radiofrequency ablation (RFA), argon plasma coagulation and cryotherapy. In 2013 RFA has largely replaced PDT as the standard ablative treatment for high grade dysplasia. The primary aim of treatment is to remove all Barrett's tissue. With RFA, eradication of dysplasia is achieved in 86% of patients.^[7] Eradication of all Barrett's tissue is more difficult, achieved in 77% of patients.^[7] Of those patients undergoing successful eradication of all Barrett's tissue, 5-25% will have recurrence of Barrett's Oesophagus at 12 month follow-up.^{[8][9]} Therefore, even in cases where all Barrett's appears to have been eliminated, both by endoscopic visualisation as well as Seattle protocol biopsies of the neosquamous segment there is a need for continued long-term surveillance.^[6]



Surgical resection has the advantage of certainty – cancer can be excluded with certainty and the Barrett's segment is completely removed. This comes at a significant burden of morbidity (up to 40% in expert centres) ^{[10][11]} and mortality (approximately 2.5% in experienced centres), ^[12] but is still an option which should be discussed, particularly in the setting of relatively young patients.

Back to top

2.3.1.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

The confirmation of high grade dysplasia should act as a trigger for definitive treatment.

Back to top

2.3.1.3 References

- ↑ Stein HJ, Feith M, Bruecher BL, Naehrig J, Sarbia M, Siewert JR. *Early esophageal cancer: pattern of lymphatic spread and prognostic factors for long-term survival after surgical resection.* Ann Surg 2005 Oct; 242(4):566-73; discussion 573-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16192817.
- 1 Montgomery E, Bronner MP, Goldblum JR, Greenson JK, Haber MM, Hart J, et al. *Reproducibility of the diagnosis of dysplasia in Barrett esophagus: a reaffirmation.* Hum Pathol 2001 Apr;32(4):368-78 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11331953.
- 3. ↑ Collard JM. *High-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus. The case for esophagectomy.* Chest Surg Clin N Am 2002 Feb;12(1):77-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11901935.
- 4. ↑ Wang VS, Hornick JL, Sepulveda JA, Mauer R, Poneros JM. Low prevalence of submucosal invasive carcinoma at esophagectomy for high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a 20-year experience. Gastrointest Endosc 2009 Apr;69(4):777-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19136106.
- ↑ Cameron GR, Jayasekera CS, Williams R, Macrae FA, Desmond PV, Taylor AC. *Detection and staging of esophageal cancers within Barrett's esophagus is improved by assessment in specialized Barrett's units.* Gastrointest Endosc 2014 Jun 11 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24929493.
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} ^{6.2} ^{6.3} Bennett C, Vakil N, Bergman J, Harrison R, Odze R, Vieth M, et al. *Consensus statements for management of Barrett's dysplasia and early-stage esophageal adenocarcinoma, based on a Delphi process.* Gastroenterology 2012 Aug 1;143(2):336-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22537613.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0 7.1} Rees JR, Lao-Sirieix P, Wong A, Fitzgerald RC. *Treatment for Barrett's oesophagus*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Jan 20;(1):CD004060 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /20091557.
- ↑ Orman ES, Kim HP, Bulsiewicz WJ, Cotton CC, Dellon ES, Spacek MB, et al. *Intestinal Metaplasia Recurs Infrequently in Patients Successfully Treated for Barrett's Esophagus With Radiofrequency Ablation.* Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Dec 18 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23247578.



- ↑ Vaccaro BJ, Gonzalez S, Poneros JM, Stevens PD, Capiak KM, Lightdale CJ, et al. *Detection of intestinal metaplasia after successful eradication of Barrett's Esophagus with radiofrequency ablation.* Dig Dis Sci 2011 Jul;56(7):1996-2000 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21468652.
- 10. ↑ Osugi H, Takemura M, Higashino M, Takada N, Lee S, Ueno M, et al. *Learning curve of video-assisted thoracoscopic esophagectomy and extensive lymphadenectomy for squamous cell cancer of the thoracic esophagus and results.* Surg Endosc 2003 Mar;17(3):515-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/12399847.
- 11. ↑ Ben-David K, Sarosi GA, Cendan JC, Howard D, Rossidis G, Hochwald SN. *Decreasing morbidity and mortality in 100 consecutive minimally invasive esophagectomies.* Surg Endosc 2012 Jan;26(1):162-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21792712.
- 12. ↑ Dimick JB, Pronovost PJ, Cowan JA, Lipsett PA. *Surgical volume and quality of care for esophageal resection: do high-volume hospitals have fewer complications?* Ann Thorac Surg 2003 Feb;75(2):337-41 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12607635.

Back to top

2.3.1.4 Appendices

View	View pending	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.3.2 Endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia BO patients

Contents

1 What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Endoscopic Mucosal Resection (EMR)
- 1.3 Endoscopic ablation methods
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 4 References

5 Appendices

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.3.2.1 What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.3.2.1.1 Introduction

Patients with high grade dysplasia (whereby the glandular crypts are significantly distorted and may include branching which is not present in LGD) are at highest risk for progression to cancer. Therefore, this epithelium should be eradicated provided the biopsies have been independently reviewed by two expert histopathologists preferably one with special expertise in oesophageal diseases (see also What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?). Elimination of metaplastic/dysplastic tissue can be achieved by endoscopic means [ablation/endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR)] or via surgery. Historically, the gold standard for treatment of high grade dysplasia (HGD) and intramucosal cancer was oesophagectomy especially given the risk of a synchronous cancer in the former. Another advantage of oesophagectomy is that the entire segment is removed including occult adenocarcinoma and local lymph nodes although endoscopic surveillance may still be required post-surgery.^[1]

Current worldwide practice favours endotherapy (endoscopic mucosal resection or ablation) over surveillance or esophagectomy for HGD/intramucosal cancer though there are no randomised control trials comparing endoscopic treatment versus oesophagectomy. All such patients should be discussed at a multidisciplinary meeting involving the GI pathologist (preferably with an interest in oesophageal diseases), interventional endoscopist, upper GI surgeon and medical oncologist/radiotherapist.

Back to top

2.3.2.1.2 Endoscopic Mucosal Resection (EMR)

EMR is the removal of affected mucosa and submucosa by resection through the middle or deeper part of the submucosa. Unlike other ablative methods, EMR permits histological assessment of the whole lesion permitting definition of lateral extent and depth. EMR is considered appropriate for visible/nodular lesions whereas radio-frequency ablation (RFA) is currently the choice of ablative therapy for flat dysplastic/neoplastic epithelium. All visible nodular visible lesions should undergo EMR. Mucosally confined oesophageal carcinoma has a very low risk of metastatic lymphadenopathy (1-2%) which makes endoscopic resection feasible.^[2] If the neoplasia has breached the muscularis mucosae, then by definition the submucosa is involved and lymph node metastases are in the order of 10-20% for sm1/sm2 and up to 55% in sm3 cancers. Oesophagectomy (distal or subtotal) should be considered.^{[3][4][5][6][7][8]} Reported complications of EMR include early bleeding (within 12-24 hours), perforation (0.06-5%) and stricture formation particularly after circumferential resection (30-40%)^[9] (see also What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?).

Back to top



2.3.2.1.3 Endoscopic ablation methods

Ablation can take the form of heat injury [multipolar electrocautery (MPEC), argon plasma coagulation (APC), laser; neodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnet (Nd-YAG), radio-frequency ablation (RFA), cold injury (cryotherapy) and photochemical injury (PDT). Post ablation/EMR, anti-secretory therapy in the form of PPI's is prescribed, so the oesophageal mucosa heals with the growth of new squamous epithelium (neo-squamous epithelium).

Radio-frequency ablation

RFA is currently the choice of ablative therapy for flat dysplastic/neoplastic epithelium. The landmark AIM Dysplasia Trial randomised 127 patients (64 LGD, 63 HGD) in a 2:1 ratio into RFA and endoscopic surveillance or endoscopic surveillance alone.^[10] A hundred and seventeen completed a year's follow-up. At one year, complete eradication of HGD (intention to treat) occurred in 81% of those in the ablation group as compared with 19% in the control group (p<0.001). Moreover, two and three year outcomes of the trial confirmed durability of the treatment effect after allowing for focal touch up RFA.^[11] In the HGD group, complete eradication of dysplasia (CE-D) was achieved in 50/54 patients (95%) at two years and 23/24 (96%) at three years.

Reported complications with RFA include transient fever, mild dysphagia, odynophagia, oesophageal stricture (9%) and rarely perforation.^[12] Buried metaplasia appears to occur infrequently after RFA.^[10] It is therefore a durable, well tolerated and relatively safe procedure and at the very least as efficacious as PDT in the treatment of HGD.^[13]

Photodynamic therapy (PDT)

This eradication therapy involves the use of a photosensitising agent delivered either intravenously or orally i.e. porfimer sodium (approved for use in the USA) or 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA, rest of the world) followed 48 hours later by delivery of laser light to the Barrett's epithelium. Upon contact with laser light, cells containing the photosensitizer form highly reactive oxygen metabolites that destroy tissue.

In a long-term randomised multicentre trial, Overholt et al assessed the safety and efficacy of PDT treatment plus omeprazole compared to omeprazole alone. At five year follow-up, HGD was eradicated in 77% of those treated with PDT and omeprazole versus 37% on proton pump inhibitor (PPI) alone. Cancer progression which was a secondary outcome was lower in the PDT group (15%) as compared with the omeprazole group (29%) [p=0.004].^[14]

PDT achieves a relatively uniform depth of ablation and a significantly greater depth of penetration (with tissue necrosis>5mm) as compared with other ablative techniques.^[15] In addition, longer segments of tissue can be treated because it is a non-contact ablative technique. Efficacy rates of 57-100% have been achieved with porfimer sodium (deeper tissue penetration than 5-ALA) with mean follow-up intervals of 10-51 months.^[16] It has been reported that a third of patients treated with PDT develop oesphageal strictures.^[17] Cutaneous phototoxicity is also common, occurring in 30-69% of patients.^{[18][17]} The drawbacks of PDT are its high cost, complications and limited availability.



Cryotherapy

Endoscopic spray cryotherapy ablation uses liquid nitrogen (-196°C, CSA system) (or rapidly expanding carbon dioxide gas (-78° C at flow temperature of 6-8L/min, Polar Wand) to produce rapid freezing and slow thawing of a defined volume of tissue causing injury. Non-randomised and uncontrolled studies show success rates comparable to other ablative modalities for the treatment of Barrett's HGD, with complete eradication of dysplasia seen in 87-96% and complete elimination of intestinal metaplasia in 57-96% of treated patients.^{[19][20]} In early-stage oesophageal cancer, spray cryotherapy eliminates mucosal cancer in 75% of patients.^[21]

Back to top

2.3.2.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic mucosal resection alters histological grade or local T stage in 48% of patients and dramatically reduces oesophagectomy rates by providing safe and effective therapy. EMR has a high success rate (94%) for complete Barrett's excision in short segment Barrett's Oesophagus.	IV	[22]
Radiofrequency ablation has been shown to completely eradicate high grade dysplasia in 81% of patients at one year of follow-up as compared to a 19% complete eradication in patients undergoing endoscopic surveillance alone. Further positive outcomes were maintained in those undergoing radiofrequency ablation at two and three-years of follow-up with 95% and 96% complete eradication, respectively.	II	[10] _, [11]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Endoscopic mucosal resection should be considered for patients with intramucosal adenocarcinoma or high grade dysplasia and visible/nodular lesions.	D

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Radiofrequency ablation should be considered for patients with high grade dysplasia and flat segments of Barrett's. Radiofrequency ablation may be the preferred treatment strategy over endoscopic mucosal resection for patients with long segments Barrett's Oesophagus or	В
circumferential Barrett's due to a lower rate of stricture formation.	



Practice point

It is advisable to refer patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and dysplasia or early oesophageal adenocarcinoma to tertiary referral centres for management.

Back to top

2.3.2.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

What is the long term durability and reduction of risk to progression to oesophageal cancer for patients treated with endoscopic therapy?

Back to top

2.3.2.4 References

- 1. ↑ Dresner SM, Griffin SM, Wayman J, Bennett MK, Hayes N, Raimes SA. *Human model of duodenogastro-oesophageal reflux in the development of Barrett's metaplasia.* Br J Surg 2003 Sep;90(9):1120-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12945080.
- 1 Dunbar KB, Spechler SJ. The risk of lymph-node metastases in patients with high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Jun;107(6): 850-62; quiz 863 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22488081.
- 3. ↑ Leers JM, DeMeester SR, Oezcelik A, Klipfel N, Ayazi S, Abate E, et al. *The prevalence of lymph node metastases in patients with T1 esophageal adenocarcinoma a retrospective review of esophagectomy specimens.* Ann Surg 2011 Feb;253(2):271-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21119508.
- 4. ↑ Badreddine RJ, Prasad GA, Lewis JT, Lutzke LS, Borkenhagen LS, Dunagan KT, et al. *Depth of submucosal invasion does not predict lymph node metastasis and survival of patients with esophageal carcinoma.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Mar;8(3):248-53 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/19948247.
- ↑ Bollschweiler E, Baldus SE, Schröder W, Prenzel K, Gutschow C, Schneider PM, et al. *High rate of lymph-node metastasis in submucosal esophageal squamous-cell carcinomas and adenocarcinomas.* Endoscopy 2006 Feb;38(2):149-56 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16479422.
- ↑ Westerterp M, Koppert LB, Buskens CJ, Tilanus HW, ten Kate FJ, Bergman JJ, et al. *Outcome of surgical treatment for early adenocarcinoma of the esophagus or gastro-esophageal junction.* Virchows Arch 2005 May;446(5):497-504 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15838647.
- ↑ Liu L, Hofstetter WL, Rashid A, Swisher SG, Correa AM, Ajani JA, et al. Significance of the depth of tumor invasion and lymph node metastasis in superficially invasive (T1) esophageal adenocarcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol 2005 Aug;29(8):1079-85 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16006804.
- 8. ↑ Ancona E, Rampado S, Cassaro M, Battaglia G, Ruol A, Castoro C, et al. *Prediction of lymph node status in superficial esophageal carcinoma.* Ann Surg Oncol 2008 Nov;15(11):3278-88 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18726651.



- 9. ↑ Peters FP, Kara MA, Rosmolen WD, ten Kate FJ, Krishnadath KK, van Lanschot JJ, et al. *Stepwise radical* endoscopic resection is effective for complete removal of Barrett's esophagus with early neoplasia: a prospective study. Am J Gastroenterol 2006 Jul;101(7):1449-57 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/16863545.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} ^{10.2} Shaheen NJ, Sharma P, Overholt BF, Wolfsen HC, Sampliner RE, Wang KK, et al. *Radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* N Engl J Med 2009 May 28;360(22):2277-88 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19474425.
- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} Shaheen NJ, Overholt BF, Sampliner RE, Wolfsen HC, Wang KK, Fleischer DE, et al. *Durability of radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* Gastroenterology 2011 Aug;141(2):460-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21679712.
- 12. ↑ Pouw RE, Wirths K, Eisendrath P, Sondermeijer CM, Ten Kate FJ, Fockens P, et al. *Efficacy of radiofrequency ablation combined with endoscopic resection for barrett's esophagus with early neoplasia.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010 Jan;8(1):23-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /19602454.
- 13. ↑ Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21376940.
- 14. ↑ Overholt BF, Wang KK, Burdick JS, Lightdale CJ, Kimmey M, Nava HR, et al. *Five-year efficacy and safety* of photodynamic therapy with Photofrin in Barrett's high-grade dysplasia. Gastrointest Endosc 2007 Sep; 66(3):460-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17643436.
- 15. ↑ Tokar JL, Haluszka O, Weinberg DS. *Endoscopic therapy of dysplasia and early-stage cancers of the esophagus.* Semin Radiat Oncol 2007 Jan;17(1):10-21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /17185193.
- 16. ↑ Vij R, Triadafilopoulos G, Owens DK, Kunz P, Sanders GD. *Cost-effectiveness of photodynamic therapy for high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2004 Nov;60(5):739-56 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15557950.
- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} Overholt BF, Lightdale CJ, Wang KK, Canto MI, Burdick S, Haggitt RC, et al. *Photodynamic therapy with porfimer sodium for ablation of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: international, partially blinded, randomized phase III trial.* Gastrointest Endosc 2005 Oct;62(4):488-98 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16185958.
- 18. ↑ Wolfsen HC, Hemminger LL, Wallace MB, Devault KR. *Clinical experience of patients undergoing photodynamic therapy for Barrett's dysplasia or cancer*. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004 Nov 15;20(10): 1125-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15569115.
- ↑ Shaheen NJ, Greenwald BD, Peery AF, Dumot JA, Nishioka NS, Wolfsen HC, et al. Safety and efficacy of endoscopic spray cryotherapy for Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia. Gastrointest Endosc 2010 Apr;71(4):680-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20363409.
- ↑ Greenwald BD, Dumot JA, Horwhat JD, Lightdale CJ, Abrams JA. Safety, tolerability, and efficacy of endoscopic low-pressure liquid nitrogen spray cryotherapy in the esophagus. Dis Esophagus 2010 Jan;23 (1):13-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19515183.
- 21. ↑ Greenwald BD, Dumot JA, Abrams JA, Lightdale CJ, David DS, Nishioka NS, et al. *Endoscopic spray cryotherapy for esophageal cancer: safety and efficacy.* Gastrointest Endosc 2010 Apr;71(4):686-93 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20363410.



22. ↑ Moss A, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Gupta S, Williams SJ, Tran K, et al. *Endoscopic resection for Barrett's* high-grade dysplasia and early esophageal adenocarcinoma: an essential staging procedure with longterm therapeutic benefit. Am J Gastroenterol 2010 Jun;105(6):1276-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20179694.

Back to top

2.3.2.5 Appendices

View pending View evidence View body of recommendation evidence components	View all comments	View literature search
---	-------------------	---------------------------

Back to top

2.3.3 Frequency of endoscopy after endoscopic treatment

Contents

- 1 After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy? 1.1 Introduction
 - 1.2 Confirmation of successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia
 - 1.3 Suggested endoscopic surveillance recommendations after clearance of BO neoplasia
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 Issues requiring more clinical research study
- 4 References
- 5 Appendices

2.3.3.1 After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy?

2.3.3.1.1 Introduction

There has been a paradigm shift in the management of high grade dyplasia (HGD) and oesophageal intramucosal adenocarcinoma (IMCa) within Barrett's Oesophagus. Previously this condition was managed with oesophagectomy, however endoscopic therapy with endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR), radiofrequency



ablation (RFA) or both, is now more commonly used.^{[1][2][3][4]} Endoscopic management of intramucosal malignant lesions requires EMR. This also provides the benefit of a histological specimen for accurate staging of the malignant lesion. Resected lesions that demonstrate submucosal involvment carry an unacceptable risk of lymphatic spread which indicates surgical intervention.^[5] Several studies have demonstrated that clearance of intramucosal adenocarcinoma can be achieved by endoscopic mucosal resection alone or in combination with radiofrequency ablation to ablate residual Barrett's.^[6] Radiofrequency ablation alone is not considered a satisfactory modality for treatment of intramucosal adenocarcinoma. Integral to successful endoscopic management of Barrett's HGD and IMCa is a commitment to long term endoscopic surveillance. Presently the surveillance intervals used vary by institution and are not evidence based.

A systematic review of the literature was performed to find consensus guidelines for endoscopic surveillance post successful endoscopic treatment of Barrett's HGD and IMCa. This found that there is a paucity of literature in this area. A review of the available literature provides some consensus based (i.e. practice points) rather than evidence based recommendations.

Back to top

2.3.3.1.2 Confirmation of successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia

A reasonable consensus recommendation for confirming successful eradication of Barrett's HGD/IMCa would be three monthly endoscopic assessment with oesophageal biopsies as per the Seattle protocol. Some would advocate a more stringent protocol with 1cm/ four quadrant biopsies and/or targeted biopsies. Many would advocate the benefits of combining white light endoscopy and NBI, as well as spending additional time for a more thorough examination.^[7] Further endoscopic treatment of any residual pathology would be performed on the basis of the endoscopic and histological findings. Three monthly endoscopic assessment and biopsies would be performed until endoscopic and histological clearance is achieved.^[8]

Back to top

2.3.3.1.3 Suggested endoscopic surveillance recommendations after clearance of BO neoplasia

A reasonable consensus recommendation, after clearance is achieved, would be surveillance gastroscopy with Seattle protocol every six months for one year, then annually thereafter. Again some may advocate 1cm/four quadrant biopsies and/or targeted biopsies. Endoscopic resection of any nodularity in the squamous epithelium should be considered to clarify possible recurrent or metachronous IMCa from subsquamous glands.^[8]

Higher risk patients may require closer surveillance gastroscopy after clearance of Barrett's Oesophagus neoplasia is achieved (i.e. initially 3 monthly for a year). These would include patients with prior synchronous IMCa lesions, those who required multiple endoscopic resections to clear a single IMCa lesion, those with prior histologically deeper intramucosal adenocarcinoma (i.e. T1Am3) and those with prior background Barrett's with multi-focal high grade dysplasia.^[8]



There is presently no consensus about the potential benefits of other mucosal imaging modalities (e.g. confocal laser endomicroscopy). Ideally any further endoscopic management and ongoing surveillance should be discussed in a multi-disciplinary collaborative setting within an experienced tertiary setting.^{[8][9]}

Back to top

2.3.3.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

Consider three monthly surveillance gastroscopy with Seattle protocol during the endoscopic treatment phase to confirm clearance of intramucosal adenocarcinoma (IMCa) and residual Barrett's. Once clearance has been achieved, consider 6 monthly endoscopic surveillance for one year, then annually. Higher risk patients (as outlined above) may require closer surveillance gastroscopy after clearance of Barrett's Oesophagus neoplasia is achieved (i.e. initially 3 monthly for a year). Endoscopic resection of any nodularity in the squamous epithelium should be considered to clarify possible recurrent or metachronous IMCa from subsquamous glands.

Back to top

2.3.3.3 Issues requiring more clinical research study

- What are the evidence based recommendations for an endoscopic surveillance protocol post endoscopic management of Barrett's HGD and IMCa to confirm clearance?
- What are the evidence based recommendations for an optimal biopsy protocol for endoscopic surveillance post endoscopic management of Barrett's HGD and IMCa?
- What are the evidence based recommendations for an endoscopic surveillance protocol post endoscopic management of Barrett's HGD and IMCa after confirmation of clearance?
- What are the potential benefits of using other mucosal imaging modalities (ie confocal laser endomicroscopy) for surveillance post Barrett's endotherapy?

Back to top

2.3.3.4 References

1. ↑ Ell C, May A, Gossner L, Pech O, Günter E, Mayer G, et al. *Endoscopic mucosal resection of early cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2000 Apr;118(4):670-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10734018.



- 2. ↑ Shaheen NJ, Sharma P, Overholt BF, Wolfsen HC, Sampliner RE, Wang KK, et al. *Radiofrequency ablation in Barrett's esophagus with dysplasia.* N Engl J Med 2009 May 28;360(22):2277-88 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19474425.
- ↑ Pouw RE, Seewald S, Gondrie JJ, Deprez PH, Piessevaux H, Pohl H, et al. Stepwise radical endoscopic resection for eradication of Barrett's oesophagus with early neoplasia in a cohort of 169 patients. Gut 2010 Sep;59(9):1169-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20525701.
- 4. ↑ Chung A, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Lim G, Moss A, Williams SJ, et al. *Complete Barrett's excision by stepwise endoscopic resection in short-segment disease: long term outcomes and predictors of stricture.* Endoscopy 2011 Dec 1;43(12):1025-32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22068701.
- 1 Dunbar KB, Spechler SJ. The risk of lymph-node metastases in patients with high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Jun;107(6): 850-62; quiz 863 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22488081.
- 6. 1 Gondrie JJ, Pouw RE, Sondermeijer CM, Peters FP, Curvers WL, Rosmolen WD, et al. *Effective treatment of early Barrett's neoplasia with stepwise circumferential and focal ablation using the HALO system.* Endoscopy 2008 May;40(5):370-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18494132.
- ↑ Gupta N, Gaddam S, Wani SB, Bansal A, Rastogi A, Sharma P. Longer inspection time is associated with increased detection of high-grade dysplasia and esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Sep;76(3):531-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22732877.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} ^{8.1} ^{8.2} ^{8.3} Templeton A, Bodnar A, Gan SI, Irani S, Ross A, Low D. *Occurrence of invasive cancer after endoscopic treatment of Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia and intramucosal cancer in physiologically fit patients: time for a review of surveillance and treatment guidelines.* Gastrointest Endosc 2014 May;79(5):839-44 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24447341.
- ↑ Jayasekera C, Taylor AC, Desmond PV, Macrae F, Williams R. Added value of narrow band imaging and confocal laser endomicroscopy in detecting Barrett's esophagus neoplasia. Endoscopy 2012 Dec;44(12): 1089-95 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23188660.

Back to top

2.3.3.5 Appendices

View recommendation components View pending evidence

View body of evidence

View all comments

View literature search

Back to top



2.3.4 Optimal endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma

Contents
1 What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Staging
1.3 Endoscopic Resection
2 Evidence summary and recommendations
3 References
4 Appendices

2.3.4.1 What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

2.3.4.1.1 Introduction

Early oesophageal adenocarcinoma (EOA) comprises the histological tumour classification of T1a (invasion into the mucosa) and T1b (invasion into submucosa but not muscularis propria). The depth of invasion can be further stratified based on which mucosal (m1-m3) or submucosal (sm1-sm3) layer is involved^{[1][2]} (see also What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?). EOA represents 6-12% of patients presenting with oesophageal adenocarcinoma.^{[3][4]} The risk of lymph node involvement with T1a and T1b EOA is 1.3-2.5% and 12-31% respectively.^{[4][5][6][7]} Unlike locally advanced or node-involving disease, EOA can often be cured with surgical or endoscopic approaches. Compared to oesophagectomy, endoscopic treatment is less morbid, less expensive and organ preserving.^[8] Over the past 10 years endoscopic treatment has been increasingly used for EOA.^[9] In general endoscopic treatment methods can be divided into tissue resection and tissue ablation. Tissue resection methods are endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) and endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD). Tissue ablation comprises radiofrequency ablation (RFA), argon plasma coagulation (APC), photodynamic therapy (PDT) or cryotherapy. There are no randomised control trials that compare the efficacy of any endoscopic therapy to oesophagectomy for EOA.^[10] Careful interrogation of all Barrett's mucosa is recommended as a longer inspection time leads to a higher likelihood of detecting suspicious lesions.^[11] There may be a spatial predisposition for HGD and EOA to be located between the 12 o'clock and 3 o'clock arc. Several studies have found advanced histology to be within this region in over 50% of cases.^{[12][13][14]} Confirmation of the histology by an experienced gastrointestinal pathologist is recommended prior to further therapy.

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.3.4.1.2 Staging

Endoscopic resection enables accurate histological T staging, particularly the depth of invasion. It is considered the most accurate means of T staging for EOA and can alter pre-resection histological grade.^{[15][16]} Endoscopic ultrasound is no longer considered useful EOA staging and is generally not employed.^[17] All visible abnormalities within the Barrett's segment should be described based on the revised Paris classification of superficial neoplastic lesions in the gastrointestinal tract^[18] (e.g. Paris 0-Is or 0-IIc, see Figure 1)^[19] and resected to establish a complete histological staging and potential cure.

Figure 1. Schematic representation of the Paris classification for mucosal neoplasia. Lesion morphology assists with evaluating the risk of invasive disease and guides the approach to endoscopic resection. AMN are broadly divided into protruded, flat elevated, and flat morphologies. Protruded lesions rise > 2.5 mm above the surrounding mu cosa and include pedunculated (0-Ip), subpedunculated (0-Isp), and sessile (0-Is) types. Flat elevated lesions (0-IIa) rise < 2.5 mm above the surrounding mucosa, and features such as central depression (0-IIa + c) or a broad based nodule (0-IIa + Is) are described. Flat lesions include 0-IIb (barely perceptible elevation), 0-IIc (depressed), and 0-III (excavated) types. Source from Holt, Bronte A.,Bourke, Michael J. - Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology - Volume 10, Issue 9, 969-979 © 2012 AGA Institute

Back to top

2.3.4.1.3 Endoscopic Resection

Provided the histology is favourable (T1a, size <2cm, well differentiated, no lymphovascular invasion, clear resection margins), further endoscopic treatment for the remaining Barrett's can be planned. Options include close endoscopic surveillance, complete Barrett's excision or complete Barrett's ablation. In those who are medically fit some form of endoscopic treatment of the residual Barrett's segment is generally advocated due to

the risk of metachronous neoplasia. This is believed to be approximately 20-30% in the next five years.^{[20][21]} Endoscopic resection may not be possible in cases of refractory oesophageal stricture. Following endoscopic resection of EOA and complete elimination of the residual Barrett's segment patients require regular surveillance to exclude recurrent or metachronous Barrett's metaplasia or neoplasia. Endoscopic resection of EOA should be performed in referral centres that have integrated expertise in endoscopy, imaging, surgery, and histopathology.

Back to top

Endoscopic Mucosal Resection (EMR)

The commonly utilised techniques for EMR include multi-band mucosectomy (MBM) and the cap based lift, suck and cut approach. In randomised control trials comparing these two modalities, procedure time and cost were lower with the MBM technique without a significant difference in primary efficacy, complications or maximum thickness of specimens.^{[22][23]} In the largest series of EMR of T1a adenocarcinoma followed by APC of the remaining Barrett's segment, involving 1000 patients with median follow up exceeding 4.5 years, the long term complete remission rate was 94%, recurrence of high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma was 14.5% and five year overall survival 92%.^[24] There were only two EOA related deaths. The rate of treatment failure was 4.2%



and major complications occurred in 1.5%. In other series with shorter follow up complete remission from cancer was achieved in 96-99% with recurrence rates of 2-11%.^{[25][26]} Without adjuvant therapy of the remaining Barrett's segment the rate of metachronous lesions exceeds 20%.^{[20][21]} Subsequent stepwise resection or radiofrequency ablation reduces this risk significantly.^{[27][28]} The rates of oesophageal stricture are proportional to resection extent.^[29] While symptomatic stricture rates approach 13%-20%^{[24][25]} for focal resections and can exceed 50% in <5cm circumferential Barrett's excision,^{[28][29]} endoscopic management of strictures is effective in most cases. There is a low risk of significant complications, which include perforation and bleeding.^{[15][24][25]} ^[26] Although in most instances these are endoscopically manageable, EMR should be carried out in a centre with multidisciplinary support encompassing advanced surgical, medical and radiological care.

Back to top

Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection

ESD allows en-bloc resection of the relevant pathology which is favourable from an oncological perspective. In a Japanese series of ESD for EOA the endoscopic and pathologic (R0) en-bloc resection rates were 100% and 85%, respectively.^[12] Metachronous lesions were found in 4%. Significant bleeding occurred in 4% and this was managed endoscopically in all cases. Stenosis occurred in 15%. In a European series of 30 patients undergoing ESD of EOA or HGD followed by RFA in those with residual Barrett's mucosa, the en bloc and R0 resection rate was 90% and 39%, respectively.^[30] Minor bleeding occurred in 7%. At median follow up of 17 months 96% were free from neoplasia. In a small series of ESD for T1 GOJ adenocarcinoma the rate of curative resection was 72-79% with no local or distant recurrence at median follow up of three years.^{[31][32]} Both EMR and ESD require advanced skills and tertiary level support, however, ESD requires mandatory overnight admission, is more resource and time consuming.

Back to top

ESD versus EMR

In a pooled analysis of a systematic review of endoscopic treatment of all types of oesophageal T1 cancers there were no significant differences between EMR and ESD in procedural complications, patients undergoing surgery, positive specimen margins, lymph node positivity, local recurrence and metachronous cancer development. ESD had significantly lower resection pieces and lower local recurrence rates.^[33] In a subanalysis of a meta-analysis comprising non-randomised trials of ESD vs EMR for superficial neoplasms of the gastrointestinal tract, ESD had higher en-bloc and curative resection rates. Operative time, bleeding and perforation rates were higher in the ESD group for all gastrointestinal lesions, however, no sub-analysis of oesophageal lesions was performed for these parameters.^[34] The low R0 resection rate of lateral margins, requirement for specialised expertise and increased procedure time of ESD favours EMR as the mainstay of endoscopic resection of EOA. However, focal lesions with a strong suspicion of submucosal invasion or those >2cm should be considered for en-bloc ESD to help with accurate histological staging and a possible organ sparing curative resection.

Back to top

Radiofrequency ablation

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



RFA has no role in the treatment of proven, suspected or possible EOA. All visible abnormalities within a given Barrett's segment must be removed by EMR before RFA is considered. It is used to treat flat dysplasia or residual non-dysplastic Barrett's mucosa after focal EMR of a visible abnormality. In a multicentre randomised trial of focal EMR followed by RFA of the residual segment versus stepwise complete resection in Barrett's segments \leq M5 with HGD and T1a/T1sm1, the rates of remission from neoplasia at median follow up of 24 months were comparably high at 95% and 100%, respectively. There was a significantly increased rate of stenosis in the stepwise resection arm of 88% compared to 14%.^[28] In a large systemic review of RFA in

dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus medium term follow-up showed a durable response to treatment.^[35] However, buried metaplasia has been reported within neosquamous epithelium biopsy specimens and this may predispose to the development of subneosquamous cancer. Adenocarcinoma has been reported following RFA. ^[36] Thus, following RFA of dysplastic Barrett's Oesophagus caution is recommended. After clearance of neoplasia, dysplasia and Barrett's mucosa is achieved, six-monthly endoscopic surveillance for one year

followed by annual surveillance is advised.

Back to top

Cryotherapy

This treatment has no role as a primary therapy of EOA, however, may be an option in patients that are failing or refusing to have conventional treatment. In a retrospective multicentre series of localised EOA in patients failing or unsuitable for conventional therapies the complete intraluminal response to spray cryotherapy was 72% in patients with T1 lesions at 10 month follow up.^[37]

Back to top

Argon Plasma Coagulation

Like other ablative strategies, argon plasma coagulation (APC) has no role for the treatment of visible or suspected EOA. It can be used as an adjunctive to complete endoscopic Barrett's resection or destruction of small islands that are not feasible for resection. In the largest series of EMR for T1a EOA APC was used as adjuvant therapy for the remaining Barrett's segment with encouraging long-term results.^[24]

Back to top

Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic Therapy (PDT) has largely been replaced by other ablative modalities. It has no role in primary therapy of EOA. In a retrospective review of 24 patients with T1 EOA, EMR with PDT resulted in a neoplasia remission rate of 83% at 12 months.^[38]

Back to top

T1a versus T1b approach

T1a EOA can be effectively managed with endoscopic resection. Patients should be counselled about the benefits of organ preservation, reduced morbidity and mortality compared to surgery. They also need to be informed of the minor risk of untreated lymph node spread and the need for ongoing endoscopic surveillance. Due to the high risk of lymph node involvement, surgically fit patients with T1b EOA should be offered



oesophagectomy as a potentially curative treatment. Selected T1b lesions can be endoscopically resected with the understanding that there is a higher risk of lymph node metastasis. It may be considered in patients not willing or unfit to undergo surgery. Treatment decisions should be made in the context of a multidisciplinary management team comprising endoscopists, surgeons, oncologists, histopathologists and radiologists. In a retrospective review comparing surgery and endoscopic therapy with adjuvant ablation or chemoradiotherapy in 68 T1b patients there was no significant difference in survival at median follow up of 40 months.^[39] In a retrospective series of 21 patients with SM1 disease treated with endoscopic resection, complete remission from cancer was achieved in 95% of patients, however recurrent or metachronous carcinoma was found in 28% at median follow up 62 months. The calculated five-year survival was 66% and no Barrett's cancer related deaths occurred.^[40] In addition to endoscopic therapy for EOA, adjuvant chemoradiotherapy appears a logical treatment option. However, there is no data to support this approach.^[39]

Back to top

Recurrence

Recurrence has been described in 6-30% of patients undergoing endoscopic therapy for EOA.^{[20][24][25][41]} Risk factors include larger lesion diameter, long-segment disease, piecemeal removal of the lesion, failure to perform adjunctive ablative therapy, presence of multifocal neoplasia, and an elapsed time of more than 10 months prior to achieving complete remission. In most cases, recurrences can be successfully managed endoscopically. The gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ) appears to be a common site of neoplasia recurrence and should be assessed in follow up very carefully.^{[27][28]}

Back to top

2.3.4.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic resection is the most accurate T staging modality for early adenocarcinoma.	IV	[15] _, [16]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade	
All lesions and visible abnormalities should be staged by focal endoscopic resection.	D	

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic mucosal resection is effective and safe for T1a early oesophageal adenocarcinoma when performed in experienced centres.	Ⅱ, Ⅲ- 2, Ⅳ	[24] _, [25] _, [39] , [38] _, [23]

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Evidence summary	Level	References
Selected patients with T1b early oesophageal adenocarcinoma may benefit from endoscopic resection if oesophagectomy is not indicated.		

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Patients with T1a on endoscopic work-up should be offered endoscopic resection as a less morbid and potentially equally effective treatment option in comparison to oesophagectomy.	D
Selected patients with T1b early oesophageal adenocarcinoma may be offered endoscopic resection if oesophagectomy is not indicated.	

Evidence summary	Level	References
Endoscopic submucosal dissection does not offer a significant advantage over	III-2,	[33] _, [34] _, [12]
endoscopic mucosal resection for most early oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	IV	, [30]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
If endoscopic resection of early oesophageal adenocarincoma is planned, endoscopic mucosal resection is appropriate in most cases.	С

Evidence summary	Level	References
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma the remaining untreated Barrett's mucosa remains at significant risk for metachronous neoplastic disease.	III-2, IV	[20] _, [21] _, [24] , ^[25]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma the remaining Barrett's mucosa should be eradicated.	С
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett's eradication options include complete Barrett's endoscopic resection, radiofrequency ablation, cryotherapy and argon plasma coagulation.	

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Following resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma the patient should undergo regular and careful surveillance examinations.	

Evidence summary	Level	References
Ablative therapies such as RFA, cryotherapy, APC and PDT have no role as primary therapy for early oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	II, III- 2, IV	[28] _, [37] _, [38]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
Ablative therapies should not be used as primary endoscopic therapy for early oesophageal adenocarcinoma.	С

Practice point

Endoscopic resection of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma should be performed in referral centres that have integrated expertise in endoscopy, imaging, surgery, and histopathology.

Practice point

Careful and dedicated interrogation of all Barrett's mucosa is advised.

Back to top

2.3.4.3 References

↑ Schlemper RJ, Riddell RH, Kato Y, Borchard F, Cooper HS, Dawsey SM, et al. *The Vienna classification of gastrointestinal epithelial neoplasia*. Gut 2000 Aug;47(2):251-5 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/10896917.



- ↑ The Paris endoscopic classification of superficial neoplastic lesions: esophagus, stomach, and colon: November 30 to December 1, 2002. Gastrointest Endosc 2003 Dec;58(6 Suppl):S3-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14652541.
- 3. ↑ Gordon LG, Eckermann S, Hirst NG, Watson DI, Mayne GC, Fahey P, et al. *Healthcare resource use and medical costs for the management of oesophageal cancer.* Br J Surg 2011 Nov;98(11):1589-98 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22059235.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1} Griffin SM, Burt AD, Jennings NA. *Lymph node metastasis in early esophageal adenocarcinoma.* Ann Surg 2011 Nov;254(5):731-6; discussion 736-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21997815.
- 5. 1 Dunbar KB, Spechler SJ. The risk of lymph-node metastases in patients with high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Jun;107(6): 850-62; quiz 863 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22488081.
- ↑ Leers JM, DeMeester SR, Oezcelik A, Klipfel N, Ayazi S, Abate E, et al. *The prevalence of lymph node metastases in patients with T1 esophageal adenocarcinoma a retrospective review of esophagectomy specimens.* Ann Surg 2011 Feb;253(2):271-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21119508.
- 7. ↑ Sepesi B, Watson TJ, Zhou D, Polomsky M, Litle VR, Jones CE, et al. Are endoscopic therapies appropriate for superficial submucosal esophageal adenocarcinoma? An analysis of esophagectomy specimens. J Am Coll Surg 2010 Apr;210(4):418-27 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /20347733.
- 8. ↑ Pohl H, Sonnenberg A, Strobel S, Eckardt A, Rösch T. *Endoscopic versus surgical therapy for early cancer in Barrett's esophagus: a decision analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2009 Oct;70(4):623-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19394011.
- 9. ↑ Merkow RP, Bilimoria KY, Keswani RN, Chung J, Sherman KL, Knab LM, et al. *Treatment trends, risk of lymph node metastasis, and outcomes for localized esophageal cancer.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2014 Jul;106(7) Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25031273.
- 10. ↑ Bennett C, Green S, Decaestecker J, Almond M, Barr H, Bhandari P, et al. *Surgery versus radical* endotherapies for early cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Nov 14;11:CD007334 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23152243.
- 11. ↑ Gupta N, Gaddam S, Wani SB, Bansal A, Rastogi A, Sharma P. Longer inspection time is associated with increased detection of high-grade dysplasia and esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 2012 Sep;76(3):531-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22732877.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} ^{12.2} Kagemoto K, Oka S, Tanaka S, Miwata T, Urabe Y, Sanomura Y, et al. *Clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial Barrett's adenocarcinoma.* Gastrointest Endosc 2014 Feb 21 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24565073.
- 13. ↑ Kariyawasam VC, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Lim G, Moss A, Williams SJ, et al. *Circumferential location predicts the risk of high-grade dysplasia and early adenocarcinoma in short-segment Barrett's esophagus.* Gastrointest Endosc 2012 May;75(5):938-44 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22381529.
- 14. ↑ Enestvedt BK, Lugo R, Guarner-Argente C, Shah P, Falk GW, Furth E, et al. *Location, location, location: does early cancer in Barrett's esophagus have a preference?* Gastrointest Endosc 2013 Apr 24 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23622975.



- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} ^{15.2} Moss A, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Gupta S, Williams SJ, Tran K, et al. *Endoscopic resection for Barrett's high-grade dysplasia and early esophageal adenocarcinoma: an essential staging procedure with long-term therapeutic benefit.* Am J Gastroenterol 2010 Jun;105(6):1276-83 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20179694.
- 16. ↑ ^{16.0} ^{16.1} Wani S, Abrams J, Edmundowicz SA, Gaddam S, Hovis CE, Green D, et al. *Endoscopic Mucosal Resection Results in Change of Histologic Diagnosis in Barrett's Esophagus Patients with Visible and Flat Neoplasia: A Multicenter Cohort Study.* Dig Dis Sci 2013 Apr 30 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/23633158.
- 17. ↑ Pouw RE, Heldoorn N, Alvarez Herrero L, ten Kate FJ, Visser M, Busch OR, et al. *Do we still need EUS in the workup of patients with early esophageal neoplasia? A retrospective analysis of 131 cases.* Gastrointest Endosc 2011 Apr;73(4):662-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21272876.
- 18. ↑ Endoscopic Classification Review Group. Update on the paris classification of superficial neoplastic lesions in the digestive tract. Endoscopy 2005 Jun;37(6):570-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/15933932.
- ↑ Holt BA, Bourke MJ. Wide field endoscopic resection for advanced colonic mucosal neoplasia: current status and future directions. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012 Sep;10(9):969-79 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22642950.
- 20. 1 ^{20.0} ^{20.1} ^{20.2} ^{20.3} Pech O, Behrens A, May A, Nachbar L, Gossner L, Rabenstein T, et al. *Long-term results and risk factor analysis for recurrence after curative endoscopic therapy in 349 patients with high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and mucosal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2008 Sep;57(9): 1200-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18460553.
- 21. ↑ ^{21.0} ^{21.1} ^{21.2} Pech O, Bollschweiler E, Manner H, Leers J, Ell C, Hölscher AH. *Comparison between endoscopic and surgical resection of mucosal esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus at two high-volume centers.* Ann Surg 2011 Jul;254(1):67-72 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21532466.
- 22. ↑ May A, Gossner L, Behrens A, Kohnen R, Vieth M, Stolte M, et al. A prospective randomized trial of two different endoscopic resection techniques for early stage cancer of the esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 2003 Aug;58(2):167-75 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12872081.
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Pouw RE, van Vilsteren FG, Peters FP, Herrero LA, Ten Kate FJ, Visser M, et al. *Randomized trial on endoscopic resection-cap versus multiband mucosectomy for piecemeal endoscopic resection of early Barrett's neoplasia.* Gastrointest Endosc 2011 Jul;74(1):35-43 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/21704807.
- 24. ↑ ^{24.0} ^{24.1} ^{24.2} ^{24.3} ^{24.4} ^{24.5} ^{24.6} Pech O, May A, Manner H, Behrens A, Pohl J, Weferling M, et al. *Long-Term Efficacy and Safety of Endoscopic Resection for Patients with Mucosal Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2014 Mar 1;146(3):652-660 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/24269290.
- 25. ↑ ^{25.0} ^{25.1} ^{25.2} ^{25.3} ^{25.4} ^{25.5} Ell C, May A, Pech O, Gossner L, Guenter E, Behrens A, et al. *Curative endoscopic resection of early esophageal adenocarcinomas (Barrett's cancer).* Gastrointest Endosc 2007 Jan;65(1):3-10 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17185072.
- 26. ↑ ^{26.0} ^{26.1} Saligram S, Chennat J, Hu H, Davison JM, Fasanella KE, McGrath K. *Endotherapy for superficial adenocarcinoma of the esophagus: an American experience.* Gastrointest Endosc 2013 Mar 6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23472998.



- 27. ↑ ^{27.0} ^{27.1} Pouw RE, Seewald S, Gondrie JJ, Deprez PH, Piessevaux H, Pohl H, et al. *Stepwise radical endoscopic resection for eradication of Barrett's oesophagus with early neoplasia in a cohort of 169 patients.* Gut 2010 Sep;59(9):1169-77 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20525701.
- 28. 1^{28.0} 28.1 28.2 28.3 28.4 van Vilsteren FG, Pouw RE, Seewald S, Alvarez Herrero L, Sondermeijer CM, Visser M, et al. *Stepwise radical endoscopic resection versus radiofrequency ablation for Barrett's oesophagus with high-grade dysplasia or early cancer: a multicentre randomised trial.* Gut 2011 Jun;60(6):765-73 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21209124.
- 29. ↑ ^{29.0} ^{29.1} Chung A, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Lim G, Moss A, Williams SJ, et al. *Complete Barrett's excision by stepwise endoscopic resection in short-segment disease: long term outcomes and predictors of stricture.* Endoscopy 2011 Dec 1;43(12):1025-32 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22068701.
- 30. ↑ ^{30.0} ^{30.1} Neuhaus H, Terheggen G, Rutz EM, Vieth M, Schumacher B. *Endoscopic submucosal dissection plus radiofrequency ablation of neoplastic Barrett's esophagus.* Endoscopy 2012 Dec;44(12):1105-13 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22968641.
- 31. ↑ Hirasawa K, Kokawa A, Oka H, Yahara S, Sasaki T, Nozawa A, et al. *Superficial adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction: long-term results of endoscopic submucosal dissection.* Gastrointest Endosc 2010 Nov;72(5):960-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21034897.
- 32. ↑ Yoshinaga S, Gotoda T, Kusano C, Oda I, Nakamura K, Takayanagi R. *Clinical impact of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial adenocarcinoma located at the esophagogastric junction.* Gastrointest Endosc 2008 Feb;67(2):202-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18226681.
- 33. ↑ ^{33.0} ^{33.1} Sgourakis G, Gockel I, Lang H. *Endoscopic and surgical resection of T1a/T1b esophageal neoplasms: a systematic review.* World J Gastroenterol 2013 Mar 7;19(9):1424-37 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23539431.
- 34. ↑ ^{34.0} ^{34.1} Cao Y, Liao C, Tan A, Gao Y, Mo Z, Gao F. *Meta-analysis of endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic mucosal resection for tumors of the gastrointestinal tract.* Endoscopy 2009 Sep;41(9): 751-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19693750.
- 35. ↑ Orman ES, Li N, Shaheen NJ. *Efficacy and durability of radiofrequency ablation for Barrett's Esophagus:* systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013 Oct;11(10):1245-55 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23644385.
- 36. ↑ Titi M, Overhiser A, Ulusarac O, Falk GW, Chak A, Wang K, et al. Development of subsquamous highgrade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma after successful radiofrequency ablation of Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2012 Sep;143(3):564-6.e1 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22561053.
- 37. ↑ ^{37.0} ^{37.1} Greenwald BD, Dumot JA, Abrams JA, Lightdale CJ, David DS, Nishioka NS, et al. *Endoscopic spray cryotherapy for esophageal cancer: safety and efficacy.* Gastrointest Endosc 2010 Apr;71(4):686-93 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20363410.
- 38. ↑ ^{38.0} ^{38.1} ^{38.2} Pacifico RJ, Wang KK, Wongkeesong LM, Buttar NS, Lutzke LS. *Combined endoscopic mucosal resection and photodynamic therapy versus esophagectomy for management of early adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003 Jul;1(4):252-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15017665.



- 39. ↑ ^{39.0} ^{39.1} ^{39.2} Tian J, Prasad GA, Lutzke LS, Lewis JT, Wang KK. *Outcomes of T1b esophageal adenocarcinoma patients.* Gastrointest Endosc 2011 Dec;74(6):1201-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22000793.
- 40. ↑ Manner H, May A, Pech O, Gossner L, Rabenstein T, Günter E, et al. *Early Barrett's carcinoma with "low-risk" submucosal invasion: long-term results of endoscopic resection with a curative intent.* Am J Gastroenterol 2008 Oct;103(10):2589-97 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18785950.
- 41. ↑ Ell C, May A, Gossner L, Pech O, Günter E, Mayer G, et al. *Endoscopic mucosal resection of early cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2000 Apr;118(4):670-7 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10734018.

Back to top

2.3.4.4 Appendices

View	View pending evidence	View body of	View all	View literature
recommendation	evidence	evidence	comments	search
components				

Back to top

2.3.5 Endoscopic surveillance protocol

Contents
1 What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Risk of undiagnosed cancer
1.3 Risk of progression from HGD to cancer
1.4 In what situations may surveillance be reasonable?
1.5 What surveillance protocol should be followed for HGD?
1.6 Summary
2 Evidence summary and recommendations
3 References
4 Appendices



2.3.5.1 What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?

2.3.5.1.1 Introduction

High Grade Dysplasia (HGD) or early neoplasia (defined here as intramucosal cancer - IMC) in Barrett's Oesophagus (BO) has traditionally led to consideration of oesophagectomy. In recent years, endoscopic therapy has become an effective alternative in treating these conditions^{[1][2]} (see also What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO? and What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?). The most recent international guidelines now recommend endoscopic intervention once HGD or IMC is diagnosed, although surgery can still be considered in young and fit patients or in the presence of extensive dysplasia.^{[3][4]} As far as we know, surveillance for IMC has not been suggested. Surveillance in the setting of HGD used to be a reasonable alternative to oesophagectomy before the advent of effective endoscopic therapy, as not all cases of HGD progress to invasive cancer, and such patients might be spared the risks of major surgery. However, with safe endoscopic therapy now available it is less clear if or when surveillance is still reasonable in patients with HGD (for endoscopic surveillance after endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, see After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy?).

If contemplating endoscopic surveillance for HGD rather than intervention, the following issues should be considered: How accurately can invasive cancer be excluded with endoscopic surveillance?; what is the risk of progression from HGD to invasive cancer?; and what other clinical factors might shift the balance between the risk of complications of endoscopic therapy and the risk of missing a potentially advanced cancer on surveillance.

Back to top

2.3.5.1.2 Risk of undiagnosed cancer

The accuracy of a pre-operative diagnosis of HGD is imperfect and the concern over undiagnosed invasive malignancy has traditionally been an argument for intervention. The reported rates of unsuspected cancer found at surgery in patients with a preoperative diagnosis of HGD vary greatly, mostly between 7%^[5] and 36%. ^{[6][7]} The need for careful inspection with high resolution endoscopes and sampling according to rigorous biopsy protocols has been recognised. Narrow band imaging (NBI) has been widely studied in the assessment of Barrett' s epithelium, and there are some data that suggest that it may be superior to white light endoscopy (WLE) for the detection of dysplasia in Barrett's.^{[8][9]} In a more recent prospective study it was shown that, in expert hands, high resolution WLE was sufficient to detect all areas of IMC, while the accuracy for detecting HGD was improved with additional NBI examination.^[10]

In summary, the risk of undiagnosed cancer is difficult to determine. More recent studies appear to be more accurate in determining the degree of dysplasia, presumably due to improved visualisation with high resolution endoscopy.



Back to top

2.3.5.1.3 Risk of progression from HGD to cancer

Progression from HGD to invasive cancer is common, albeit not universal. A meta-analysis published in 2008 sought to determine the cancer incidence in patients with HGD in BO who underwent endoscopic surveillance. Four studies and 236 patients were included, with follow-up totalling 1241 patient-years. Sixty-nine cancers developed, resulting in a weighted incidence rate of 6.6 per 100 patient years.^[11] A more recent retrospective population-based study from the Netherlands identified a cohort of 326 patients who underwent endoscopic surveillance after diagnosis of HGD in BO. After excluding prevalent cancers (diagnosed within the first six months after diagnosis of HGD), the rate of progression to cancer was 14.4 per 100 patient years.^[12] Some of the risk factors identified included older age and multifocal (rather than unifocal) HGD. All of the findings in this study were taken from a pathology database and no endoscopic and only limited clinical data were available, raising the possibility of confounding by indication. Despite this, these findings support the notion that the risk of progression to cancer is substantial. Risk factors for progression to cancer previously identified have again included multifocal (rather than unifocal) HGD,^[8] and nodular (rather than flat) disease.^{[13][14]}

In summary, the risk of progression is at least 6.6% per year, with some data pointing to much higher rates.

Back to top

2.3.5.1.4 In what situations may surveillance be reasonable?

The guidelines of the US-based Society of Thoracic Surgeons, published in 2009, state that surveillance may be considered for patients with flat and unifocal HGD, due to their relatively low rate of progression.^[15] As mentioned above, the more recent guidelines by gastroenterological societies differ on this.^{[3][4]} The risk of serious complications with endoscopic therapy is very low,^[1] and we need to consider the situations when one would not intervene with endoscopic therapy once HGD is diagnosed. For instance, there may be situations where safe endoscopic treatment is unable to be delivered, due to anatomical reasons like oesophageal strictures or diverticula, or due to systemic issues like chemotherapy or inability to safely stop antithrombotic therapy. Thus there may be instances where either the only therapeutic option is surgery, or where the timing of endoscopic therapy is best delayed to increase the safety of the procedure. The balance between risk of intervention and risk of being on surveillance may shift in these certain circumstances, and surveillance may be preferable.

Some authors have reported apparent regression of dysplasia^[14] although it is impossible to exclude sampling error, histologic misclassification, or removal of a single focus of HGD with the biopsy forceps, and therefore it is unclear whether HGD can truly regress. Nevertheless, in cases of a single finding of unifocal HGD that cannot be reproduced on subsequent endoscopies, especially in an elderly or frail person, it could be argued that surveillance may be reasonable due to a lower risk of progression.^[14]

Therefore, surveillance for HGD is not advisable except for uncommon instances where surgical treatment may be the only therapeutic option; where endoscopic therapy has to be delayed in order to optimise other clinical conditions; or possibly where HGD cannot be seen on subsequent examinations in elderly or frail patients.

Back to top

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.3.5.1.5 What surveillance protocol should be followed for HGD?

Evidence on how best to perform surveillance for HGD is scant. The endoscopic surveillance protocol used by the authors of one of the largest prospective study on surveillance in HGD called for three-monthly endoscopies in the first year.^[14] If no HGD was found on two consecutive endoscopies in the first year, then the frequency of endoscopy was decreased to six-monthly for the second year. After the second year, repeat at yearly intervals was implemented if no HGD was found. Persistent HGD was managed on an individual basis, with ongoing three-monthly endoscopies, or lesser frequency as per patient wishes or comorbidities. The biopsy protocol described targeted biopsies for visible lesions plus quadrantic biopsies every 2cm.

The AGA guidelines recommend three-monthly endoscopy with quadrantic biopsies every 1cm plus targeted biopsies of visible lesions, while the British guidelines do not make any recommendations.^{[3][4]} An expert consensus statement, formed by a large number of expert participants in a Delphi process and published in 2012, recommended quadrantic biopsies every 1-2cm plus targeted biopsies, for surveillance of HGD.^[16] One study directly assessed the yield of quadrantic biopsies taken at 2cm intervals compared with biopsies taken every 1cm, in the setting of known HGD. Biopsies taken every 1cm led to a significantly higher cancer detection rate.^[17]

In summary, the biopsy protocol for endoscopic surveillance for HGD should be three-monthly endoscopy with high resolution WLE, with optional additional examination with virtual chromoendoscopy such as NBI. Targeted biopsies of visible lesions plus quadrantic biopsies taken every 1cm throughout the segment of Barrett's mucosa should be taken.

Back to top

2.3.5.1.6 Summary

The role of surveillance in the setting of HGD has shifted with the advent of effective endoscopic therapy. Since the risk of progression from HGD to cancer is substantial and the risk of complications with endoscopic therapy is low, endoscopic intervention is indicated in most instances of HGD, with surveillance reserved for uncommon situations where endoscopic therapy is either not feasible or has to be delayed; or possibly, in older or frail patients, where persistence of HGD cannot be confirmed.

If surveillance is performed for HGD, endoscopy using high resolution endoscopes with targeted and random quadrantic biopsies every 1cm throughout the Barrett's segment should be performed. No comparative data on different intervals between endoscopic surveillance is available and no evidence-based recommendations can be made regarding this, but expert consensus is that it should be performed every three months.

Back to top



2.3.5.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Practice point

Surveillance is generally not indicated for patients with high grade dysplasia, and therapeutic intervention must be considered instead.

Practice point

Targeted biopsies of visible lesions plus quadrantic biopsies every 1cm throughout the segment of Barrett's mucosa should be taken.

Practice point

High resolution endoscopes should be used, with optional use of virtual chromoendoscopy such as narrow band imaging (NBI).

Practice point

If endoscopic surveillance is performed, intervals of three months may be appropriate.

Back to top

2.3.5.3 References

↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} Chennat J, Konda VJ, Ross AS, de Tejada AH, Noffsinger A, Hart J, et al. *Complete Barrett's eradication endoscopic mucosal resection: an effective treatment modality for high-grade dysplasia and intramucosal carcinoma--an American single-center experience.* Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Nov;104(11): 2684-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19690526.



- 1 Phoa KN, van Vilsteren FG, Weusten BL, Bisschops R, Schoon EJ, Ragunath K, et al. Radiofrequency ablation vs endoscopic surveillance for patients with Barrett esophagus and low-grade dysplasia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014 Mar 26;311(12):1209-17 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/24668102.
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0 3.1 3.2} Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P, et al. *British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus.* Gut 2014 Jan;63 (1):7-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24165758.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1 4.2} Spechler SJ, Sharma P, Souza RF, Inadomi JM, Shaheen NJ, American Gastroenterological Association. *American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2011 Mar;140(3):1084-91 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/21376940.
- 5. ↑ Levine DS, Haggitt RC, Blount PL, Rabinovitch PS, Rusch VW, Reid BJ. *An endoscopic biopsy protocol can differentiate high-grade dysplasia from early adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 1993 Jul;105(1):40-50 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8514061.
- 6. ↑ Falk GW, Rice TW, Goldblum JR, Richter JE. *Jumbo biopsy forceps protocol still misses unsuspected cancer in Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia.* Gastrointest Endosc 1999 Feb;49(2):170-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9925694.
- 7. ↑ Kariv R, Plesec TP, Goldblum JR, Bronner M, Oldenburgh M, Rice TW, et al. *The Seattle protocol does not more reliably predict the detection of cancer at the time of esophagectomy than a less intensive surveillance protocol.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jun;7(6):653-8; quiz 606 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19264576.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0 8.1} Wolfsen HC, Crook JE, Krishna M, Achem SR, Devault KR, Bouras EP, et al. *Prospective, controlled tandem endoscopy study of narrow band imaging for dysplasia detection in Barrett's Esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2008 Jul;135(1):24-31 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18442484.
- 9. ↑ Singh R, Karageorgiou H, Owen V, Garsed K, Fortun PJ, Fogden E, et al. *Comparison of high-resolution magnification narrow-band imaging and white-light endoscopy in the prediction of histology in Barrett's oesophagus.* Scand J Gastroenterol 2009;44(1):85-92 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /18821132.
- 10. ↑ Jayasekera C, Taylor AC, Desmond PV, Macrae F, Williams R. *Added value of narrow band imaging and confocal laser endomicroscopy in detecting Barrett's esophagus neoplasia.* Endoscopy 2012 Dec;44(12): 1089-95 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23188660.
- 11. ↑ Rastogi A, Puli S, El-Serag HB, Bansal A, Wani S, Sharma P. *Incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's esophagus and high-grade dysplasia: a meta-analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2008 Mar 1;67(3):394-8 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18045592.
- 12. ↑ Verbeek RE, van Oijen MG, ten Kate FJ, Vleggaar FP, Schipper ME, Casparie MK, et al. *Surveillance and follow-up strategies in patients with high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a Dutch population-based study.* Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Apr 1;107(4):534-42 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/22270082.
- ↑ Buttar NS, Wang KK, Sebo TJ, Riehle DM, Krishnadath KK, Lutzke LS, et al. *Extent of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus correlates with risk of adenocarcinoma*. Gastroenterology 2001 Jun 1 [cited 32202 Jan 1];120(7):1630-9 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11375945.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} ^{14.2} ^{14.3} Schnell TG, Sontag SJ, Chejfec G, Aranha G, Metz A, O'Connell S, et al. *Long-term nonsurgical management of Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia.* Gastroenterology 2001 Jun; 120(7):1607-19 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11375943.



- 15. ↑ Fernando HC, Murthy SC, Hofstetter W, Shrager JB, Bridges C, Mitchell JD, et al. *The Society of Thoracic Surgeons practice guideline series: guidelines for the management of Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia.* Ann Thorac Surg 2009 Jun;87(6):1993-2002 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/19463651.
- 16. ↑ Bennett C, Vakil N, Bergman J, Harrison R, Odze R, Vieth M, et al. Consensus statements for management of Barrett's dysplasia and early-stage esophageal adenocarcinoma, based on a Delphi process. Gastroenterology 2012 Aug 1;143(2):336-46 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /22537613.
- 17. ↑ Reid BJ, Blount PL, Feng Z, Levine DS. *Optimizing endoscopic biopsy detection of early cancers in Barrett's high-grade dysplasia.* Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Nov;95(11):3089-96 Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11095322.

Back to top

2.3.5.4 Appendices

View pending
evidenceView body ofView allView literaturerecommendationevidenceevidencecommentssearchcomponentsevidenceevidencecommentssearch

Back to top

2.3.6 Endoscopic management versus surgical management for HGD

Contents

1 How effective is endoscopic management compared with surgical management for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Surgery
- 1.3 Endoscopic therapies
- 1.4 Surgery versus endoscopic therapies
- 2 Evidence summary and recommendations
- 3 References
- 4 Appendices

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



2.3.6.1 How effective is endoscopic management compared with surgical management for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.3.6.1.1 Introduction

The diagnosis of high grade dysplasia (HGD) in a patient with Barrett's Oesophagus increases the risk of either harbouring or developing oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Treatment options for HGD can range from surgical resection through to endoscopic treatments. Data from surgical resections performed in patients with HGD have noted the presence of adenocarcinoma varies, with reported rates between 7%^[1] and 36%.^{[2][3]} A systematic review reported the presence of T1b / submucosal adenocarcinoma in 12.7% cases.^[4] The majority of this data is from a period prior to the routine use of EMR around 2005 which enables improved staging and detection of both T1a and T1b lesions. Surgical resection is effective in removing the dysplastic area but is associated with potentially significant perioperative morbidity and mortality as well as an impact on quality of life. Recent developments in endoscopic techniques have led to improved methods for resecting and ablating the dysplastic epithelium. The understanding of lymph node risk associated with lesions as they progress from HGD to T1b lesions allows us to use this information to tailor treatment options for our patients.^{[4][5]}

Back to top

2.3.6.1.2 Surgery

Oesophagectomy is major surgery with associated perioperative morbidity and mortality. There is data to support that oesophageal surgery should be performed in specialised units and in these centres the perioperative mortality is reduced to 2-4% or less.^{[6][7]} Perioperative morbidity remains an issue after oesophageal surgery, with major morbidity reported in 25-40% of patients.^{[8][7]} The benefit of surgical resection is the ability to remove all dysplastic epithelium and any undiagnosed adenocarcinoma and the locoregional nodal basins. This allows for a long term disease free survival greater than 90% without the need for ongoing surveillance.^[8]

Back to top

2.3.6.1.3 Endoscopic therapies

Endoscopic therapies (photodynamic therapy, argon plasma coagulation, radiofrequency ablation, endoscopic mucosal resection) for HGD have evolved significantly recently. They can be broadly divided into resection or ablation techniques. Endoscopic mucosal resection can be used as both a diagnostic and therapeutic tool and has the benefit of providing a histopathological specimen. It can be combined with ablative techniques such as radiofrequency ablation to treat larger areas of mucosa. A systematic review of endoscopic treatments has found that they are generally safe with only one death reported in the pooled data of 2831 cases.^[9] The morbidity associated with endoscopic treatments in less than that associated with surgery. The short term efficacy in eradication of HGD varies from 66-100% and long term data is lacking.^[9]

Back to top



2.3.6.1.4 Surgery versus endoscopic therapies

There are no randomised controlled trials comparing surgery with endoscopic treatments for HGD. A Cochrane review updated in 2012 excluded 13 non-randomised retrospective studies comparing outcomes between surgery and endoscopic treatments.^[8] A meta-analysis of seven non-randomised studies comparing endoscopic and surgical management has also been performed.^[10] These studies demonstrate similar overall survival and cancer related mortality between the two groups with the endoscopic group having a higher neoplasia recurrence rate, however, 78-100% patients were able to undergo repeat endoscopic treatment successfully. There was no statistical difference in procedure related mortality and the endoscopic group have less procedure related morbidity.^[10] The studies utilised in these reviews come from world leading centres with excellent results, but all highlight, that to achieve these results multiple endoscopic sessions are needed. Intensive endoscopic follow protocols are also paramount to detect and manage any local recurrences^{[11][12][13]} (see also After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy?).

Back to top

2.3.6.2 Evidence summary and recommendations

Evidence summary	Level	References
In specialist centres, endoscopic treatment of patients with high grade dysplasia provides similar outcomes to surgery with regard to overall survival and cancer related mortality.	III-2	[8] _, [9] _, [10] _, [11] _, [12] _, [13]
In specialist centres, patients with high grade dysplasia undergoing endoscopic treatments compared to surgery have less morbidity, but a higher incidence of local recurrence.	III-2	[8] _, [9] _, [10] _, [11] _, [12] _, [13]

Evidence-based recommendation	Grade
t is recommended that patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus be managed in centres with high volume experience of the condition. The treatment and follow- up should occur in those specialist centres.	С

Practice point

Patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus can be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting at a specialist centre.


Practice point

Endoscopic treatment will be the first line treatment option for the majority of patients with high grade dysplasia in Barrett's Oesophagus. There will be a group of patients for whom endoscopic treatment is not appropriate or successful and will be best treated with surgery in a specialist centre.

Back to top

2.3.6.3 References

- ↑ Levine DS, Haggitt RC, Blount PL, Rabinovitch PS, Rusch VW, Reid BJ. An endoscopic biopsy protocol can differentiate high-grade dysplasia from early adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 1993 Jul;105(1):40-50 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8514061.
- 2. ↑ Falk GW, Rice TW, Goldblum JR, Richter JE. *Jumbo biopsy forceps protocol still misses unsuspected cancer in Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia.* Gastrointest Endosc 1999 Feb;49(2):170-6 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9925694.
- 3. ↑ Kariv R, Plesec TP, Goldblum JR, Bronner M, Oldenburgh M, Rice TW, et al. *The Seattle protocol does not more reliably predict the detection of cancer at the time of esophagectomy than a less intensive surveillance protocol.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009 Jun;7(6):653-8; quiz 606 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19264576.
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0 4.1} Konda VJ, Ross AS, Ferguson MK, Hart JA, Lin S, Naylor K, et al. *Is the risk of concomitant invasive esophageal cancer in high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus overestimated?* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008 Feb;6(2):159-64 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18096439.
- 5. 1 Dunbar KB, Spechler SJ. The risk of lymph-node metastases in patients with high-grade dysplasia or intramucosal carcinoma in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2012 Jun;107(6): 850-62; quiz 863 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22488081.
- 6. ↑ Birkmeyer JD, Siewers AE, Finlayson EV, Stukel TA, Lucas FL, Batista I, et al. *Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States.* N Engl J Med 2002 Apr 11;346(15):1128-37 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11948273.
- 7. ↑ ^{7.0 7.1} Markar SR, Karthikesalingam A, Thrumurthy S, Low DE. *Volume-outcome relationship in surgery for esophageal malignancy: systematic review and meta-analysis 2000-2011.* J Gastrointest Surg 2012 May;16(5):1055-63 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22089950.
- 8. ↑ ^{8.0} 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 Bennett C, Green S, Decaestecker J, Almond M, Barr H, Bhandari P, et al. *Surgery versus radical endotherapies for early cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Nov 14;11:CD007334 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /23152243.
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0} 9.1 9.2 9.3 Menon D, Stafinski T, Wu H, Lau D, Wong C. *Endoscopic treatments for Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review of safety and effectiveness compared to esophagectomy.* BMC Gastroenterol 2010 Sep 27;10:111 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20875123.
- 10. ↑ ^{10.0} ^{10.1} ^{10.2} ^{10.3} Wu J, Pan YM, Wang TT, Gao DJ, Hu B. *Endotherapy versus surgery for early neoplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a meta-analysis.* Gastrointest Endosc 2013 Sep 27 Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24079410.



- 11. ↑ ^{11.0} ^{11.1} ^{11.2} Pech O, Bollschweiler E, Manner H, Leers J, Ell C, Hölscher AH. *Comparison between endoscopic and surgical resection of mucosal esophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's esophagus at two high-volume centers.* Ann Surg 2011 Jul;254(1):67-72 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed /21532466.
- 12. ↑ ^{12.0} ^{12.1} ^{12.2} Prasad GA, Wang KK, Buttar NS, Wongkeesong LM, Krishnadath KK, Nichols FC 3rd, et al. *Long-term survival following endoscopic and surgical treatment of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus.* Gastroenterology 2007 Apr;132(4):1226-33 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/17408660.
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} ^{13.2} Schembre DB, Huang JL, Lin OS, Cantone N, Low DE. *Treatment of Barrett's esophagus with early neoplasia: a comparison of endoscopic therapy and esophagectomy.* Gastrointest Endosc 2008 Apr;67(4):595-601 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18279860.

Back to top

2.3.6.4 Appendices

Back to top

2.4 Guideline development process

2.4.1 Guideline development process

2.4.1.1 Introduction

The need to develop guidelines for detection, assessment and management of Barrett's oesophagus and oesophageal adenocarcinoma was identified as a priority arising from the strategic research partnership between ProbeNet and Cancer Council NSW. Cancer Council Australia was approached to collaborate in developing and establishing these Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Barrett's Oesophagus and Early Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma for the Australian community and healthcare setting. No external funding has been received to develop these guidelines.



The guidelines were developed by a multidisciplinary working group (see Guideline Working Party members). Topic leaders from the Working Party membership were designated to address topics in their areas of expertise, with other Working Group members contributing as co-authors. The literature assessed for these guidelines focuses on the diagnosis and management of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus and early oesophageal adenocarcinoma.

The guideline development process, conducting the literature searches, appraising the literature and formulating and grading recommendations, followed the guideline development process outlined below.

Back to top

2.4.1.2 Steps in preparing clinical practice guidelines

Clinical practice guidelines are based on a systematic review where possible. The Working Party developed clinical questions which determined the scope for the guidelines. The search strategy and literature search was conducted by the Project Officer, who distributed the search results to the Working Party authors. Topic groups were assigned to review and synthesise the relevant literature and to formulate evidence-based recommendations where possible. Each topic author followed a clear strategy and the appropriate steps in preparing their guideline sections.

The strategic steps followed are outlined below:

- 1. Structure the research questions
- 2. Develop a search strategy
- 3. Search the literature
- 4. Critically appraise the literature
- 5. Formulate and grade recommendations

Back to top

2.4.1.3 Structure the research questions

The Working Party discussed the most important aspects for diagnosing and managing Barrett's Oesophagus and Early Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma and developed clinically focused key questions. These clinical questions were developed and approved by Working Party members. The clinical questions asked for the Barrett's Oesophagus and Early Oesophageal Adenocarcinoma Guidelines are as follows:

2.4.1.4 Barrett's Oesophagus without Dysplasia

2.4.1.4.1 Natural History

- What is the prevalence of BO in the Australian population in comparison with other populations?
- Which factors best predict the risk of developing BO?
- What is the incidence of neoplasia in patients with BO?
- What are the risk factors for progression from non-dysplastic BO to high-grade dysplasia or adenocarcinoma?



2.4.1.4.2 Referral

For which populations is screening for BO cost-effective?

2.4.1.4.3 Diagnosis/Definition

- What is the endoscopic definition of BO and how is it described?
- What is the optimal tissue sampling at endoscopy for diagnosis of BO?
- What is the histological definition of BO?

2.4.1.4.4 Management

- Are there any medical or surgical interventions that cause regression of BO?
- Are there any treatments that prevent progression of BO to cancer?
- What is appropriate medical systemic therapy for symptoms associated with BO?
- Is there a role for ablative therapy to treat BO?

2.4.1.4.5 Surveillance and Follow-up

- How frequently should patients with BO undergo endoscopy?
- Are there groups of patients with non-dysplastic BO that require more frequent surveillance?
- Are there groups of patients with BO that can be discharged from surveillance?
- Is surveillance cost-effective for follow-up of patients with BO?

2.4.1.5 Barrett's Oesophagus with Dysplasia and/or Adenocarcinoma

2.4.1.5.1 Definition and Diagnosis

- What are the endoscopic features of neoplasia (dysplasia and early cancer) within a BO segment?
- What is the histological definition and grading of dysplasia in patients with BO?
- What are the histological features of early adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus?
- What are the best modalities for accurately staging early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?

2.4.1.5.2 Biomarkers

Are there biomarkers for the diagnosis (presence) of BO?



2.4.1.5.3 Management

2.4.1.5.3.1 Low grade dysplasia

What is the appropriate management of low grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

2.4.1.5.3.2 High grade dysplasia and early cancer

- What are the goals of treatment of high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?
- What is the best endoscopic treatment for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?
- After successful endoscopic treatment for BO neoplasia, how frequently should patients undergo endoscopy?
- What is the best endoscopic management of early oesophageal adenocarcinoma?
- What endoscopic surveillance protocol should be followed for patients with BO and high grade dysplasia?
- How effective is endoscopic management compared with surgical management for high grade dysplasia in patients with BO?

Back to top

2.4.1.6 Develop a search strategy

Appropriate search strategies were constructed for each clinical question. MeSH terms were agreed by the Working Party members and were expanded by the Project Officer after conducting pilot searches and searching the MeSH vocabulary. MeSH index terms were translated to Emtree terms for the Embase database to ensure that appropriate index terms unique to each database were used. When there was no appropriate MeSH or Emtree index term available a combination of free text words were used in order to capture the relevant data.

The following exclusion criteria was applied: studies published pre 1980, languages other than English, conference abstracts and the following study designs: non-systematic reviews, case reports, letters, editorials, comments, animal, in vitro and laboratory studies. This exclusion criteria was then refined as per individual clinical question. The search strategy was approved by the members of the Working Party.

Back to top

2.4.1.7 Search the literature

A range of medical databases, guideline clearinghouses and clinical trial portals were searched. These included The Cochrane Library, PubMed, Embase, Trip Database, Econlit, NHS Economic Evaluation Database, the National Guideline Clearinghouse, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network and the National Institute for



health and clinical excellence, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network and Canadian Medical Association. Search results were screened for relevance by the Project Officer and relevant literature was collated, the full text articles obtained and sent to Working Party topic authors to critically appraise, synthesise and use as the evidence base for their topic questions. To view the complete search yield and more detailed information about the literature search such as inclusion and exclusion criteria, please go to each clinical question page. The information can be found in the Appendices on each question page.

Back to top

2.4.1.8 Critically appraise the literature

Relevant articles selected from the literature search were reviewed by the clinical question authors and each article was critically appraised with respect to level of evidence, quality of the evidence, size of the effect and clinical importance and relevance. Level of evidence was assigned according to the following criteria from the NHMRC Evidence Hierarchy:

Level	Intervention	Diagnosis	Prognosis	Aetiology	Screening
I	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies	A systematic review of level II studies
II	A randomised controlled trial	A study of test accuracy with: an independent, blinded comparison with a valid reference standard, among consecutive patients with a defined clinical presentation	A prospective cohort study	A prospective cohort study	A randomised controlled trial
111-1	A pseudo- randomised controlled trial (i. e. alternate allocation or some other method)	A study of test accuracy with: an independent, blinded comparison with a valid reference standard, among non-consecutive patients with a defined clinical presentation	All or none	All or none	A pseudo- randomised controlled trial (i. e. alternate allocation or some other method)



Level	Intervention	Diagnosis	Prognosis	Aetiology	Screening
111-2	 A comparative study with concurrent controls: Non- randomised, experimental trial Cohort study Case-control study Interrupted time series with a control group 	A comparison with reference standard that does not meet the criteria required for Level II and III-1 evidence	Analysis of prognostic factors amongst untreated control patients in a randomised controlled trial	A retrospective cohort study	A comparative study with concurrent controls: Non- randomised, experimenta trial Cohort study Case-control study
111-3	 A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study Interrupted time series without a parallel control group 	Diagnostic case-control study	A retrospective cohort study	A case- control study	A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study
IV	Case series with either post-test or pre-test/post- test outcomes	Study of diagnostic yield (no reference standard)	Case series, or cohort study of patients at different stages of disease	A cross- sectional study	Case series



Source: National Health and Medical Research Council. NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC; 2009.^[1] (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf)

Back to top

2.4.1.9 Formulate and grade recommendations

The body of literature was assessed by each topic author and recommendation grades were assigned using the following criteria adapted from the NHMRC body of evidence matrix:



Common to f	Recommendation Grade				
Component of Recommendation	A Excellent	B Good	C Satisfactory	D Poor	
Volume of evidence ^{1**}	one or more level I studies with a low risk of bias or several level II studies with a low risk of bias	one or two level II studies with a low risk of bias or a systematic review /several level III studies with a low risk of bias	one or two level III studies with a low risk of bias, or level I or II studies with a moderate risk of bias	level IV studies, or level I to III studies /systematic reviews with a high risk of bias	
Consistency ^{2**}	all studies consistent	most studies consistent and inconsistency may be explained	some inconsistency reflecting genuine uncertainty around clinical question	evidence is inconsistent	
Clinical impact	very large	substantial	moderate	slight or restricted	
Generalisability	population/s studied in body of evidence are the same as the target population for the guideline	population/s studied in the body of evidence are similar to the target population for the guideline	population/s studied in body of evidence differ to target population for guideline but it is clinically sensible to apply this evidence to target population ³	population/s studied in body of evidence different to target population and hard to judge whether it is sensible to generalise to target population	
Applicability	directly applicable to Australian healthcare context	applicable to Australian healthcare context with few caveats	probably applicable to Australian healthcare context with some caveats	not applicable to Australian healthcare context	

¹ Level of evidence determined from level of evidence criteria

² If there is only one study, rank this component as 'not applicable'

³ For example results in adults that are clinically sensible to apply children OR psychosocial outcomes for one cancer that may be applicable to patients with another cancer.

** For a recommendation to be graded A or B, the volume and consistency of evidence must also be graded either A or B!

Source: National Health and Medical Research Council. NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC; 2009.^[1] (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf)

Recommendation grades are indicated below:



Grade of Description recommendation	
Α	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice
В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in most situations
с	Body of evidence provides some support for recommendation(s) but care should be taken in its application
D	Body of evidence is weak and recommendation must be applied with caution
PP (practice point)	Where no good-quality evidence is available but there is consensus among Guideline committee members, consensus-based guidance points are given, these are called "Practice points"

Adapted from: National Health and Medical Research Council. NHMRC levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC; 2009.^[1] (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/file/guidelines/developers /nhmrc_levels_grades_evidence_120423.pdf)

Back to top

2.4.1.10 Write the topic

Topic authors were asked to write the content for their guideline question topic using the following format:

- background
- review of the evidence
- evidence summary with levels of evidence and numbered references
- recommendation(s) and corresponding grade(s)
- references

Back to top

2.4.1.11 Review of the question topics

The body of evidence and recommendations for each question topic were reviewed by the Guidelines Working Party and final recommendations agreed to, based on the evidence.

Back to top

2.4.1.12 Public consultation

The draft guidelines were released for public consultation to all interested parties in Australia for the period from 11 June to 11 July 2014. The consultation process involved soliciting public review of the draft guidelines through posting onto the Cancer Council Australia Cancer Guidelines Wiki and alerting professional societies and other interest groups via link to the site. All feedback on the draft received during the consultation period in Australia was reviewed by the topic authors and Guidelines Working Party. Subsequent changes to the draft was agreed by consensus of the Guideline Working Party, based on consideration of the evidence.



Back to top

2.4.2 References

<references>

Back to top

1. 1.1 1.1 1.2 National Health and Medical Research Council. *NHMRC Australian Guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol.* Commonwealth of Australia: National Health and Medical Research Council; 2009 Jan 1 Available from: http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/publications/attachments/ds10-alcohol. pdf.

2.5 Working party members and contributors

Working party members and contributors

Working party member	Clinical questions
Angelique Levert	
Associate Professor Alan Moss MBBS (Hons) MD, FRACP	
Associate Professor Bernard Mark Smithers	
Associate Professor Christophe Rosty, MD PhD FRCPA	
Associate Professor Freddy Sitas	
Associate Professor Geoffrey Hebbard	
Associate Professor Guy Eslick	
Associate Professor Ian Norton MBBS, PhD, FRACP	
Associate Professor Jurgen Stahl FRCPA	



Associate Professor Neil Walker MD, FRCPAAssociate Professor Sarah J (Sally) Lord MBBS MSc (Applied Biostatistics and Epidemiology)Clinical Professor Marian Priyanthi KumarasingheDavid WhitemanDr Adrian Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACPDr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPADr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACPDr Bradley Kendall MBBS, FRACP	
(Applied Biostatistics and Epidemiology) Clinical Professor Marian Priyanthi Kumarasinghe David Whiteman Dr Adrian Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACP Dr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPA Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP	
David Whiteman Image: Constant Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACP Dr Adrian Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACP Image: Constant Chung MBBS PhD FRCPA Dr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPA Image: Constant Chung MBBS MD FRACP Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP Image: Constant Chung MBBS MD FRACP	
Dr Adrian Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACP Dr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPA Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP	
Dr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPA Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP	
Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP	
Dr Bradley Kendall MBBS, FRACP	
Dr Catherine Campbell MBBS, FRCPA	
Dr Darren A. Pavey MBBS FRACP	
Dr Eric Y Lee BSc(Med) MBBS Hons FRACP	
Dr Farzan Fahrtash Bahin, MBBS (Hons), MPhil (Med)	
Dr Florian Grimpen, MD, FRACP	
Dr Henry To	
Dr Iain Thomson MBBS, FRACS	
Dr Ian Brown FRCPA	
Dr Ian Faud Yusoff MBBS, FRACP	
Dr Jeremy Dwyer MBBS (Hons)	
Dr Louisa Gordon	

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Working party member	Clinical questions
Dr Luke Hourigan MBBS FRACP	
Dr Mark Appleyard MD FRACP MRCP MBBS BSc	
Dr Mark Schoeman MBBS, PhD, FRACP, AGAF	
Dr Oliver Maximilian Fisher, MD	
Dr Spiro Raftopoulos	
Dr Sutharshan Kannuthurai	
Dr W Bastiaan de Boer MBBS, BMedSci, FRCPA	
Dr Yuri Veniaminovich Bobryshev PhD	
Erfan Jaberiyanfar	
Melissa Thomas	
Ms Qingwei Luo	
Peter Sarich	
Professor David Watson MBBS, MD, FRACS	
Professor James Kench	
Professor Jon Emery MA, MBBCh, FRACGP, MRCGP, DPhil	
Professor Michael Bourke MBBS, FRACP	
Professor Prithi S Bhathal, MBBS PhD FRCPA	
Professor Rajvinder Singh MBBS MRCP MPhil FRACP AM FRCP	
Professor Reginald V Lord MBBS MD FRACS	

These guidelines have been developed as web-based guidelines and the pdf serves as a reference copy only. Please note that this material was published on 14:21, 16 September 2019 and is no longer current.



Working party member	Clinical questions
Professor Shan Rajendra MBBCh, MSc, MRCP. MD, FRCP, FRCPE, FRACP	
Sonali Munot	

Name	Affiliation	
Prof lan Olver AM	Working Party Convener, CEO, Cancer Council Australia	
Derek Maule	erek Maule Consumer representative to the Working Party	
Cancer Council Australia Guideline Project and Technical Team		
Christine Vuletich	Manager, Clinical guidelines Network, Cancer Council Australia until 3 July 2014	
Jutta von Dincklage	Head, Clinical Guidelines Network 4 July 2014 - present Product Manager, Wiki Development, Cancer Council Australia 2010 - until 3 July 2014	
Laura Wuellner	Project Manager, Clinical Guidelines Network Sept 2014- present	
Laura Holliday	Project Officer, Systematic Literature Review, Clinical Guidelines Network, Cancer Council Australia 2012-2014	
Emma Dickins	Project Officer, Systematic Literature Review, Clinical Guidelines Network, Cancer Council Australia 2014-present	

2.6 Competing interest register

Competing interest declarations and management

Working Party Members were asked to declare in writing, any interests relevant to the guideline development, prior to commencement. Members were asked to update their information if they became aware of any changes to their interests.



All declarations were added to a register of interests as listed below. The register was made available to the Working Party throughout the development of the guideline, allowing members to take any potential conflicts of interest into consideration during discussions, decision making and formulation of recommendations.

If Working Party Members were identified as having a significant real or perceived conflict of interest, the Chair could decide that the member either leave the discussion whilst the specific area they were conflicted in was discussed or the member could remain present but not participate in the discussion, or decision making on the specific area where they were conflicted. There were no instances where this occurred during the development of this guideline.

Guideline working party members are responsible to update their conflict of interest statements if a new interest arises. The members will receive a formal reminder to review their statements and ensure it is up-to-date prior to the yearly meetings that will be scheduled to review all updates.

Working party member	Competing interest declaration
Angelique Levert	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Alan Moss MBBS (Hons) MD, FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Bernard Mark Smithers	National Advisory Board for Novartis on the management of GIST. No payment received for this service at this time.
Associate Professor Christophe Rosty, MD PhD FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Freddy Sitas	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Geoffrey Hebbard	Has received Research Support, Travel Grants and sponsorship of educational activities from the manufacturers and local distributors of all PPIs, H2Receptor Antagonists and Prokinetics. Has had, but has no current consultancies with any of those companies. Has received support for sponsorship of educational activities from medical device manufacturers with products relevant to the diagnosis and management of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus. Has no shares or other financial links with the manufacturer or distributors of any of the relevant pharmaceutical or device manufacturing companies. Owns shares in The Gut Shop, a company that distributes equipment used in the assessment of patients with Barrett's Oesophagus.



Working party member	Competing interest declaration
Associate Professor Guy Eslick	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor lan Norton MBBS, PhD, FRACP	From 2008-2013 was a member of a steering committee for an Astra Zeneca sponsored educational meeting. Honorarium payment involved. Currently member of Advisory Board for Olympus Australia.
Associate Professor Jurgen Stahl FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Neil Walker MD, FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Associate Professor Sarah J (Sally) Lord MBBS MSc (Applied Biostatistics and Epidemiology)	Married to Working Party member Reginald Lord.
Clinical Professor Marian Priyanthi Kumarasinghe	No competing interest to declare
David Whiteman	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Adrian Chung MBBS, BMed Sci, FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Andrew Clouston MBBS PhD FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Andrew Taylor MBBS MD FRACP	No direct competing interest. Previous recipient of Victorian State Department of Health New Technology Grant to establish endoscopic treatment programme for dysplastic Barrett's oesophagus statewide programme at St Vincent's Hospital and in conjunction with Prof Finlay Macrae, Royal Melbourne Hospital. This funding enabled purchase of Halo Radiofrequency Ablation equipment for three years 2009-2011. No specific further funding since then.
Dr Bradley Kendall MBBS, FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Catherine Campbell MBBS, FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Darren A. Pavey MBBS FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Eric Y Lee BSc(Med) MBBS Hons FRACP	No competing interest to declare
Dr Farzan Fahrtash Bahin, MBBS (Hons), MPhil (Med)	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Florian Grimpen, MD, FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Henry To	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Iain Thomson MBBS, FRACS	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Ian Brown FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.



Working party member	Competing interest declaration
Dr Jeremy Dwyer MBBS (Hons)	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Louisa Gordon	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Luke Hourigan MBBS FRACP	Member of ANZELF research group and has received sponsorship to attend annual scientific meeting sponsored by Olympus Australia
Dr Mark Appleyard MD FRACP MRCP MBBS BSc	Has received financial support from Olympus to attend educational conferences; equipment support for clinical research and financial support for clinical research staff.
Dr Mark Schoeman MBBS, PhD, FRACP, AGAF	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Oliver Maximilian Fisher, MD	Supported by a grant from the Swiss Cancer League (BIL KLS-3133-02-2013).
Dr Spiro Raftopoulos	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Sutharshan Kannuthurai	No competing interest to declare.
Dr W Bastiaan de Boer MBBS, BMedSci, FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Dr Yuri Veniaminovich Bobryshev PhD	No competing interest to declare
Erfan Jaberiyanfar	No competing interest to declare.
Melissa Thomas	No competing interest to declare.
Ms Qingwei Luo	No competing interest to declare.
Peter Sarich	No competing interest to declare.
Professor David Watson MBBS, MD, FRACS	No competing interest to declare.
Professor James Kench	No competing interest to declare.
Professor Jon Emery MA, MBBCh, FRACGP, MRCGP, DPhil	Chief investigator on a research project investigating a non-endoscopic approach to screening for Barrett's oesophagus in primary care. No pecuniary interest in the associated cytosponge screening test.
Professor Michael Bourke MBBS, FRACP	No competing interest to declare.
Professor Prithi S Bhathal, MBBS PhD FRCPA	No competing interest to declare.
Professor Rajvinder Singh MBBS MRCP MPhil FRACP AM FRCP	No competing interest to declare.
Professor Reginald V Lord MBBS MD FRACS	Married to Working Party member Sarah (Sally) Lord
Professor Shan Rajendra MBBCh, MSc, MRCP. MD, FRCP, FRCPE, FRACP	Member of Medical Advisory Committee, GI Dynamics, Australia.



Derek Maule - No competing interest to declare.

2.7 Abbreviations

Abbreviations

AA	Acetic acid
AGA	American Gastroenterological Association
APC	Argon plasma coagulation
BMI	Body mass index
во	Barrett's Oesophagus
BSG	British Society of Gastroenterology
CI	Confidence interval
CLO	Columnar lined oesophagus
СТ	Computed tomography
EGD	esophagogastroduodenoscopy
EMR	Endoscopic mucosal resection
ESD	Endoscopic submucosal dissection
EOA	Early oesophageal adenocarcinoma
ER	Endoscopic resection
EUS	Endoscopic ultrasound
EUS-FNA	EUS-guide fine-needle aspiration
FDG-PET	F-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography
FFPE	Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded
FNA	Fine needle aspirate
GOJ	Gastro-oesophageal junction
GOR	Gastro-oesophageal acid reflux
GORD	Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease
H&E	Haematoxylin & Eosin
HGD	High grade dysplasia
HR-WLE	High resolution white light endoscopy
ICER	Incremental cost effectiveness ratio



IMIntestinal metaplasiaIMCIntramucosal cancerIMCaIntramucosal adenocarcinomaIMGEJIntestinal metaplasia in biopsies from gastroesophageal junctionIWGCOInternational Working Group for the Classification of OesophagitisLGDLow grade dysplasiaLSDLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNAIPSAAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPIPositron emission tomographyPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYResion-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRC/ (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaTFF3Trefoil factor 3	IM	
IMCaIntramucosal adenocarcinomaIMCEJIntestinal metaplasia in biopsies from gastroesophageal junctionIMGEJInternational Working Group for the Classification of OesophagitisLGDLow grade dysplasiaLYSLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPIPositron emission tomographyPIPositron emission tomographyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	IM	Intestinal metaplasia
IMGEJIntestinal metaplasia in biopsies from gastroesophageal junctionIWGCOInternational Working Group for the Classification of OesophagitisLGDLow grade dysplasiaLYSLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	IMC	Intramucosal cancer
IWGCOInternational Working Group for the Classification of OesophagitisLGDLow grade dysplasiaLYSLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPIPositron emission tomographyPIPositron emission tomographyPIQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	IMCa	Intramucosal adenocarcinoma
IWGCOOesophagitisLGDLow grade dysplasiaLYSLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Squamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	IMGEJ	Intestinal metaplasia in biopsies from gastroesophageal junction
LYSLife-years savedMBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	IWGCO	
MBMethylene blueMBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	LGD	Low grade dysplasia
MBMMulti-band mucosectomyMPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinoma	LYS	Life-years saved
MPECMultipolar electrocoagulation/electrocauteryMUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	MB	Methylene blue
MUCMucin immunostainingNBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationRCC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	МВМ	Multi-band mucosectomy
NBINarrow band imagingNd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	MPEC	Multipolar electrocoagulation/electrocautery
Nd-YAGNeodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnetNSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPFIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	MUC	Mucin immunostaining
NSAIDsAspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugsOACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	NBI	Narrow band imaging
OACOesophageal adenocarcinomaOCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	Nd-YAG	Neodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnet
OCOesophageal cancerOROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPFIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	NSAIDs	Aspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OROdds ratioPDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPFIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	OAC	Oesophageal adenocarcinoma
PDTPhotodynamic therapyPETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	OC	Oesophageal cancer
PETPositron emission tomographyPPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	OR	Odds ratio
PPIProton Pump Inhibitor therapyPYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	PDT	Photodynamic therapy
PYPerson-yearsQALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	PET	Positron emission tomography
QALYQuality-adjusted life yearRFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	PPI	Proton Pump Inhibitor therapy
RFARadiofrequency ablationROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	PY	Person-years
ROC / (ROC curve)Receiver operating characteristicSCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	QALY	Quality-adjusted life year
SCCSquamous cell carcinomaSIMSpecialised intestinal metaplasia	RFA	Radiofrequency ablation
SIM Specialised intestinal metaplasia	ROC / (ROC curve)	Receiver operating characteristic
	SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
TFF3 Trefoil factor 3	SIM	Specialised intestinal metaplasia
	TFF3	Trefoil factor 3